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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ES

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “"Board”) of directors (the
"Directors”) of Wecon Holdings Limited (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), | am pleased to
present to our shareholders (the “Shareholders”) the annual
report of our Group for the year ended 31 March 2022.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The revenue of our Group increased by approximately HK$49.5
million or approximately 4.5% from approximately HK$1,103.2
million for the year ended 31 March 2021 to approximately
HK$1,152.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2022. For
the year ended 31 March 2022, the net profit attributable to
the equity holders was approximately HK$14.2 million, which
decreased by approximately HK$5.0 million as compared to that
for the year ended 31 March 2021.

PROSPECTS

The outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic (the “Pandemic”) at the
beginning of 2020 has made the operating environment difficult
and has created challenges to various industries in Hong Kong.
The negative impact brought by the Pandemic had caused an
adverse effect on the Group's business, which led to a delay in
delivery of raw materials to the construction sites and progress
of certain construction projects due to quarantine measures.
However, the Group had taken necessary measures to maintain
its construction works during the outbreak of the Pandemic
according to the planned schedule. As the Pandemic may
persist in the foreseeable future, the management of the Group
will continuously monitor the development of the Pandemic
as well as assess the overall impact on the Group's business
from time to time, and accordingly evaluates the impact on
the financial position and performance of the Group. Also,
the management of the Group will remain vigilant about any
changes to the law and regulations in compliance with industrial
safety and public health policies; and deploy appropriate
preventive measures to enhance protection of the Group's
employees by providing healthy and hygienic environment both
in the office and at the construction sites.
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During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group was
successfully awarded five sizeable contracts with an aggregate
contract sum of approximately HK$1,432.1 million, two of which
were awarded from new customers. The Group will continue to
diversify its customer base by placing more effort is promoting
the Group's reputation, ensuring projects are completed
on time with the highest quality and implementing various
cost-effective measures to improve its competitiveness. The
management of the Group still remains prudently optimistic
about the prospects of the construction industry in Hong Kong.

In March 2022, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, Wecon
Construction & Engineering Limited (“Wecon Construction”),
was admitted to the Housing Authority List of Building
Contractors (New Works Category — Group NW2) (Probationary)
(the “Group NW2"), upon which Wecon Construction as the
main contractor will be eligible to tender for new works contract
of unlimited value from the Hong Kong Housing Authority (the
“Housing Authority”), subject to the probationary condition
that Wecon Construction can undertake not more than one
Group NW?2 contract at any one time. The Group believes that
admission to the Group NW2 will allow the Group to tender for
more construction projects from the Housing Authority in terms
of quantity as well as contract value, and will demonstrate the
capability of the Group in undertaking construction projects of
larger scale and larger contract sum.

As the world economy enters into a period of profound
transformation, the Group would seek evolution through every
avenue. The Group believes that the building information
modeling services could differentiate the Group from the
Group’s competitors through providing creative technical
solutions to the Group’s customers. Going forward, the Group
plans to invest in building construction related services that
will enhance the Group's capabilities and provide synergies to
the existing business of the Group, while the Group strives to
maintain the high quality and workmanship which the Group has
been delivering to its customers.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEHRE

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my gratitude
to our Shareholders, customers, subcontractors and suppliers
for their continuous confidence and support. | would also like
to take this opportunity to express my sincere thanks to our
management and staff members for their hard work and loyalty
to the Group.

Mr. Tsang Ka Yip
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 24 June 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EHEWRSh

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a long-established main contractor in Hong
Kong and principally engaged in the provision of (i) building
construction services and (ii) repair, maintenance, alteration and
addition ("RMAA") works services. The Group provides building
construction services to customers in both the private and
public sectors. The building construction services provided by
the Group primarily consist of building works for new buildings,
including residential, commercial and industrial buildings, while
the Group’s RMAA works services include the general upkeep,
maintenance, improvement, refurbishment, alteration and
addition of existing facilities and components of buildings and
their surroundings.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had 13 major projects on hand
with an awarded contract sum of HK$10.0 million or above,
which include projects in progress and projects that are yet to

commence.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group had
completed one major project with an awarded contract sum of
HK$10.0 million or above.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

There are certain risks relating to the Group's operations which
could harm the Group’s business, financial condition and
operating results. Some of the relatively material risks relating
to the Group are summarised as follows:

() The Group’s business and operation may be affected by
the Pandemic or other public health incident, which may
cause lockdown, travel restrictions and suspension of work
in Hong Kong or elsewhere;

(i) the Group's revenue relies on the Group's contracts being
awarded through tendering or quotation processes which
are not recurrent in nature. There is no guarantee on the
Group's continual success in project tenders or quotation
and the Group's sustainability and financial performance
may be materially and adversely affected;
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE D

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

the Group is exposed to concentration risk of heavy
reliance on the Group's largest and major customers;

the Group relies on the Group’s subcontractors to perform
generally most of the works of the Group’s projects;
any fluctuations in subcontracting costs, unsatisfactory
performance or unavailability of the Group's subcontractors
may materially and adversely affect the Group's operations
and profitability;

the Group may suffer from cash flow shortcomings due to
mismatch in time between receipt of progress payments
from our customers, and payments to our suppliers and
subcontractors;

changes in the prices and availability of raw materials
may materially and adversely affect the Group’s operating
results; and

the Group provides performance bonds in the course of the
Group's business operations which could affect the Group's
liquidity position.

For detailed discussion of the risk factors, please refer to

the

section headed “Risk Factors” in the prospectus of the

Company dated 30 January 2019 (the “Prospectus”).

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group's reportable and operating segments are (i) building

construction services and (i) RMAA works services. Details of

the segmental information of the Group is disclosed in note 5

to the consolidated financial statements.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The revenue of the Group increased by approximately HK$49.5

million or approximately 4.5% from approximately HK$1,103.2

million for the year ended 31 March 2021 to approximately
HK$1,152.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2022.

(i)

(ii)

Building Construction Services

The revenue generated from the building construction
services slightly decreased by approximately HK$4.2 million
or approximately 0.4% from approximately HK$990.9
million for the year ended 31 March 2021 to approximately
HK$986.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2022. Such
slight decrease was mainly due to the practical completion
of one sizable project during the year ended 31 March
2022. Such decrease, however, was partially offset by the
increase in revenue generated from several sizable projects,
which achieved significant progress during the year ended
31 March 2022.

RMAA Works Services

The revenue generated from the RMAA works services
substantially increased by approximately HK$53.7 million
or approximately 47.8% from approximately HK$112.3
million for the year ended 31 March 2021 to approximately
HK$166.0 million for the year ended 31 March 2022.
Such substantial increase was mainly due to the increase
in revenue generated from two newly awarded sizable
projects during the year ended 31 March 2022. Such
increase, however, was partially offset by the decrease in
revenue generated from several sizable projects reaching
the completion stage during the year ended 31 March
2022.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE D

Cost of Sales

The cost of sales of the Group increased by approximately
HK$51.2 million or approximately 4.9% from approximately
HK$1,047.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2021 to
approximately HK$1,099.0 million for the year ended 31 March
2022. Such increase was mainly driven by the corresponding
increase in revenue. The Group's cost of sales primarily
consisted of subcontracting costs, material costs, direct staff
costs and site overhead.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The gross profit of the Group decreased by approximately
HK$1.7 million or approximately 3.1% from approximately
HK$55.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2021 to
approximately HK$53.7 million for the year ended 31 March
2022. The gross profit margin was approximately 4.7% and
5.0% for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, respectively,
representing a decrease of approximately 0.3 percentage
points.

(i) Building Construction Services

The gross profit of building construction services was
approximately HK$53.8 million for the year ended 31 March
2022, representing an increase of approximately HK$12.3
million or approximately 29.6% from approximately HK$41.5
million for the year ended 31 March 2021. The gross profit
margin of building construction services increased from
approximately 4.2% for the year ended 31 March 2021 to
approximately 5.5% for the year ended 31 March 2022. Such
increase was primarily attributable to the increase in gross
profit of several sizeable projects as a result of negotiation
of final accounts with subcontractors.
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(ii) RMAA Works Services

The gross loss of RMAA works services was approximately
HK$0.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2022, as
compared to the gross profit of approximately HK$13.9
million for the year ended 31 March 2021. The gross profit/
(loss) margin of RMAA works services decreased from gross
profit margin of approximately 12.4% for the year ended 31
March 2021 to gross loss margin of approximately 0.1% for
the year ended 31 March 2022. The turnaround from gross
profit to gross loss in the RMAA segment was mainly due to
the decrease in gross profit generated from several sizeable
projects reaching the completion stage during the year
ended 31 March 2022, and the gross loss generated from
the newly awarded sizeable project due to the significant
site overhead costs incurred at the initial stage during the
year ended 31 March 2022.

Other Income and Gains

The other income and gains of the Group decreased by
approximately HK$6.8 million or approximately 48.2% from
approximately HK$14.1 million for year ended 31 March 2021
to approximately HK$7.3 million for year ended 31 March
2022. Such decrease was mainly due to the absence of a non-
recurring government subsidy under the Employment Support
Scheme established by the Government of Hong Kong during
the year ended 31 March 2022, while such government subsidy
was recognised during the year ended 31 March 2021. Such
decrease, however, was partially offset by the gain on disposal
of financial assets, net and the dividend income from equity
investments recognised during the year ended 31 March 2022.

Administrative and Other Operating Expenses, Net

The administrative and other operating expenses, net of
the Group decreased by approximately HK$4.2 million or
approximately 8.7% from approximately HK$48.5 million for the
year ended 31 March 2021 to approximately HK$44.3 million for
year ended 31 March 2022. Such decrease was mainly due to
the decrease in staff costs and professional fees during the year
ended 31 March 2022. Such decrease, however, was partially
offset by the fair value loss on financial assets, net recognised
during the year ended 31 March 2022.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE D
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE D

Finance Costs

The finance costs of the Group decreased by approximately
HK$70,000 or approximately 35.2% from approximately
HK$199,000 for the year ended 31 March 2021 to approximately
HK$129,000 for the year ended 31 March 2022. Such decrease
was primarily attributable to the decrease in the interest
expense on lease liabilities.

Income Tax

The income tax of the Group increased by approximately HK$0.7
million or approximately 43.8% from approximately HK$1.6
million for the year ended 31 March 2021 to approximately
HK$2.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2022. The effective
tax rate (defined as the income tax divided by profit before
tax) was approximately 14.2% and 7.6% for the years ended 31
March 2022 and 2021, respectively. The increase of the effective
tax rate of approximately 6.6 percentage points was primarily
attributable to the non-taxable non-recurring government
subsidy recognised during the year ended 31 March 2021 but
no such government subsidy was recognised during the year
ended 31 March 2022.

Net Profit

As a result of the foregoing, the net profit of the Group
decreased by approximately HK$5.0 million or approximately
26.0% from approximately HK$19.2 million for the year ended
31 March 2021 to approximately HK$14.2 million for the year
ended 31 March 2022. The net profit margin was approximately
1.2% and 1.7% for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021,
respectively, representing a decrease of approximately 0.5
percentage points. Such decrease was mainly due to the
absence of the non-recurring government subsidy recognised
during the year ended 31 March 2022, while such government
subsidy was recognised during the year ended 31 March 2021.
Such decrease, however, was partially offset by the gain on
disposal of financial assets, net and the dividend income from
equity investments recognised during the year ended 31 March
2022.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2022, the Group has a total of 223 full-time and
one part-time employees (as at 31 March 2021: 185 full-time and
one part-time employees). The Group has developed its human
resources policies and procedures to determine the individual
remuneration with reference to factors such as performance,
qualification, merits, responsibilities of each individual and
market conditions. The Group offers induction and other ad hoc
training to employees, according to the job nature and position
of individual employee. Remuneration packages are normally
reviewed on a regular basis. Apart from salary payments, other
staff benefits include provident fund contributions, medical
insurance coverage, annual leave and share options and share
awards which may be granted to eligible employees. The total
staff costs (excluding Directors’ remuneration) of the Group
were approximately HK$92.9 million and HK$90.2 million for the
years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, respectively.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

During the year ended 31 March 2022, other than the
shareholding in the subsidiaries of the Company, there were no
significant investments held by the Company. There were no
material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and associated
companies by the Group during the year ended 31 March 2022.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Save as disclosed in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had no significant capital commitments
as at 31 March 2022.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Save as disclosed in note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had no other significant contingent
liabilities as at 31 March 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE D

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group has a minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as
most of its business transactions and assets and liabilities are
principally denominated in Hong Kong Dollar. As such, the
Directors believe that the Group’s risk in foreign exchange
is insignificant, such that it is not necessary for the Group to
arrange any foreign currency hedging policy and the Group has
not entered into any instrument for hedging purposes during
the year ended 31 March 2022.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The Group has principally funded the liquidity and capital
requirements through capital contributions from the
Shareholders, bank borrowings and net cash generated from
operating activities.

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group had pledged deposits,
time deposits and cash and bank balances of approximately
HK$122.7 million and HK$167.9 million,
31 March 2022 and 2021, the current ratio of the Group was
approximately 2.1 times and 2.2 times, respectively.

respectively. As at

The Group generally finances its operation by internally
generated resources and banking facilities provided by certain
banks in Hong Kong. The Directors believe that the Group has
sufficient working capital for the Group's current commitments
and future requirements.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, there has been no
change in the capital structure of the Company.

DEBTS AND CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group has no outstanding
bank borrowings. The lease liabilities of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$7.9 million and HK$4.7 million as at 31 March
2022 and 2021, respectively.
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As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the banking facilities of the
Group were secured by (i) the Group's pledged deposits of
approximately HK$34.2 million and HK$42.2 million, respectively;
and (ii) corporate guarantee executed by the Group.

The Group’s borrowings were denominated in Hong Kong
Dollar and interests on borrowings were mainly charged at
floating rate. The Group currently does not have any interest
rate hedging policy. Although the Group had no outstanding
bank borrowings as at 31 March 2022, the Group pays vigilant
attention to and monitors interest rate risks continuously and
cautiously.

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the gearing ratio of the Group
(defined as the lease liabilities divided by total equity) was
approximately 2.8% and 1.7%, respectively.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group was not
subject to any material environmental claims, lawsuits, penalty,
administrative or disciplinary actions. For further information
in relation to the environmental policies and performance of
the Group, please refer to the "Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” prepared according to Appendix 27 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the "Listing Rules”).

USE OF PROCEEDS

The shares of the Company (the “Share(s)”) were successfully
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the” Stock Exchange”) on 27 February 2019 (the
“Listing Date"). The net proceeds from the share offer (the “Net
Proceeds”), after deducting related underwriting commission
and listing expenses, of approximately HK$93.5 million were
and will be utilised in accordance with the section headed “Future
Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE D

The particulars of the Net Proceeds utilised during the year
ended 31 March 2022 are as follows:

B 2202238310 It FEAMRBRIEFR
ERZFHBWT

Actual use of Remaining  Expected timeline
Net Proceeds balance of  for the use of
Planned use of during the Net Proceeds  remaining
Net Proceeds year ended asat  balance of
in total 31 March 2022 31 March 2022 Net Proceeds
BE2022F W202% ER
FEFEEE  3A3BLEER 3A3NAN  FEREEH
R FrEsEFa FEREEE  MBERN
aE ERAZ FEn  REREX
(HKS million) (HKS million) (HKS million)
(BEET) (BEET) (BEE7T)
Strengthen the capacity in undertaking MERMRNEBREES 66.7 = - NA
more building construction and RMAA EFRENREER TEA
works projects in Hong Kong AETRER N
Strengthen the manpower MEAN 14.4 49 19 30 September 2022
2022%69A308
Upgrade and renovation of office NS 36 09 02 30 June 2022
2022567308
Develop engineering and T gl T2 ki 29 - 04 31 March 2023
technological innovation 2023F3R31H
General working capital —ReELe 59 - - NA
TER
935 58 25

As at 31 March 2022, the Group has not yet fully utilised the Net
Proceeds allocated for strengthening manpower, upgrading and
renovating office and developing engineering and technological
innovation. The delay in utilisation of the Net Proceeds in the
abovementioned areas than the planned timeline for the use
of proceeds as disclosed in the Prospectus were due to (i) the
difficulty in recruiting suitable candidates for the positions which
were created as planned; and (ii) the delay in development
of the Group's engineering and technological innovation.
The Group plans to utilise the remaining balance of the Net
Proceeds allocated to the abovementioned areas during the
year ending 31 March 2023.

The Group will continue to apply the Net Proceeds in

accordance to the disclosure in the section headed “Future
Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERELSRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining
the highest standard of corporate governance as the Board
recognises the importance of sound corporate governance
to the long term and continuing success of the Group. The
corporate governance principles of the Group emphasise
transparency, accountability and independence. The Board
commits to continuously reviewing and enhancing the Group's
corporate governance practices and procedures for the best
interest of the Shareholders.

Pursuant to paragraph 34 of Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules,
the Board is pleased to present the corporate governance
report to the Company for the year ended 31 March 2022.

During the year ended 31 March 2022 and up to the date
of this annual report, the Company has complied with all
the applicable code provisions as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code ("CG Code”) in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules except the deviation mentioned in the paragraph below

headed “Chairman and Chief Executive”.

The references made to the code provisions of the CG Code
in this annual report have been updated to the amended CG
Code effective from 1 January 2022.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles
of chairman (the “Chairman”) and chief executive officer (the
“"CEOQO") should be separated and should not be performed by
the same individual. Since the Listing Date and up to the date
of this annual report, Mr. Tsang Ka Yip (“Mr. KY Tsang”) has
been the Chairman of the Board and the CEO of the Company.
Given the nature and extent of the Group's operations and
Mr. KY Tsang’s in-depth knowledge and experience in the
industry in which the Group operates and his familiarity with
the operations of the Group, the Board believes that it is most
beneficial to the Group and the Shareholders as a whole to
have Mr. KY Tsang acting as the Chairman of the Board and the
CEO of the Company at the same time.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the model code for securities
transactions by directors of listed issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors. The
Company has made specific enquiries to each of the Directors
and all Directors have confirmed that they have fully complied
with the required standards set out in the Model Code during
the year ended 31 March 2022.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The key responsibilities of the Board include formulation of the
Group's overall strategies, the setting of management targets

and supervision of management performance.

Composition

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Board comprised a
total of six directors, with three executive Directors (the “EDs")
and three independent non-executive Directors (the “INEDs").
Board members are listed below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Tsang Ka Yip (Chairman and CEO)
Mr. Tsang Tsz Him Philip

Mr. Tsang Tsz Kit Jerry

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Dr. Lau Chi Keung

Mr. Chan Tim Yiu Raymond

Mr. Sze Kwok Wing Nigel

18 WECON HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2021/2022

ERETRSRINEETA

AR RE R LT R RIM EI10PTE R £ TH
BITABRETERRZNRETA([HE
SR MMEREFETEZFRZNITRT
A - ARRIEABZESEHIEER - MA
BESCHRREFREE202243A318 L
FEHRD 2B TRETAMEZRER

.

Exg

EZgNI2BEERIEARENERRK
B SIEEEBRREEEERSE -

AR

HZE2022F3A31HILFE  EFSHAN
FEF(BEZ2VTES(HTESEDK
—RBYIFNTES((BALEHTESE]))
B - EZEREHIIMT ¢

HITES
WRE S (ZRRITRAH)
WS
WA

BMFHTES
BERiEt
RN S5



In compliance with the requirements set out in Rule 3.10 of
the Listing Rules, the Board consists of three INEDs during the
year ended 31 March 2022, which comprises half of the Board,
and Mr. Sze Kwok Wing Nigel has appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise. During the year ended 31 March 2022 and up to the
date of this annual report, the number of INEDs represents at
least one-third of the Board which is in compliance with Rule
3.10A. As such, the Company believes that there is a sufficient
independence element in the Board to safeguard the interests
of the Shareholders.

The Company has entered into a letter of appointment with
each of the INEDs. The commencement date of each of the
letter of appointment is 27 February 2019, which is the date
of the Listing, for an initial term of three years, and renewable
automatically for a successive term of three years upon the
expiry of the current term, subject to early termination by either
party in accordance with the terms thereof. Each of the INEDs
has made an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that
all INEDs meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and are independent in accordance with the
terms of the guidelines.

Pursuant to Article 84 of the articles of association of the
Company (the “Articles”), one-third of the Directors shall retire
from office by rotation at each annual general meeting and
every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every 3 years. A retiring Director shall be eligible
for re-election. As such, Mr. Tsang Tsz Kit Jerry as an executive
Director and Mr. Chan Tim Yiu Raymond as an independent
non-executive Director, will retire by rotation and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

Saved as disclosed in the section “Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report,
there is no financial, business, family or other material or
relevant relationship among members of the Board and senior
management.
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Meetings and Attendance

The attendance of individual members of the Board at various
meetings during the year ended 31 March 2022, as well as the
number of such meetings held, and the annual general meeting
of the Company held on 20 August 2021 (the “2021 AGM") are
set out below:

Elﬁﬁ&l‘ﬂ%%/ﬁ
REE2022F3831BILFE - ETEKE
HESSEREBZRITRE  LER

NAIR2021F8 A20H BT RERBEFKE
(2021ERRBEARE )L FBERET
W

Number of meetings attended/held

HE/BTERNRY
Audit Nomination ~ Remuneration
Board Committee Committee Committee 2021
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting AGM
Exg ENZEg REZE8 FMzEg 20215
e =] =] 83 RRBEFKE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Tsang Ka Yip BRELED 55 N/ANER 11 11 n
Mr. Tsang Tsz Him Philip DRGSR 5/5 N/A A N/A TiE A N/A TR 171
Mr. Tsang Tsz Kit Jerry DRAEE A 5/5 N/A NEA N/A TNEMA N/A TNEA 171
Independent Non-Executive BIFHBTES
Directors
Dr. Lau Chi Keung ¥ AFEELTe 5/5 5/5 11 N/A TEFA 171
Mr. Chan Tim Yiu Raymond @ BB TS 5/5 5/5 N/A 1EA 11 11
Mr. Sze Kwok Wing Nigel © TR E 5/5 5/5 11 171 11
1. Chairman of the Board 1 BERgI/F
2. Chairman of the Nomination Committee 2 RBEZEELR
T himon ofthe A Commmee e ¢ DREiER

INEDs’ meeting with the Chairman

In compliance with the code provision C.2.7 of the CG code, the
Chairman of the Board should at least annually hold a meeting
with the non-executive Directors (including INEDs) without the
presence of the other Directors.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the INEDs had a
meeting with the Chairman of the Board without the presence
of other executive Directors. In addition, the INEDs could also
communicate directly at any time through other means (such as
telephone or email) to give their opinions and share their views
on the Company's affairs.
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Directors’ Training and Professional Development

In compliance with the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code,
all Directors shall participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skill
to ensure that they obtain the updated and relevant information
regarding to the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the
Company arranged a training session provided by our Hong

requirements.

Kong legal adviser to all the Directors as continuing professional
trainings. The training covered topics of common compliance
pitfalls for listed companies and money laundering.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) pursuant to requirement of the CG Code. The
Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance.

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced
development, the Company sees increasing diversity at the
Board level as an essential element in supporting the attainment
of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development.

In designing the Board’'s composition, Board diversity has
been considered from a wide range of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural background and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience
and qualifications, skills, knowledge and length of service,
and any other factors that the Board may consider relevant
and applicable from time to time. High emphasis is placed on
ensuring a balanced composition of skills and experience at the
Board level in order to provide a range of perspectives, insights
and challenge that enable the Board to discharge its duties
and responsibilities effectively, support good decision making
in view of the core businesses and strategy of the Group, and
support succession planning and development of the Board. For
achieving an optimal Board, additional measurable objectives
and specific diversity targets may be set and reviewed from
time to time to ensure their appropriateness.
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Selection of director candidates will be based on the Company’s
nomination policy and will take into account this policy. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution
that the selected candidates will bring to the Board, having
due regard to the benefits of diversity on the Board and also
the needs of the Board without focusing on a single diversity
aspect.

The Board will take opportunities to increase the proportion
of female members over time when selecting and making
recommendation on suitable candidates for Board
appointments. The Board would ensure that appropriate
balance of gender diversity is achieved with reference
to stakeholders’ expectation and international and local
recommended best practices, with the ultimate goal of bringing
the Board to gender parity. The Board also aspires to having an
appropriate proportion of directors who have direct experience
in the Group's core markets, with different ethnic backgrounds,
and reflecting the Group's strategy.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established a number of functional committees
in compliance with the relevant Listing Rules for assisting the
Board to oversee specific aspects of the Company's affairs and
helping it in the execution of its responsibilities. Specific written
terms of reference of these committees clearly outline the
committees’ authority and duties, which require the committees
to report back on their decisions and recommendations to the
Board. Currently, three committees have been established,
i.e. the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), the
nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) and the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”).
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee of the Company was established on 21
January 2019 with specific written terms of reference which
clearly deals with its authority and duties.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for (a) maintaining
the relationship with the Company’s auditor; (b) reviewing
the Company's financial information; (c) overseeing the
Company's financial reporting system, risk management and
internal control systems; and (d) overseeing the Company's
continuing connected transactions. The full version of the terms
of reference of the Audit Committee is available on the Stock
Exchange's website at “www.hkexnews.hk” and the Company's

website at “www.wecon.com.hk”.

The Audit Committee is made up of three INEDs including Mr.
Sze Kwok Wing Nigel (Chairman), Dr. Lau Chi Keung and Mr.
Chan Tim Yiu Raymond.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Audit Committee

held five committee meetings; and had, among others,

performed the following work:

() held two meetings with an external auditor to discuss and
review the annual results, the annual report for the year
ended 31 March 2021 and the interim results, the interim
report for the six months ended 30 September 2021 and
recommended the same to the Board for approval;

(i) held one meeting with an external independent internal
control consultant to discuss and review the Group's
risk management and internal control systems, and the
effectiveness of the Group's internal audit function;

(iii) held one meeting with an external auditor to discuss the
pre-audit planning and the statutory audit scope of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2022; and

(iv) held one meeting to discuss the re-appointment of external
auditor and made recommendations to the Board on the
re-appointment of external auditor and its remuneration.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee of the Company was established on
21 January 2019 with specific written terms of reference which
clearly deals with its authority and duties.

The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for (a)
reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually
and making recommendations on any proposed changes to
the Board to complement the Company's corporate strategy;
(b) identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and selecting or making recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated of directorships;
(c) making recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of the Directors and succession planning for
Directors in particular the Chairman of the Board and the CEQ,;
and (d) assessing the independence of the INEDs and reviewing
the INEDs' annual confirmations on their independence and
making the disclosure of its review results in the corporate
governance report. The full version of the terms of reference of
the Nomination Committee is available on the Stock Exchange's
website at “www.hkexnews.hk” and the Company’s website at

www.wecon.com.hk”.

The Nomination Committee is made up of three members
including Dr. Lau Chi Keung (Chairman), Mr. Sze Kwok Wing
Nigel and Mr. Tsang Ka Yip.

The Nomination Committee held one committee meeting
for the year ended 31 March 2022. The duties performed by
the Nomination Committee were to review and consider the
composition and diversity of the Board, appointment and
re-appointment of the Directors, annual independence of
INEDs, assessed the INEDs' independence according to the
independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules,
review the succession planning for Directors and the existing
terms of reference of the Nomination Committee.
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Nomination criteria

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for the directorship,

the following criteria should be considered by the Nomination

Committee:

(i)

(ii)

(vi)

(vii)

the candidate’s character and integrity;

the candidate’s qualifications including professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience, and
diversity aspects under the Board Diversity Policy that are
relevant to the Company’s business and corporate strategy;

any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity
on the Board;

for independent non-executive Directors, whether the
candidate would be considered independent with reference
to the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

any potential contributions the candidate can bring to
the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity;

willingness and ability of the candidate to devote adequate
time to discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or
Board committee(s) of the Company; and

such other perspectives that are appropriate to the
Company's business and succession plan and where
applicable may be adopted and/or amended by the Board
and/or the Nomination Committee from time to time for
nomination of directors and succession planning.
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Nomination Procedures

The Company has put in place the following director nomination

procedures:

Appointment of New and Replacement Directors

(i)

(i)

If the Board determines that an additional or replacement
Director is required, it will deploy multiple channels for
identifying suitable director candidates, including referral
from Directors, Shareholders, management, advisors of the
Company and external executive search firms.

Upon compilation and interview of the list of potential
candidates, the relevant Nomination Committee will
shortlist candidates for consideration by the Nomination
Committee/Board based on the selection criteria and such
other factors that it considers appropriate. The Board
has the final authority on determining suitable director
candidate for appointment.

Re-election of Directors and Nomination from Shareholders

(i)

26

Where a retiring Director, being eligible, offers himself
for re-election, the Board shall consider and, if consider
appropriate, recommend such retiring Director to stand for
re-election at a general meeting. A circular containing the
requisite information on such retiring Director will be sent
to Shareholders prior to a general meeting in accordance
with the Listing Rules.

Any Shareholder of the Company who wishes to nominate
a person to stand for election as a Director at a general
meeting must lodge with the company secretary of the
Company within the lodgement period specified in the
relevant shareholder circular (a) a written nomination of the
candidate, (b) written confirmation from such nominated
candidate of his willingness to stand for election, and
(c) biographical details of such nominated candidate
as required under the Listing Rules. Particulars of the
candidate so proposed will be sent to all Shareholders for
information by a supplementary circular.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee of the Company was established
on 21 January 2019 with specific written terms of reference
which clearly deals with its authority and duties.

The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for (a)
making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all Directors, the senior management
of the Group and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;
(b) determining, making recommendations to the Board,
considering and approving the remuneration package of
individual executive Directors and senior management and the
compensation arrangements relating to loss or termination of
office or appointment; and (c) reviewing and approving the
management's remuneration proposals with reference to the
Board's corporate goals and objectives. The full version of the
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee is available
on the Stock Exchange’s website at “www.hkexnews.hk” and the
Company's website at “www.wecon.com.hk”. The Remuneration
Committee ensures that none of the Directors or any of his
associates is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee is made up of three members
including Mr. Chan Tim Yiu Raymond (Chairman), Mr. Sze Kwok
Wing Nigel and Mr. Tsang Ka Yip, a majority which comprises
INEDs and is chaired by an INED.

The Remuneration Committee held one committee meeting
for the year ended 31 March 2022. The duties performed
by the Remuneration Committee were to review and make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and member of the senior
management, as well as the remuneration of the INEDs
and such that no individual Director would decide his own
remuneration level.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration in the Group and the five
highest paid individuals are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Senior management’s remuneration

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the
remuneration paid to the members of the senior management
by band during the year ended 31 March 2022 is set out below:

Remuneration bands (HK$)

= AR EEE R H

RIECEE AT R ST AR SCEE .55
REE2022F38NBIUEEE  INFER
EEERHEE T ¢

Number of person(s)

FroNgnE (8 T) AE
Nil to 1,000,000 Z%1,000,000 )

1,000,001 to 1,500,000 1,000,001 1,500,000

1

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the remuneration paid or
payable to the external auditor of the Company, Ernst & Young,
in respect of the audit and non-audit services were as follows:

18 37 1% B B 35 B

REZE2022F3A3NHIEFEE » STz R IE
RGBS EN T AR B IR BRI 2
KXEFTRIBSATIH BT -

Remuneration

Services rendered paid/payable
ERMR® [EEEPANE A
HK$'000
FET
Audit services FHit iR

— Annual audit —FEET 900

Non-audit services BT AR
— Review of interim results — BRI 200
— Others —Hh 10

1,110
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has on 21 January 2019 adopted a divided policy

(the “Dividend Policy”), and the summary of which is set out

below:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in
determining the dividend amount, the Board shall take into

account, inter aliai—

—
(o

the general financial condition of the Group;

3

capital and debt level of the Group;

—
(g)
-~

future cash requirements and availability for business

operations, business strategies and future development

needs;

(d) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be
imposed by the Group's lenders;

(e) the general market conditions; and

(f) any other factors that the Board considers appropriate.

The payment of the dividend by the Company is also
subject to any restrictions under the Companies Act (as
revised) of the Cayman Islands and the Articles. Any final
dividends declared by the Company must be approved
by an ordinary resolution of the Shareholders at an
annual general meeting and must not exceed the amount
recommended by the Board. The Board may from time to
time pay to the Shareholders such interim and/or special
dividends, in cash or in kind, as it considers to be justified
by the profits of the Group.

The Board endeavours to strike a balance between the
Shareholders’ interests and prudent capital management
with a sustainable Dividend Policy. The Board will review
the Dividend Policy from time to time and may exercise at
its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or
modify the policy at any time as it deems fit and necessary.

Details of dividends are disclosed in note 12 to the consolidated

financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

All Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements affairs of the Group.

The statement of the auditor, Ernst & Young, about its reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set
out in the independent auditor’s report on pages 132 to 140 of
this annual report.

There are no material uncertainties relating to any events
or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Company's ability to continue as a going concern.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary supports the Board by ensuring the
Board policy and procedures are followed. The company
secretary is also responsible for advising the Board on corporate
governance matters.

Mr. Tang Siu Fung Calvin (“Mr. Tang”) has been appointed
as the company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) on 11 April 2021. Mr. Tang meets the qualification
requirements for company secretary under Rule 3.28 of the
Listing Rules. During the year ended 31 March 2022, Mr. Tang
confirmed that he complied with training requirements under
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules by undertaking not less than 15
hours of relevant professional training. Mr. Tang is a partner
of Hexacubic Consulting Limited, which provides corporate
governance consulting services to the Company. Although Mr.
Tang is not an employee of the Company, he reports to the
Chairman and advices the Board on governance matters. The
Company has assigned Ms. Lee Ching Ha, financial controller of
the Group, as its primary corporate contact person whom Mr.
Tang can contact.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

(1)

@)

General Meetings

The general meetings of the Company provide a good
opportunity for communication between the Shareholders
and the Board. An annual general meeting of the Company
shall be held in each year and at such time and place to be
determined by the Board. Each general meeting, other than
an annual general meeting, shall be called an extraordinary
general meeting.

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
is scheduled to be held on Friday, 19 August 2022 (the
“2022 AGM"). A circular and a notice of the 2022 AGM
containing, among other matters, further information and
notice relating to the 2022 AGM will be despatched to the
Shareholders in accordance with the Articles, the Listing
Rules and other applicable laws and regulations.

The way in which Shareholders can convene an extraordinary
general meeting (“EGM”)

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, the Board may
whenever it thinks fit to call an EGM. Any one or more
Shareholders holding on the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the voting rights at
general meeting on a one vote per Share basis in the share
capital of the Company shall have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the Secretary of the Company,
to require an EGM to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition;
and such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after
the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty one (21)
days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.
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(3) The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election
as a Director

Pursuant to Article 85 of the Articles, no person other
than a Director retiring at the meeting shall, unless
recommended by the Directors for election, be eligible
for election as a Director at any general meeting unless
a notice signed by a Shareholder (other than the person
to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the
meeting for which such notice is given of his intention to
propose such person for election and also a notice signed
by the person to be proposed of his willingness to be
elected shall have been lodged at the head office or at the
registration office provided that the minimum length of the
period, during which such notice(s) are given, shall be at
least seven (7) days and that (if the notices are submitted
after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting
appointed for such election) the period for lodgment
of such notice(s) shall commence on the day after the
despatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed
for such election and end no later than seven (7) days prior
to the date of such general meeting.

(4) The procedures for sending enquiries to the Board

Any Shareholder(s) of the Company who wish to raise his/
her/their enquiries concerning the Company to the Board
may deliver his/her/their written enquiry(ies) to the principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at 18/F.,
Tung Hip Commercial Building, 244 — 252 Des Voeux Road
Central, Hong Kong for the attention of the Chairman of
the Board and the Company Secretary. Upon receipt of the
enquiries, the Company would reply as soon as possible.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has adopted shareholders communication policy
with the objective of ensuring timely, transparent and accurate
communications between the Shareholders and the Company.
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The Company has established several ways to communicate
with the Shareholders as follows:

(1) the annual general meetings and other general meetings
of the Company are the primary communication forum
between the Company and the Shareholders. The Board
members, appropriate senior executives and external
auditor will attend the general meetings to answer the
Shareholders’ questions;

(2) the corporate communications such as (i) annual reports, (ii)
interim reports, (iii) notices of meeting, (iv) circulars and
(v) forms of proxy are available on the Stock Exchange’s
website at “www.hkexnews.hk” and the Company’s website
at “www.wecon.com.hk”;

(3) periodic announcements are made through the Stock

Exchange’s website at “www.hkexnews.hk” and the

Company’s website at “www.wecon.com.hk”;

(4) the Tricor Investor Services Limited, the Hong Kong branch
share registrar of the Company, serves the Shareholders in
respect of share registration, dividend payment and related
matters; and

(5) the corporate information is made available from time to
time on the Company’s website at “www.wecon.com.hk”.

The Company is committed to maintain effective and timely
dissemination of the Group's information to Shareholders and
potential investors. Any enquiries to the Board or the Company
may be sent by post to the Company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 March 2022 and up to the date of
this annual report, there was no changes in the Company’s
memorandum of association and the Articles. The Board
proposed to amend the Articles to meet with the new
requirements brought by the amended Listing Rules effective
from 1 January 2022. A special resolution for amending the
Articles will be proposed at the 2022 AGM.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board undertakes to periodically review the internal control
and risk management systems of the Group to ensure their
effectiveness and efficiency and is responsible for maintaining
effective internal control system of the Group. The Directors
believe that an effective internal control system can avoid or
reduce the risks which can cause loss or reputational damage to
the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group engaged
an external independent internal control consultant to review
the internal control mechanisms and carry out internal audit
function. The scope of work includes identify, monitor and
manage the key risks area associated with the business activities
in relation to the operational matters/practices of the Group.
The consultant provided their findings and recommendations
for improvement and issued the internal control review report
to the Audit Committee for their review and consideration.

The Audit Committee conducted an annual review of the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and reviewed the internal control review
report and considered that the risk management and internal
control system of the Group are effective and adequate.
The review on the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control system of the Group would be conducted by
the Audit Committee on an annual basis. The Group currently
does not have an internal audit function. As mentioned above,
the internal audit function is performed by an external service
provider.

With respect to internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of insider information, the Group has a strict
prohibition on the unauthorised use of confidential or insider
information in the human resources management policy and
handbook (the “Employee Management Handbook").

The Company had previously arranged a training session on
the topic of inside information disclosure which is provided
by our Hong Kong legal adviser to all Directors as continuing
professional trainings in order to enhance the corporate
governance of the Group.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
ESREREEENERFS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tsang Ka Yip (“Mr. KY Tsang”), aged 69, was appointed
as our Director on 23 March 2018 and was redesignated as
our executive Director on 23 January 2019. Mr. KY Tsang is
the chairman and chief executive officer of our Group, and a
managing director of all our subsidiaries. He is responsible for
the overall strategic planning and business development as well
as executing the overall operation of our Group.

Mr. KY Tsang has over 43 years of experience in civil
engineering, building and construction industry. Prior to
founding our Group, Mr. KY Tsang worked as a project manager
in various construction contractors in Hong Kong, where he
commenced his career in the engineering and construction
industry. From July 1974 to August 1978, Mr. KY Tsang worked
in Wong & Ouyang & Associates Architects and Engineers Hong
Kong in contract section and was mainly responsible for contract
administration, preparation of tender specification and tender
documents. From August 1978 to October 1979, Mr. KY Tsang
worked in T.K. Shen Construction Co. as a project manager and
was mainly responsible for project supervision and liaising with
clients. From October 1979 to February 1982, Mr. KY Tsang
worked in Leon Eng. & Const. Co. Ltd. as a project manager;
and was subsequently promoted to executive director and was
mainly responsible for project supervision. Mr. KY Tsang worked
in Hing Lee Construction Co., Ltd as contract manager from
March 1982 to February 1984 and was mainly responsible for
contract administration, project management, site personnel
management, preparation of building estimates and all works in
connection with tender documents.
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Mr. KY Tsang obtained Certificate of Land Surveying and
Higher Certificate of Building Technology from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic in July 1973 and November 1975 respectively. Mr.
KY Tsang also obtained an Industrial Management Diploma
from Institution of Industrial Managers in August 1983. In
March 2017, Mr. KY Tsang also received a Master’s Degree
for Engineering Management from University of Technology,
Sydney. Since October 2017, Mr. KY Tsang has been admitted
as fellow of Hong Kong Institute of Construction Manager. Mr.
KY Tsang is one of the controlling shareholders, and the father
of Mr. Philip Tsang and Mr. Jerry Tsang.

Mr. KY Tsang was as a member of the Registered Contractors’
Disciplinary Board Panel by the Housing, Planning and Lands
Bureau from 1999 to 2005. From 2007 to 2009, Mr. KY Tsang
had also been appointed as the Vice Chairman of Building
Committee of The Hong Kong Construction Association. From
2008 to 2009, Mr. KY Tsang served as the President of Rotary
Club of Hong Kong Northwest. In 2013 to 2015, Mr. KY Tsang
assumed the office of a Board Director of Tung Wah Group
of Hospitals. Since April 2017, Mr. KY Tsang was admitted
as Council Member of Hong Kong Construction Association.
Since April 2017, Mr. KY Tsang has become the Vice Chairman
of the Small & Medium Enterprise Committee of Hong Kong
Construction Association. Mr. KY Tsang is appointed as a
member of the Appeal Tribunal Panel by Planning and Lands
Branch of the Development Bureau for a period of three years
from December 2021 to November 2024. Since November 2016,
Mr. KY Tsang held the post of an independent manager of the
Incorporated Management Committee by TWGHs Tsui Tsin
Tong School.
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Mr. Tsang Tsz Him Philip (“Mr. Philip Tsang”), aged 40, was
appointed as the deputy director of Wecon Limited in August
2012. He was appointed as our Director on 25 June 2018 and
was re-designated as our executive Director on 23 January
2019. He is responsible for the overall construction projects
management and daily operation of our Group.

Mr. Philip Tsang joined our Group in November 2008 as a
project coordinator of Wecon Limited before he left our Group
in May 2010. Mr. Philip Tsang has returned to our Group since
August 2012 as deputy director of Wecon Limited. Mr. Philip
Tsang studied from Santa Monica College from year of 2000 to
2002 without obtaining accredited certificates. Mr. Philip Tsang
is the son of Mr. KY Tsang and the elder brother of Mr. Jerry
Tsang.

Mr. Tsang Tsz Kit Jerry (“Mr. Jerry Tsang”), aged 35, was
appointed as our Director on 25 June 2018 and was re-
designated as executive Director on 23 January 2019. He is
responsible for the overall administrative, information system,
financial and human resources planning of our Group.

Mr. Jerry Tsang joined our Group in March 2010 as an
investment executive of Wecon Limited. Mr. Jerry Tsang
obtained the Diploma of Commerce from Melbourne Institute
of Business and Technology in March 2008 and received a
degree of Bachelor of Arts (Business Enterprise) from University
of Birmingham in September 2013. Mr. Jerry Tsang is the son of
Mr. KY Tsang and the younger brother of Mr. Philip Tsang.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Lau Chi Keung (“Dr. Lau"), aged 67, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 21 January 2019. He
is primarily responsible for providing independent advice to
our Board. He is currently a director of Fong On Construction
Limited, Fong On Geotechnics Limited, Po Shing Construction
Limited, James Lau & Associates Limited and the executive
director and chief executive officer of Ri Ying Holdings Limited
(formerly known as Shing Chi Holdings Limited), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
1741) since February 2018.

Dr. Lau has over 43 years of experience in engineering. Dr.
Lau worked as a graduate engineer in Ho Chung, Wallace
Evans & Company Limited in August 1978 with his last position
held as an engineer in 1984. He was then employed by WS
Atkins (Services) Limited as a group engineer with his last
position held as a senior group engineer and head of the soil-
structure interaction group from May 1988 to August 1994. Dr.
Lau worked as an adjunct professor at The City University of
Hong Kong from June 2006 to June 2012 and The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University from April 2002 to March 2005. He has
re-joined The Hong Kong Polytechnic University as an adjunct
professor since March 2016. In recognition of his valuable
experience and knowledge in the civil and environmental
engineering industry, Dr. Lau is invited to be an adjunct
professor in the Department of Civil and Environmental, The
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology from April
2020 to March 2023.
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Dr. Lau was admitted to memberships of the following
institutions and bodies:

Name of institution Membership grade
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BB L ER RS A THE RARNKE

Month and year of approval
of membership grade

HEEE = SERBIVMZERR BB
The Hong Kong Institute of Arbitrators Fellow May 2018

BEMEFSE EXREE 2018457

The Chartered Institute of Arbitrators Member January 2005

Rt s R 2 &8 20051 A

The Hong Kong University of Science

Honorary Fellow
and Technology

BEERKRE RERL

The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers Member/Fellow
E R g8 /BAXxg8
The Institution of Structural Engineers Member

EE IR EE g8

The Institution of Civil Engineers Member
TARTIZMES g8

November 2002

2002411 A

August 1983/June 1999
198384, 199946 A
November 1982
19824114

December 1982
19824124

Dr. Lau has been a registered professional engineer (civil,
structural, and geotechnical) of Hong Kong Engineers
Registration Board since October 1997. He has also been a
registered structural engineer, an authorised person (list of
engineers), a registered geotechnical engineer and a registered
inspector under the Buildings Ordinance since August 1997,
April 1998, May 2005 and November 2012, respectively. Dr. Lau
has also been a first class registered structural engineer of the
National Administration Board of Architectural Registration of
the PRC since June 2000. Dr.

and mediator of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers,

Lau has also been an arbitrator

an accredited general mediator of Hong Kong Mediation
Accreditation Association Limited and appointed as an
accredited adjudicator of Hong Kong International Arbitration
Centre since April 2005, July 2017 and 2015, respectively.

In July 1978, Dr. Lau received the Bachelor of Science (Civil &
Structural Engineering) from University College Cardiff (currently
known as Cardiff University). In December 1985 and May 1989,
Dr. Lau further obtained a Master’s Degree and a Doctorate
Degree in soil mechanics at the University of Cambridge.
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Mr. Chan Tim Yiu Raymond (“Mr. Chan”), aged 63, was
appointed as our independent non-executive Director on
21 January 2019. He is primarily responsible for providing
independent advice to our Board.

As a practicing solicitor, Mr. Chan has over 36 years of
experience in the legal profession. Mr. Chan was awarded the
Bachelor of Laws from University of Birmingham in July 1982
and passed the Solicitors’ Final Examination organised by The
Law Society of England and Wales in November 1983. Mr. Chan
then joined Johnson Stokes & Master (currently known as Mayer
Brown) as a trainee solicitor and was subsequently promoted
as an assistant solicitor and a partner before he left the firm
in 1995. In 1996, Mr. Chan formed the practice Raymond T.Y.
Chan, Victoria Chan & Co. and has been a partner since then.

Mr. Chan was admitted as a solicitor of Hong Kong in 1985 and
admitted as a solicitor of England and Wales and a barrister
and solicitor of the Supreme Court of Australia Capital Territory
in April 1989 and August 1990, respectively. In August 1990, he
was also admitted as an advocate and solicitor of Singapore.
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Mr. Sze Kwok Wing Nigel (“Mr. Sze"), aged 65, was appointed
as our independent non-executive Director on 21 January 2019.
He is primarily responsible for providing independent advice to
our Board. He is currently a director of J&J Investments Limited
and an independent non-executive director of Pacific Textiles
Holdings Limited, which is a company listed in Hong Kong (Stock
Code: 1382) since January 2007.

Mr. Sze has over 41 years of experience in business and
administrative management. Mr. Sze worked as an internal
auditor in Ford Motor Company from 1980 to 1982. From 1982
to 1985, he worked as an assistant finance manager in National
Mutual. He then joined CITIBANK N.A. as a group financial
controller (private banking, Asia Pacific) from 1986 to 1989
and was subsequently promoted as business head marketing
(island central zone — Hong Kong) before he left CITIBANK N.A.
in 1993. From 1993 to 1995, he worked as a head of private
banking (Hong Kong booking centre) at American Express
Bank. He then joined Morgan Stanley Asia Ltd as an executive
director (private client sales department — Hong Kong & Taiwan)
from 1995 to 2001. From 2001 to 2007, he worked as a chief
executive officer (global wealth management, private banking,
Asia Pacific) at Barclays Bank Plc. From 2007 to 2009, he re-
joined CITIBANK N.A. as an investment and product head
(global wealth management, Asia Pacific). He then jointed EFG
International Group as a deputy chief executive officer (EFG
Bank, Asia Pacific) in 2009 and was subsequently promoted as
a chief executive officer (EFG Asset Management, Asia Pacific)
before he left the group in 2013. From 2014 to 2015, he joined
Julius Baer as a managing director and country head (China and
Hong Kong).

Mr. Sze has been admitted as a fellow of CPA Australia since
January 2007 and was licensed as a responsible officer for
conducting type 9 regulated activities by the Securities and
Futures Commission of Hong Kong since September 2017.

In May 1980, Mr. Sze received the Bachelor of Business Studies
from Swinburne University (formerly known as Swinburne
College of Technology), Australia. In August 2007, he obtained
a Master’s Degree in Business from University of Newcastle,
Australia.
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Save as disclosed above, each of our Directors had not held
any directorship in the last three years in any public company
the securities of which is listed on any securities market in Hong
Kong or overseas.

Save as disclosed above, each of our Directors confirms with
respect to him that: (a) he did not hold other positions in our
Company or other members of our Group as at the Reporting
Date; (b) he did not have any relationship with any other
Directors, senior management, substantial shareholder or
controlling shareholder of our Company as at the Reporting
Date; (c) he does not have any interests in our Shares within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO, save as disclosed in the
paragraph headed “Report of the Directors — Disclosure of
Interests” in this annual report; (d) he does not have any interest
in any business which competes or is likely to compete, directly
or indirectly, with us, which is discloseable under the Listing
Rules; and (e) to the best of the knowledge, information and
belief of our Directors having made all reasonable enquiries,
there was no additional information relating to our Directors or
senior management that is required to be disclosed pursuant
to Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules and no other matter with
respect to their appointments that needs to be brought to the
attention of our Shareholders as at the 31 March 2022.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wu Wing Lun Allan (“Mr. Wu"), aged 44, is the project
manager of Wecon Limited and a member of the senior
management of our Group. He joined our Group in November
2007 and is mainly responsible for the management and
administration of different projects in our Group.

Mr. Wu has over 21 years of experience in civil engineering,
building and construction industry. Prior to joining our Group,
Mr. Wu mainly worked as structural engineer and project
manager in various structural consulting firms and construction
contractors in Hong Kong, where he commenced his career
in the engineering and construction industry. From 2000 to
2001, Mr. Wu worked in Shun Shing Construction Co. Ltd. as
an assistant site engineer. From 2001 to 2004, Mr. Wu worked
in Canwest Consultants (International) Ltd. as an engineer; and
from 2004 to 2007, Mr. Wu worked in Realfit Engineering Ltd.
as an assistant project manager and was mainly responsible for
assisting the project manager in monitoring project operations,
planning and site coordinating work.

Mr. Wu obtained a Bachelor of Engineering from McMaster
University Canada in November 2000 and a Certificate of
Engineering Graduate Training Scheme from Vocational
Training Council of Hong Kong in January 2003. Mr. Wu has also
obtained a Master’s Degree in Civil Infrastructure Engineering
and Management from The Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology in November 2004. In November 2014, Mr.
Wu was admitted as the Authorised Signatory by the Register
of General Building Contractors in Buildings Department. In
September 2015, Mr. Wu was admitted as a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Construction Managers. Mr. Wu has also
obtained a Certificate of Building Environmental Assessment
Method Professional (New Buildings) from Hong Kong Green
Building Council in May 2017.
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Mr. Ho Chi Ming, Wilson (“Mr. Ho"), aged 60, is the Assistant
General Manager of Wecon Limited and a member of the senior
management of our Group. He joined our Group in March 2017
and is mainly responsible for management and administration of
different projects in our Group.

Mr. Ho has over 37 years of experience in buildings and
construction industry. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Ho mainly
worked as project manager in various construction companies
in Hong Kong, where he started his career in the construction
industry. From 1984 to 1987, Mr. Ho worked in Yeu Shing
Construction Co., Ltd. as a site agent. From 1987 to 1994, Mr.
Ho worked in Yau Lee Construction Co., Ltd as a site agent/
senior quantity surveyor. From 1994 to 1996, Mr. Ho worked
in Hoi Sing Construction Co., Ltd as senior project manager.
From 1996 to 1997, Mr. Ho worked in Wan Chung Construction
Co., Ltd as a senior project manager. From 1997 to 2000, Mr.
Ho worked in Dynasty Building Ltd. as a manager. From 2000
to 2002, Mr. Ho worked in Gammon Skanska Ltd. as a site
agent and from 2002 to February 2017, Mr. Ho worked in Able
Engineering Co., Ltd as a project manager.

In September 2005, Mr. Ho obtained a Bachelor Degree of
Applied Science in Construction Management and Economics
from Curtin University of Technology.

In August 2005, Mr. Ho was also admitted as a member of
The Chartered Institute of Building. Mr. Ho was admitted as
Chartered Construction Manager by The Chartered Institute of
Building in September 2014.
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Mr. Yee Fei Hung (“Mr. Yee"), aged 43, is the Quality Manager
of Wecon Limited and a member of the senior management of
our Group. He joined our Group in January 2011 and is mainly
responsible for quality assurance and management of our
Group.

Mr. Yee has over 20 years of experience in engineering,
buildings and construction industry. Prior to joining our Group,
Mr. Yee mainly worked as site supervisor in various construction
companies in Hong Kong, where he started his career in the
construction industry. From 2001 to 2008, Mr. Yee worked in
Hsin Chong Construction Group Limited as an assistant site
supervisor. From 2008 to 2009, Mr. Yee worked in B.S.C. Interior
Contract and Engineering Co. Limited as a site supervisor
and from 2009 to 2010, Mr. Yee worked in Shui On Building
Contractors Limited as a site agent.

Mr. Yee obtained a Higher Certificate in Building Studies from
Hong Kong Institute of Vocational Education in July 2005. In
May 2015, Mr. Yee also obtained a Bachelor of Science (Hons)
in Building Surveying from City University of Birmingham of the
United Kingdom.

Mr. Choi Ying Tung (“Mr. Choi"), aged 47, is the safety and
environmental manager of Wecon Limited and a member of
the senior management of our Group. He joined our Group
in August 2007 and is mainly responsible for safety and
environmental management of our Group.

Mr. Choi has over 24 years of experience in civil engineering,
buildings and construction industry. Prior to joining our Group,
Mr. Choi mainly worked as safety officer in various construction
companies in Hong Kong, where he started his career in the
construction industry. From 1997 to 1999, Mr. Choi worked in
Far East Consulting Engineers Ltd. as an assistant engineer.
From 1999 to 2001, Mr. Choi worked in Chevalier (Construction)
Company Ltd as a technical assistant. From 2001 to 2004, Mr.
Choi worked in Hip Hing Construction Co., Ltd as a safety
officer; and from November 2004 to August 2007, Mr. Choi
worked in Union Glory E&M Engineering Ltd. as a project
engineer and safety officer.
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Mr. Choi obtained certificate in Hong Kong Advanced Level
Examination in 1995 and a Higher Diploma in Building
Services Engineering from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in 1997. In November 2001, Mr. Choi obtained Post-
experience Certificate in Industrial Safety from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. Mr. Choi also obtained a Certificate
for the completion of the training in Location of Underground
Electricity Cables from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
July 2004. In February 2005, Mr. Choi completed Safety Auditor
Training Schemes provided by The Hong Kong Productivity
Council and James Safety Consultant Limited. In 2008, Mr.
Choi obtained a Bachelor Degree in Engineering Mechanics,
Materials and Design from the Hong Kong Open University. In
August 2012, Mr. Choi obtained the Professional Certificate in
Environmental Management for Construction (Environmental
officer) from Vacation Training Council.

In March 2011, Mr. Choi was admitted as Registered Electrical
Worker (permitted work: BO and HO categories) by Electrical
and Mechanical Services Department. Mr. Choi was admitted as
Registered Safety Officer and Registered Safety Auditor by the
Labour Department in August 2002. In August 2012 and January
2009 respectively, Mr. Choi was awarded the Professional
Certificate in Environmental Management of Construction
(Environmental Officer) by the Vocation Training Centre. Mr.
Choi was awarded a certificate of Building Environmental
Assessment Method Professional (New Buildings) since
November 2017 by The Hong Kong Green Building Council.
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Ms. Hui Pik Yuet (“Ms. Hui"), aged 49, is the Head of human
resources and administration of Wecon Limited and a member
of the senior management of our Group. She joined our Group
in January 2015 and is mainly responsible for administrative and
human resources matters of our Group.

Ms. Hui has over 24 years of experience in business
administration, human resources and company secretarial
matters. Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Hui mainly worked as
human resources officer and manager in various companies
in Hong Kong, where she started her career in the human
resources and administration industry. From 1998 to 1999, Ms.
Hui worked in Pruton Prudential Hotel as personnel and training
assistant. From 1999 to 2002, Ms. Hui worked in China Harbour
Engineering Company (Group) Limited as a human resources
officer. From 2002 to 2003, Ms. Hui worked in WorldCard (Hong
Kong) Limited as administration and marketing executive; from
2003 to 2005, Ms. Hui worked in Fountain Set (Holdings) Limited
as a human resources officer; and from June 2005 to April
2008, Ms. Hui worked in China Resources Insurance Consultants
Limited as human resources and administration manager;
from April 2008 to December 2014, Ms. Hui was subsequently
transferred to China Resources Investment Enterprise Ltd. as
human resources and administration manager and was then
worked to the personnel and administration department in CRE
Properties (Hong Kong) Ltd. and China Resources Insurance
Consultants Limited as human resources and administration
manager and was mainly responsible for human resources and
administrative matter.

Ms. Hui obtained a Bachelor Degree in Bachelor of Arts from
The Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 1997. Ms.
Hui also obtained a Diploma in Management Studies from
Lingnan University/The Hong Kong Management Association in
September 2001.
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Ms. Lee Ching Ha (“Ms. Lee"”), aged 33, is the financial
controller of Wecon Limited and a member of the senior
management of our Company. She joined our Group in April
2021 as financial controller and is primarily responsible for
financial management and compliance assurance of our Group.

Ms. Lee has over 11 years’ accounting, auditing and financing
experience and is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since October 2013. Ms. Lee
obtained a Bachelor of Business Administration in Accounting
and Finance degree from the University of Hong Kong in
November 2010. Prior to joining the Group, she had worked in
an international accounting firm and was the head of finance
department in a company providing building construction and
civil engineering services in Hong Kong.

Save as disclosed above, each member of the senior
management of our Group had not held any directorship in
the last three years in other public companies, the securities
of which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or

overseas.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEHE

The Board is pleased to present their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The Group is a long established main contractor in Hong Kong
principally engaged in the provision of (i) building construction
services and (i) RMAA in Hong Kong. Details of the principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as required pursuant
to Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) including the description of the principal
risks and uncertainties facing the Group is set out in the section
of “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion
and Analysis” on pages 4 to 16 of this annual report. These
discussions form part of Directors’ report. Moreover, the details
of the financial risk management of the Group are disclosed in
note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's profit for the year ended 31 March 2022 and the
Group's financial position as at that date are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 141 to 143 of this
annual report.

The Directors recommended a final dividend of HK1.2 cents per
Share (2021: HK1.2 cents per Share), which amounts to a total
of HK$9.6 million (2021: HK$9.6 million) in respect of the year
ended 31 March 2022, to shareholders whose names appear
on the register of members at the close of business on Friday,
26 August 2022. The proposed final dividend is subject to the
approval of the Shareholders at the 2022 AGM scheduled to be
held on Friday, 19 August 2022.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group's five largest
customers in aggregate accounted for approximately 83.0%
(2021: approximately 84.3%) of the total revenue of the
Group and the largest customer of the Group accounted for
approximately 30.0% (2021: approximately 62.0%) of the total
revenue.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group's five largest
subcontractors in aggregate accounted for approximately
23.9% (2021: approximately 36.6%) of the total subcontracting
cost of the Group and the largest subcontractor of the Group
accounted for approximately 7.6% (2021: approximately 14.4%)
of the total subcontracting cost.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group's five largest
suppliers in aggregate accounted for approximately 57.2% (2021:
approximately 55.2%) of the total purchases of construction
materials of the Group and the largest supplier of the Group
accounted for approximately 17.2% (2021: approximately 18.6%)
of the total purchases of construction materials.

None of the Directors, or any of their close associates (as
defined under the Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which,
to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of
the Company's issued Shares) has any beneficial interest in the
Group's five largest customers or suppliers or subcontractors.

RELATIONSHIP WITH CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS,
SUBCONTRACTORS AND EMPLOYEES

Customers

The Group maintains active relationship with our customers
to explore potential business opportunities and is highly
committed to delivering quality services to our customers on
time.

Subcontractors and Suppliers

The Group maintains a list of approved subcontractors (based
on their previous experience, skills, present work load, price
quotations and historical work quality) and suppliers (based on
their prices, quality, past performance and capacity).
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Employees

The Group recognised employees as valuable assets of the
Group. The Group intends to provide competitive remuneration,
attractive welfare benefits and continuous professional training
to attract and retain appropriate and suitable personnel to serve
the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, there was no material
dispute or disagreement between the Group and its customers,
subcontractors, suppliers and employees.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 236
of this annual report. This summary does not form part of the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements and the risks of non-compliance with
the applicable laws and regulations. During the year ended 31
March 2022 and up to the date of this annual report, the Group
in all material aspects has complied with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group and there was no material breach or
non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the
Group.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

Charitable contributions made by the Group during the year
ended 31 March 2022 amounted to approximately HK$109,000
(2021: approximately HK$143,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements of the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2022 AGM of the Company is scheduled to be held on
Friday, 19 August 2022. A notice convening the 2022 AGM will
be issued and despatched to the Shareholders according to the
applicable law, the Articles and the Listing Rules.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

To ascertain the identity of the Shareholders who will be
entitled to attend and vote at the 2022 AGM, the Register of
Members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 16
August 2022 to Friday, 19 August 2022, both dates inclusive,
the period during which no transfer of Shares will be effected.
In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the 2022 AGM,
all completed share transfer documents accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company's
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services
Limited at its office at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen'’s
Road East, Hong Kong (on or before 14 August 2022) or at 17/F,
Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong (on or
after 15 August 2022) for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Monday, 15 August 2022.

Subject to the Shareholders’ approval at the 2022 AGM, to
ascertain the Shareholders’ entitlement to receiving the final
dividend, the Register of Members of the Company will be
closed from Thursday, 25 August 2022 to Friday, 26 August
2022, the period during which no transfer of Shares will be
effected. Subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the
2022 AGM approving the payment of the final dividend, the
final dividend is expected to be paid on Monday, 19 September
2022. In order to qualify for receiving the final dividend, all
completed share transfer documents accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company'’s
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services
Limited at the above address not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Wednesday, 24 August 2022.
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SHARE CAPITAL

There is no movement in the Company’s authorised share
capital and issued share capital during the year. Details of the
share capital of the Company are set out in note 23 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and
the Group during the year ended 31 March 2022 are set out
in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements and in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2022, in the opinion of the Directors, the
reserves of the Company available for distribution to
shareholders under the Companies Act (as revised) of the
Cayman Islands amounted to approximately HK$48.1 million
(2021: approximately HK$59.5 million).

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) which was approved and adopted by the sole
shareholder of the Company by way of written resolutions
passed on 21 January 2019. No share option has been granted,
exercised, expired, cancelled or lapsed under the Share Option
Scheme since its adoption date and up to the date of this
annual report.

Summary of terms of the Share Option Scheme

(a) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable
the Group to grant options to the eligible participants as
incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group
and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-
calibre employees and attract human resources that are
valuable to the Group or any entity in which any member of
the Group holds any equity interest (the “Invested Entity”).
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(b)

54

Who may join

Our Directors shall, in accordance with the provisions of the
Share Option Scheme and the Listing Rules, be entitled but
shall not be bound at any time within a period of 10 years

commencing from the date of the adoption of the Share

Option Scheme to make an offer to any person belonging

to the following classes:

(i

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vii)

any employee (whether full time or part time, including
our Directors (including any non-executive Director
and independent non-executive Director)), any of
our subsidiaries (within the meaning of Companies
Ordinance) or any Invested Entity (an “eligible
employee”);

any supplier of goods or services to any member of
the Group or any Invested Entity;

any customer of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity;

any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any shareholder of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued
by any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any adviser (professional or otherwise), consultant,
individual or entity who in the opinion of our Directors
has contributed or will contribute to the growth and
development of the Group; and

any other groups or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement to the
development and growth of the Group,
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and, for the purpose of the Share Option Scheme, the offer
for the grant of an option may be made to any company
wholly-owned by one or more eligible participants.

For the avoidance of doubt, the grant of any options by the
Company for the subscription of Shares or other securities
of the Group to any person who falls within any of the
above classes of eligible participants shall not, by itself,
unless our Directors otherwise determine, be construed as
a grant of option under the Share Option Scheme.

The eligibility of any of the eligible participants to an offer
under the Share Option Scheme shall be determined by our
Directors from time to time on the basis of our Directors’
opinion as to such eligible participant’s contribution to the
development and growth of the Group.

Maximum number of Shares

(i)  The maximum number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and
yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option schemes adopted by the
Group shall not exceed 30% of the share capital of the
Company in issue from time to time. No options may
be granted under the Share Option Scheme or any
other share option schemes adopted by the Group if
the grant of such options will result in the limit referred
herein being exceeded.

(i) The total number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options (excluding, for this purpose,
options which have lapsed in accordance with the
terms of the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Group) to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Group shall not in aggregate exceed
10% of the share capital of the Company in issue
as at the date on which dealings in the Shares first
commence on the Stock Exchange, being 80,000,000
Shares (“General Scheme Limit").
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(iii)

(iv)

Subject to (i) above and without prejudice to (iv) below,
the Company may seek approval of our Shareholders
in general meeting to refresh the General Scheme
Limit provided that the total number of Shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Group shall not
exceed 10% of the share capital of the Company in
issue as at the date of approval of the limit and for
the purpose of calculating the limit, options (including
those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed or exercised in
accordance with the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Group) previously
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Group will not be
counted.

Subject to (i) above and without prejudice to (iii)
above, the Company may seek separate Shareholders’
approval in general meeting to grant options under
the Share Option Scheme beyond the General Scheme
Limit or, if applicable, the extended limit referred to in
(iii) above to eligible participants specifically identified
by the Company before such approval is sought.

Maximum entitlement of each eligible participant

Subject to (e) below, the total number of Shares issued

and which may fall to be issued upon exercise of the

options granted under the Share Option Scheme and

any other share option schemes of the Group (including

both exercised or outstanding options) to each eligible

participant who accepts the offer for the grant of an option

under the Share Option Scheme (a “grantee”) in any

12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share

capital of the Company for the time being.
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Where any further grant of options under the Share Option
Scheme to a grantee would result in the Shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all options granted
and proposed to be granted to such person (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
of the Group in the 12-month period up to and including
the date of such further grant representing in aggregate
over 1% of the share capital of the Company in issue,
such further grant shall be separately approved by our
Shareholders in general meeting with such grantee and
his close associates (or his associates if the participant is a
connected person) abstaining from voting.

Grant of options to core connected persons

(i)  Without prejudice to (ii) below, the making of an offer
under the Share Option Scheme to any Director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the Company,
or any of their respective associates shall be approved
by our independent non-executive Directors (excluding
any independent non-executive Director who is the
proposed grantee of an option under the Share Option
Scheme).

(i) Without prejudice to (i) above, where any grant
of options under the Share Option Scheme to a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-
executive Director or any of their respective associates,
would result in the Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options under the Share Option
Scheme already granted and to be granted (including
options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such
person in the 12-month period up to and including the
date of such grant:

(a) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the share
capital of the Company in issue; and

(b) having an aggregate value, based on the closing
price of the Shares at the offer date of each offer,
in excess of HK$5 million;
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such further grant of options shall be approved by our
Shareholders in general meeting. The proposed grantee,
his associates and all core connected persons of the
Company shall abstain from voting in favour at such general
meeting.

For the purpose of seeking the approval of our
Shareholders under paragraphs (c), (d) and (e) above,
the Company shall send a circular to our Shareholders
containing the information required under the Listing Rules
and where the Listing Rules shall so require, the vote at the
Shareholders’ meeting convened to obtain the requisite
approval shall be taken on a poll with those persons
required under the Listing Rules abstaining from voting.

Time of acceptance and exercise of an option

An offer under the Share Option Scheme shall remain open
for acceptance by the eligible participant concerned (and
by no other person) for a period of up to 21 days from the
date, which shall be a business day, on which the offer is
made to the eligible participant.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to
be determined and notified by our Directors to the grantee
thereof, and in the absence of such determination, from
the date of acceptance of the offer of such option to the
earlier of (i) the date on which such option lapses under the
relevant provisions of the Share Option Scheme; and (ii) the
date falling 10 years from the offer date of that option.

An offer shall have been accepted by an eligible participant
in respect of all Shares which are offered to such eligible
participant when the duplicate letter comprising acceptance
of the offer duly signed by the eligible participant together
with a remittance in favour of the Company of HK$1.00 by
way of consideration for the grant thereof is received by the
Company within such time as may be specified in the offer
(which shall not be later than 21 days from the offer date).
Such remittance shall in no circumstances be refundable.
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Any offer may be accepted by an eligible participant
in respect of less than the number of Shares which are
offered provided that it is accepted in respect of a board
lot for dealings in the Shares on Main Board or an integral
multiple thereof and such number is clearly stated in the
duplicate letter comprising acceptance of the offer duly
signed by such eligible participant and received by the
Company together with a remittance in favour of the
Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant
thereof within such time as may be specified in the offer
(which shall not be later than 21 days from the offer date).
Such remittance shall in no circumstances be refundable.

Subscription price for Shares

The subscription price in respect of any option shall,
subject to the adjustments, be at the discretion of our
Directors, provided that it shall not be less than the highest
of:

(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheet for trade in one or
more board lots of the Shares on the offer date;

(i) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the offer date;
and

(iii) the nominal value of a Share.

Period of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period
of 10 years commencing on the date on which the Share
Option Scheme is adopted, namely 20 January 2029.

SHARE AWARD PLAN

The Board adopted a share award plan (the “Share Award
Plan”) on 31 July 2020 (the “"Adoption Date"”), under which
any employee of the Group and the Invested Entities who

contributes to the Group or the Invested Entities (the “Eligible

Participants”) will be entitled to participate. The purposes of
the Share Award Plan are:
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to recognise and reward the contribution of the Eligible
Participants to the growth and development of the Group;

ii. to give incentives to the Eligible Participants in order to
retain them for the continual operation and development
of the Group; and

iii. to attract suitable personnel for further development of
the Group.

The Group has set up a trust (the “Share Award Plan Trust”)
for the purpose of administrating the Share Award Plan. The
Share Award Plan Trust will acquire the Shares from the Stock
Exchange, with a maximum amount of funds allocated by the
Board, and will hold such Shares until they are vested. Unless
early terminated by the Board, the Share Award Plan shall be
valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing from
the Adoption Date.

Under the rules constituting the Share Award Plan, the
maximum number of Shares which can be subscribed for and/
or purchased under the Share Award Plan shall not exceed
10% of the total number of issued Shares as at the Adoption
Date (i.e. 80,000,000 Shares). The maximum number of Shares
which may be awarded to an Eligible Participant shall not in
aggregate exceed 1% of the issued Shares of the Company as
at the Adoption Date. The Board may from time to time, at its
discretion, determine the vesting date(s), any condition(s) or
performance target(s) when granting the share award to the
Eligible Participants.

On 23 December 2020, the Company allocated HK$1,000,000
to the Share Award Plan Trust, and approximately HK$996,000
was utilised to purchase 5,304,000 Shares. Up to the date of this
annual report, these 5,304,000 Shares are held by the trustee for
the benefit of the Eligible Participants under the Share Awards
Plan Trust. No share award has been granted or vested under
the Share Award Plan since its Adoption Date and up to 31
March 2022.

For further details of the Share Award Plan, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 31 July 2020.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
Directors’ Interest in the Company and Associated Corporation

As at 31 March 2022, interests or short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying
Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the "SFO") which were required (i) to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO), or (ii) pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein,
or (iii) pursuant to Model Code contained in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange, were as follows:

(i) Long position in ordinary shares of the Company
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Number of Approximate

Shares held percentage of

Name of Director Capacity/Nature (Long position) shareholding

FrisiRtr R R RERE A

E=E8 gt HHE (#R) B

Mr. Tsang Ka Yip (“Mr. KY Tsang”) Interest in a controlled corporation 600,000,000 75%
BRELAE(TERELLE]) (Note)

Syt A E S (M)

Note: These Shares are held by Triple Arch Limited (“Triple Arch”). Triple Arch is 100%
beneficially owned by Mr. KY Tsang and therefore, Mr. KY Tsang is deemed to
be interested in the same number of Shares held by Triple Arch under the SFO.

(ii) Long position in ordinary shares of associated corporation

Name of

Name of Director associated corporation Capacity/Nature

MisE « D Triple Arch Limited ([Triple Archl)
A ° Triple Archp & 55 5T £ 7 2 4 5 100% 1
AR EESFRBRED - DRELERIR

3%
j
m
B Triple ArchfTHs 1A B B A5 o 1 6 A 56 -

(i) RAEEEE NS ERTA

Number of Approximate

shares held percentage of
in associated shareholding
corporation in associated

(Long position) corporation

RAEHEEE i M B S B Y
RO E IR A
ExEH TREEE B 5%, HE (5FR&) ERa4
Mr. KY Tsang Triple Arch Beneficial owner 1 100%
BRIEESLE Triple Arch EnfEAA
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in Shares in the Company other
than Director and Chief Executives

BREERESTHRABUNIEEZERRREL
Il &L £

Approximate

Number of percentage of
Shares held interest in
Name Nature of interest (Long position) the Company
RO 2B EAD B ER
=L EHEEE (FR) MAOB D
Triple Arch Beneficial owner (Note 1) 600,000,000 75%
Triple Arch BEwmma A
Ms. Lai Yuk Lin, Eliza Interest of spouse (Note 2) 600,000,000 75%
("Ms. Lai")
REExt((RLt]) fo Bt (fat2)
Notes: BisE :

1. Triple Arch is 100% beneficially owned by Mr. KY Tsang and therefore, Mr. KY Tsang is
deemed to be interested in the same number of Shares held by Triple Arch under the
SFO.

2. Ms. Lai is the spouse of Mr. KY Tsang. Therefore, Ms. Lai is deemed to be interested in

the same number of Shares in which Mr. KY Tsang is interested for the purpose of the
SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, no person,
other than the Directors, whose interests are set out in the
section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interest in the
Company and Associated Corporation” above, had registered
an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares
of the Company that was required to be recorded pursuant to
section 336 of the SFO.

COMPLIANCE OF NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

The controlling shareholders, Mr. Tsang Ka Yip and Triple
Arch Limited (collectively, the “Controlling Shareholders”)
had entered into the deed of non-competition in favour of
the Company on 21 January 2019 (the “Non-competition
Undertaking”). Details of the Non-competition Undertaking are
set out in the section headed “Relationship with Controlling
Shareholders” in the Prospectus. The Controlling Shareholders
had confirmed the state of compliance of the Non-competition
Undertaking and the independent non-executive Directors have
reviewed that state of compliance of each of the controlling
shareholder under the Non-competition Undertaking and as far
as the independent non-executive Directors can ascertain, there
has been no breach of the Non-competition Undertaking by the
controlling shareholder during the year ended 31 March 2022.
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year ended 31 March
2022 and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Tsang Ka Yip (Chairman and CEO)
Mr. Tsang Tsz Him Philip
Mr. Tsang Tsz Kit Jerry

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Dr. Lau Chi Keung
Mr. Chan Tim Yiu Raymond
Mr. Sze Kwok Wing Nigel

Pursuant to Article 84 of the Articles, at each annual general
meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire
from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
Such retiring Directors may, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the annual general meeting. As such, Mr. Tsang
Tsz Kit Jerry as an executive Director and Mr. Chan Tim Yiu
Raymond as an independent non-executive Director, will retire
by rotation and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
election at the 2022 AGM.

The Company has received, from each of the INEDs, an annual
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company considered all of its INEDs to be
independent in accordance with the independence criteria as
set out under the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 March 2022 and up to the date of this
annual report, none of the Directors or their close associates (as
defined under the Listing Rules) has any interest in a business
which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no contracts
of significance in relation to the business of the Group to which
the Company, its holding Company, or any of its subsidiaries
was a party and in which a Director of the Company or his
connected entities had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted as at 31 March 2022 or at any time during
the year ended 31 March 2022.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
2022 AGM has a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest
paid individuals of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2022 are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The remuneration of the Directors was reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee and was determined according to the
qualifications, experience, skills, education background as well
as the contributions which the Director may bring to the Board,
with reference to the prevailing market remuneration level
offered by companies having similar business and size to the
Company, in order to retain and attract high-calibre executives
as the Directors of the Company. The Directors and members of
the senior management may also receive options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and the share award to be
granted under the Share Award Plan.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of Directors and senior management
of the Company are set out in the section of “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 35 to
48 of this annual report.
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Other than operating a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, the
Group has not operated any other retirement benefit schemes
for its employees.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “"MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
those employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group's employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The total retirement benefit scheme contributions made by the
Group amounted to approximately HK$3.9 million for the year
ended 31 March 2022 (2021: approximately HK$3.7 million).

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year ended 31 March 2022.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

No connected transactions were entered into by the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2022.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The significant related party transactions were entered into by
the Group during the year ended 31 March 2022 set out in note
29 to the consolidated financial statements. None of the related
party transaction would constitute a connected transaction or a
continuing connected transaction under the Listing Rules.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

RIKEFETE

BrRIERTR & AT Bl RDI 2 E R ia e AT &5 -
AERE I R B R EARIKERETE o

AEBEREARGELBESFTEEIAEER
SEFRETCRGIEREERRBAE S
((BREFEHDNEELERESAE -
HRNREEEAFEREBOLAE - 1
RIFRE T ERDIZA T N B BT
o BB cEENBYBEZEST
AEAKEEESFFA - NEBERIHK
RER Bt EIRRR = BERES

HE2022F3A31HIEFE - AEBRRK
BRI BB OAEBT(20214 -
#37EEBIL) °

BEEH

B 220223 A3H L5 E - BT
EEMEAKERST 2R EMERIED
BRZERRITHARN °

BERXZ

BE2022F3A31B LS E - AEBEWEFT
MAEFREERS

BELXRS

REERBE20223A31B IEFEANRIZ
ZERBETRZFENEEMBRERWE
29 - BIEBET X HEK LT AR AIA T HREE

BTERERAT  F2021/2022 65



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing
Shareholders.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save for the Share Option Scheme and Share Award Plan, no
equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2022.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Shares during the year ended 31
March 2022.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained the prescribed public float of at least 25% of the
issued shares of the Company under the Listing Rules during
the year ended 31 March 2022 and up to the date of this annual
report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles provides that every Director is entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets and profits of the Company from
and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the
execution of duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation
thereto provided that to the extend permitted by the law such
indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of fraud or
dishonestly which may attach to the Director.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company has
arranged appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ and officers’
liabilities in respect of potential legal actions against the
Directors and officers arising out of corporate activities.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the corporate governance practices adopted by
the Company are set out in the section headed "Corporate
Governance Report” on pages 17 to 34 of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Environmental policies and performance adopted by the Group
are more particularly set out in the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” on pages 68 to 131 of this annual report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There have been no significant events occurred after 31 March
2022 and up to the date to this annual report which requires
disclosure.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young will retire at the 2022 AGM as the auditor of
the Company and a resolution for their reappointment as the
auditor of the Company will be proposed at the 2022 AGM.

REVIEW BY AUDIT COMMITTEE

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2022 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee.

On behalf of the Board

Wecon Holdings Limited

Mr. Tsang Ka Yip

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 24 June 2022
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RIE - HERESHWE

BOARD STATEMENT

The Group recognises that sustainability is increasingly
important for business as the world today faces challenging
issues, including but not limited to climate change, shortage
of natural resources and undermining of human rights.
Expectations for the Group to take the initiative on sustainability
become more demanding.

To achieve and maintain the highest standards in all aspects of
our business activities, the Group has set clear short-term and
long-term sustainable development vision and goals to achieve
ongoing emission reduction programs according to government
requirements. We understand that it is our responsibility for
evaluating and determining the Group’s Environmental Social
Governance ("ESG")-related risks, and ensuring that appropriate
and effective ESG risk management and internal control systems
are in place. It makes sense, therefore, that a strong ESG
motion can create value.

We have also approved and overseen the selection and
identification of material ESG topics by the management.
The Board regularly monitors and reviews the effectiveness of
management, including reviewing the Group’s ESG performance
and adjusting corresponding action plans. To highlight some
of our ESG management that are currently in place, in terms of
environmental aspect, we have included the energy efficiency
which our company takes and the waste we generated and our
handling methods, the resources we consumed, and air and
carbon emissions generated by us as well as introducing the
risks and opportunities that climate change might affect on our
business. In terms of social aspect, we addressed disclosures
on areas including but not limited to gender, diversity, labour
relations, discrimination, health and safety, training and
development, supply chain management, product responsibility,
anti-corruption and community investment.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

On the other hand, it is vitally important on how the Group
would adapt all relevant laws and regulations in order to govern
itself and make effective decisions in order to comply with such
laws and regulations, as well as fulfilling the expectations of the
external stakeholders. We believe that our engagement in ESG
will be highly beneficial to the strategic development on ESG
and sustainability policies which help create a better future.

ABOUT THIS REPORT

The Company is delighted to publish the fourth Environmental,
Social and Governance Report (the “"Report”) to summarise
the Group's policies, measures and performance on the key
ESG issues in accordance with Rule 13.91 of the Listing Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
and Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules.

Reporting Period

The Report illustrates the overall performance of the Group
regarding the environmental and social aspects from 1 April
2021 to 31 March 2022 (the “reporting period” or “2021/2022").

Reporting Scope and Boundary

The Report discloses related policies and initiatives for the core
and material businesses of the Company, namely provision of
(i) building construction services; and (ii) repair, maintenance,
alteration and addition (“RMAA") works services in Hong Kong.
There is no significant change in the scope and boundaries of
this Report from that of the ESG report for the year ended 31
March 2021 (“2020/2021").

The Report discloses environmental key performance indicators
("KPIs") and social KPIs of the corporate office ("office”) and
the representative projects (“project sites”). While the Report
does not cover all of the Group's operations, the Group aims
to upgrade its internal data collection procedure and gradually
expand the scope of the disclosure. The reporting scope covers
approximately 90% of the Group’s total revenue of 2021/2022.
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Reporting Basis and Principles

The Report is prepared in accordance with the ESG Reporting
Guide (the "ESG Guide”) as set out in Appendix 27 to the
Listing Rules and on the basis of the four reporting principles —
materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency:

e "Materiality” Principle:
The Group determines material ESG issues by stakeholder
engagement and materiality assessment.

e "Quantitative” Principle:
Information is presented with quantitative measure,
whenever feasible, including information on the standards,
methodologies, assumptions used and provision of

comparative data.

e  "Balance” Principle:
The Report identifies the achievements and challenges
faced by the Group.

e “Consistency” Principle:
The Report uses consistent methodologies for meaningful
comparisons unless improvements in methodology are
identified.

The Report has complied with all
and disclosures outlined in the ESG Guide.

“comply or explain” provisions

The information contained herein is sourced from internal
documents and statistics of the Group, as well as the combined
control, management and operations information provided
by the subsidiaries in accordance with the Group's internal
management systems. A complete content index is appended
to the last section of this Report for easy reference. The Report
is prepared and published in both Chinese and English at
the Stock Exchange’s website (www.hkexnews.hk) and the
Company’'s website (www.wecon.com.hk). In the event of
contradiction or inconsistency between the Chinese version and

the English version, the English version shall prevail.
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Review and Approval

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for ensuring the
accuracy and completeness of the ESG Report and to the best
of its knowledge, the ESG Report has addressed all relevant
material issues and has fairly presented the ESG performance of
the Group for 2021/2022.

The Report was reviewed and approved by the Board on 24
June 2022.

Feedback

Should you have any opinions or suggestions on the
ESG Report, please feel free to liaise with the Group at
irwecon@wecon.com.hk.

ABOUT THE GROUP

Founded in 1974, Wecon Limited (“WL"), one of the principal
operating subsidiaries of the Group, started to engage in the
building and construction industry in 1984. In response to the
business needs and future development, Wecon Construction &
Engineering Limited (“WCE"), another principal subsidiary of the
Group, was established in 1990 to undertake the superstructure
projects in the private sector.

For the past decades, the Group has involved and completed
a variety of projects in the provision of (i) building construction
services; and (ii) RMAA works services in both private and
public sectors. Our building construction services primarily
consist of building works for new buildings, including
residential, commercial and industrial buildings, while our
RMAA works services include the general upkeep, maintenance,
improvement, refurbishment, alteration and addition of existing

facilities and components of buildings and their surroundings.

The Group has established a long-term relationship with a
variety of suppliers, subcontractors, specialists and financial
institutions that we can integrate and interlink them to deliver
the best quality, timely, high technological, responsive and
valuable building and construction services to our clients.
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Awards and Recognitions

The Group's efforts have been recognised by a number of
awards during the reporting period. The details are as follows:

Organised by Hong Kong Professional Building Inspection
Academy
e Being the Main Contractor of the Quality Building of
the Year 2021 — Mayfair by the Sea 8
-  WCE

Organised by Hong Kong Professional Building Inspection
Academy
e Being the Main Contractor of the “Five Stars Residency
for the Year 2021 — Mayfair by the Sea 8"
-  WCE

Organised by The Hong Kong Institute of Building
Information Modelling
e Gold Award - Reprovisioning of Fu Shan Public
Mortuary at Sha Tin;
-  RH Studio Limited

e Merit Award — Construction of Departmental Quarters
for Customs and Excise Department at No. 57 Sheung
Fung Street, Tsz Wan Shan
— WL, RH Studio Limited

Organised by Hong Kong Housing Authority

e Silver Award — Outstanding Contractors (Maintenance
& Improvement Project) — District Term Contracts
- WL

Organised by Link Asset Management Limited
e  Silver Award
- WL

7?2 WECON HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2021/2022

X R >ha

I Ed
i&

_u;
A

f

I:l

‘ED"

C AREBEREZERR - BOE
ﬁ\mT-

HEBEEREEE T

o EB2NFEBEFERE-REE
2 AR
- BIREERAQR

HEBEEGREEE LTI

s RINFERENRE. —REEHE
8z s
- BEIREBRR

HEBEEZEREEETH

o HR-VHELUARREEEIRE

—  RH Studio Limited

s EERK-BILNERGE/RAES
BABEESRETLR
- EIABMR2PAE - RH Studio
Limited

HEBEEZSELTH

o RE-REMLELNEERE —FL
AEB-DRERELD
- REIBRAQF]

HEREEEEBRA AEH
o IRHE
- BIARAA
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ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Board endeavours to support the Group's commitment
to fulfilling its environmental and social responsibility and
has the overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG strategy
and reporting. The Board is responsible for evaluating and
determining the Group's ESG-related risks, and ensuring that
appropriate and effective ESG risk management and internal
control systems are in place.

The Board has delegated the day-to-day responsibility of the
implementation to the ESG Working Group (the “"Working
Group”). The Working Group comprises senior management
and core members from different departments of the Group
and is responsible for facilitating the adoption of ESG strategies
and policies throughout the Group. The Working Group reports
to the Board on the implementation of ESG initiatives and the
corresponding performance.

The Board regularly reviews the Group's ESG performance as
well as examines and approves the Group's annual ESG report.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Stakeholders’ opinions are the solid foundation for the Group's
sustainable development and success. The stakeholder
engagement helps the Group to develop a business strategy
that meets the needs and expectations of stakeholders,
enhances the ability to identify risk and strengthens important
relationships. The Group communicates with its stakeholders
through various channels, shown as below.
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BRI HEREREE

Stakeholder Communication Channel

FHE BERE

Government and regulators e Annual reports, interim reports, ESG reports, announcements and
BN REEHE other public information

Shareholders and investors

BRRRREE

Employees

=]

Customers

=F

FI - hHRE  RR - HGRERRS AEREMARER
Supervision and inspection

EERRR

Annual general meetings and other general meetings of
shareholders

REBEFREREMBRRAS

Company website

NSIEENA

Press releases/announcements

weERme, NS

Annual reports, interim reports, ESG reports, announcements and
other public information

FI - PHRE RR HERERRS AEREMAHER

Trainings
=l
Meetings

L2
H R

Performance evaluation
FRIAE
Surveys

HBE

Fax, email and telephone
E EBRE
Meetings

eix
=]

=23
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Stakeholder Communication Channel
Suppliers/Subcontractors/Business Partners e Fax, email and telephone
g, 2BE,EEBHY BE  BELEF
® Meetings
=

e Site visits
AR 7 R

e Surveys
A

e Trainings

=

Community or Non-governmental e Participation in community programmes
Organisations (NGOs) 2Lt [R5 S
HERIFEBTEE e Donations
Bk
e ESG Reports
BRI B RERRE

Media e Enquiry Mailbox
et BRI
MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT BEEMFMG

The Group identifies issues for disclosure in the Report through NS E:E B N30 & NP E Z 14 5114 8 B A 7
internal and external materiality assessment. By considering the ERIHETRZE - KERFHE LR EE MK
dependence and influence on the Group of the stakeholders MRFEURANEBAIHANERE @ E1E
and the resources available for the Group, the management [EE#HAEERFMNEWRBZELSERMER
has identified key stakeholders and invited them as participants 3R3% « @ M E AHBZREEZ MMM SEH
of our survey regarding materiality of ESG related issues. & ° HFEEERLARMNAL - HAKE
They have expressed their opinions and recommendations on &ZEMABAIFEEREAVERELRIED
the sustainability issues related to the Group's operation by £ °

participating in our survey.
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Consolidating the results of internal assessment and the survey, AEEFZBESABFHELAEER @ HE
the Group has compiled the materiality matrix as shown below. ZEZEEE (M TFR) o G EH T REE
The issues that fall within the top right-hand quadrant have A%FHERASEEBMSEEHEAEER
relatively higher significance to both stakeholders and the H&EE - BREEZEZMHFHER  ZMIR AR
Group's businesses. Based on the materiality assessment results, M AIFEZEZEBEATSE

we believe the most pertinent sustainability issues include the

following:

Anti-corruption
training for

management and
employees
REEERESR

Rt RESE

Safety of
projects/services

HE/RERE

Customer satisfaction

EFMEE

76

Business ethics

ERER

Staff development
and training
8 TR Mg

Diversity and

equal opportunities

LR TP SRS
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Staff occupational
health and safety

BTREREFELRZE

Quality of
projects/services

HE/RBER

Anti-discrimination

[RIEAR

Employment practices

HREEIE B

Customers' privacy
and confidentiality

BEP RN ERRE

Environmental

regulation compliance

BTRDER
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The Group will continue to improve its reporting process when ERREUEBRERFEEFAEHEEEF @
there are relevant updates on methodologies of processing SEBFERSHBKEERE -

data and disclosures in future.

ﬂ Air emissions @ Employment practices @ Customer satisfaction
RIS R REEIEH EFEMEE
@ Greenhouse gas ("GHG") emissions @ Dlver5|ty and equal opportunities @ Intellectual property
BERB(RERE DR SR TSRS HBERE
e Ef‘Fluents management @ Anti-discrimination @ Safety of projects/services
ARKEE HERBLR
@ Waste management @ Staff occupational health and safety @ Quality of projects/services
BnEE BTMERELZ2 HE B
(5] Ener y efficiency @  staff development and training @  Business ethics
ERAE BTHR R % 800
O Wwater efficiency @ Prohibition of child labour and forced labour @ Anti-corruption training for management and
kB BB T RabST emplo ees
ﬁaﬁﬁ&@ﬁﬁ#&ﬁﬁﬁﬂ
@ Useof raw and ackaging materials ® Responsible supply chain management @ Contributions to the society
BHHH R R AAFARENE R Aitg
@ Environmental regulation compliance @ Environmental friendliness on products or service @ Communication and connection with local
HESFIRIBEAR purchased community
FrERBE mBRTE MR IR IE AEM&Emﬁm&W§
e Land use, pollution and restoration @ Compliance with regulations on marketing,
HEER - SRR product and service labelling
g?m%ﬁ%&ﬁmﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁm&ﬁ

Climate change Customers’ rlvacy and confidentiality
TR ERE

EVSINC IS
BIZRARAE  F#{2021/2022 7
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

The Group endeavours to minimise any adverse impact on the
environment resulting from its business activities. The Group's
subsidiaries have implemented environmental management
systems and energy management systems, which have been
certified to comply with the standards required under I1SO
14001:2015 (Environmental Management System) and ISO
50001:2018 (Energy Management System) respectively.
Furthermore, the Group also endeavours to achieve green
building certifications (such as the BEAM Plus New Buildings
issued by the Hong Kong Green Building Council and the BEAM
Society) for its projects.

The Group is committed to building a better environment and
attaches great importance to sustainability. With an eye on the
recent development of Design for Manufacture and Assembly
("DfMA") and its application in Modular Integrated Construction
("MiC") and Multi-trade Integrated Mechanical, Electrical and
Plumbing ("MIiMEP"), we are now studying on the feasibility
of partnering with other parties to expand the scope of the
construction activities with the help of Building Information
Modelling ("BIM”) technology which we are specialised in and
operating under one of our subsidiaries.

The adoption of these new methodologies is said to have the
following advantages:

Shortens construction time
* saves total project construction time by about 30% on

average;

e shortens the production period by constructing different
modules in parallel with the factory; and

e reduces impacts of adverse weather conditions on the
construction period.

Improves working environment and site safety
® protects workers against adverse weather;

e reduces risk of fall of persons from height; and
e reduces risk of slipping and tripping of site personnel.
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Enhances sustainability and environmental friendliness
e reduces dust and noise nuisance to the surrounding

environment;
o minimises construction waste; and
° improves construction waste management.

Achieves high construction quality
U improves construction accuracy;

e facilitates quality control through mass production of pre-
tested prototype modules; and
®  minimises errors in construction.

Enhances resources and project management
e improves management of materials in storage;

e enhances production management in a controlled factory
environment; and
e provides flexibility in project scheduling.

Environmental Management

The Group's environmental policy shows its commitment
to protecting the environment of the Earth. To minimise
environmental impacts concerning our activities and services,
we would uphold our standards for environmental protection to
the satisfaction of clients, customers and the public by:

e complying with applicable legal requirements and other
rules and regulations;

e preventing pollution, reducing waste and minimising the
consumption of resources;

e  educating, training and motivating employees to carry out
tasks in an environmentally responsible manner;

e encouraging environmental protection among suppliers and
subcontractors; and

e integrating environmental consideration into the planning
and construction process.

The Group is committed to continual improvement of
environmental performance. This environmental policy is
communicated to all staff members of the Group and our
subcontractors and suppliers.

BiE -8R ERERE

n

RIERY
. EJE?QKE&"ST%E%TEHEaf“E@ TE

o RADEERER K
o NEBREEMRE -

ERSEEES

o ETBIEE M

o TEAEBAEMMH - KEUFAEMIREME
AR - BPEHIEERE &

o RAMBIHMEIRRE -

EEERKIEEEE

s NEREMHER:

s BMEAXENEERRTEETERE
K

o FEAMIEH TREEMNERE -

:ez'ﬂ*' EE

AEBENRRBRRAE S BN REHIRA
RIZ - REEREABERMEES RRFLIR
BNEE  RARFRANRREE A
BE BERIBHNER 5K

o WM EIEE IR IR RIS
m,

o BIDER - ROBEMREREEEY
£

. HE BIREBEENERSANE
T

. EHEERSOECEEEREEE
®

o HERBEINELRBEABMAREES -

REBBAONFERITIRFEN - RRFEK
REFBERASBMABREULTMNSE
AR

BIZRBRAT  F021/2022 79



=

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE HERERERE

To help achieving and securing a sustainable future, the Group
also advocates carbon reduction, and is committed to achieving
sustainable operations. To this end, we have set clear emission
reduction targets to be achieved by the year 2026/2027 by
comparing with the 2021/2022 baseline year:

e reduce air emission by 3%,;

* reduce energy consumption per MWh of square feet by 3%;

i reduce water consumption per approximate tonne of
employee by 3%; and

e reduce waste disposal by 3%.

Site Environmental Committee

Site Environmental Committee ("SEC") is established at project
site, depending on actual circumstance, to oversee all the
environmental-related matters. The organisation chart is as
follow.

Contractor
Project Manager

AR IE B 418

AENERERBRAFEZENOLRR K
SEMTRERDBRER B AOERITE
BEREEE Bt BILA2021 /2022
FAAELBNERFE  SlIETHR
2026 /20274 2 AU B K BAREREEE I

o ZERITAMBHUR 3% :
o BIKEEFIHTRIBERBFFE3% :
o BHWMEBMKERDI% Kk

o EMERERII%

THRRESS

REBEERBR - AEERIAE MK T i
RRZES(IHRREEE])  UEEBM
BREMEBEER - HERBEWT -

General Foreman
mEL

Envrionmental Officer

RIREME

Environmental officer communicates environmental issues
directly to project manager, and environmental information
(such as environmental mitigation measures, environmental work
procedures, on-the-job training plans; emergency procedures
and any new activities or procedures required) through
board notices, emails and internal circulars to our site staff.
The SEC meeting is held regularly to discuss the recent site
environmental issues such as environmental management plan,
inspection items, housekeeping, mosquito control, complaints,
non-compliance, major findings and other project related
environmental issues.)
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Project Coordinator
HE S

Safety Officer
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Performance Monitoring

Environmental inspections are conducted regularly on
the project sites for checking whether the environmental
performance of such sites is satisfactory and in compliance
with the requirements of the contract and environmental
management plan. In addition, environmental performance
auditing is conducted regularly to evaluate the effectiveness of
the environmental mitigation measures and to identify room for
improvement.

Complaint Handling Procedure

Environmental complaints are referred to the environmental
officer for conducting an investigation and recommending
remedial measures to the project manager if the complaint is
related to the works. If the complaint is found related to the
works, the respective team on site shall implement remedial
measures as recommended. The complaint case can be closed
only if the remedial measures implemented are proved to be
effective. During the reporting period, to the best of Directors’
knowledge, the Group was not aware of any significant
environmental complaints lodged against the Group.

Emissions

The Group's project sites are subject to certain environmental
requirements pursuant to the laws in Hong Kong such as
Air Pollution Control Ordinance, Noise Control Ordinance,
Water Pollution Control Ordinance (“WPCQ"), Waste Disposal
Ordinance, Public Health and Municipal Services Ordinance,
Environmental Impact Assessment Ordinance, Dumping at
Sea Ordinance and other related environmental ordinances
and regulations. During the reporting period, to the best of
our Directors’ knowledge, the Group was not aware of any
significant non-compliance incident involving the Group in this
regard.

The Group ensures its compliance with relevant laws and
regulations through measures described in the following
sections.
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Air Pollutant Emissions

The Group's air pollutant emissions are generated from various
sources, including but not limited to generators onsite, vehicles,
dust from the construction activities and material transportation.

The total air pollutant emissions were 20.5 kg in 2021/2022,
representing a slight increase of approximately 3%, as
compared to last year. The increase of Nitrogen Oxide ("NOx")
and Particulate Matter ("PM") was attributed to an increase
in the consumption of fuel of the Group's motor vehicles due
to business expansion which led to an increase in necessity of
motor vehicles and air emissions of stationary sources during
the reporting period have been included for disclosure. The
table below sets forth the breakdown of air pollutants by
category and premise:

Z2RI5 R BE K

AEBENZR SRR BSERIREL
BIEETRNMBEER  E  BEEY
EERIKE MY EHES o

72021 /20224 + ERSRAMPENBE A
205F 7% MEFEBILMNL3I% - RAIL
W(TEEY ) LB (BN ) Ems
AR AEEERERS/RERRIEM - B
HRBEMELEREE I - MEEERE BIER
SHEANE RN RS LN - TRH
PR RIBFEI D HZERS YA -

2021/2022 2020/2021

Air Pollutant Emissions’ RS RN 2021/ 2022% 2020 / 20214
Kg Kg

F= F=

Total NOx RELMBEE 17.1 14.9
— Office o N 5.4 3.4

— Project Sites —IEH A& 1.7 1.5
Total Sulphur Oxides (SOx) mELY(SOxEE 2.1 4.0
~ Office —WA=E 0.2 0.3

— Project Sites — T8 B Hh X 1.92 3.73
Total PM ERYEE 1.3 1.1
— Office B VN 0.4 0.3

- Project Sites —IE B AR 0.9 0.8
Total #st 20.5 20.0

L The data covers emissions from diesel, petrol and towngas consumption only. It is
estimated based on “How to prepare an ESG Report? Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance
on Environmental KPIs” published by the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong and the latest
sustainability report published by The Hong Kong and China Gas Company Limited.

The emission of SOx from the stationary source of sites during the reporting period
was included.

& The SOx emission figure of 2020/2021 was restated to include emission of stationary
source for comparison purpose.
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Preventive and mitigation measures are implemented at project IEH MR EHEAITEN RBEREELT

sites as follows:

Air Emissions

Preventive/Mitigation Measures

Z=RIT R bR EE
Dust e Watering dusty exposed areas, stockpiled materials or cover with tarpaulin sheets
mE R ZER - ERMA A K EE

Gaseous emissions

RBEHEN

Vehicle speed is limited to 8 km/h

BRRHITEB AR /N

A wheel washing facility is provided at the site entrance

Ho#E A\ M BRI R R B L AR

Maintain the public area around the site entrance to ensure a dust-free
environment by avoiding any mud, debris and dusty materials left in such area
RIFMBADOENAREHER  #EZBEE T EEL - WERERDE - #
REERE

Power-off the idling vehicles/powered mechanical equipment

BB EEH, BEERRENEIR

Avoid open burning of solid waste on site

B AR B R R [E BB RE Y

Ultra-low sulphur diesel is used

58 FR B R A S 0m

Carry out vehicle maintenance properly to prevent excessive discharge of
exhaust fumes and noises

HELETERRE - DULHBBZERRES

b Materials covered with tarpaulin sheets

BRI E E Y
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Greenhouse Gas Emissions

In response to the community’s gradual concern on greenhouse
gas ("GHG") emissions, climate change and other related
issues, the Group has maintained records and report the GHG
emissions annually through ESG report. The primary sources of
GHG emissions are from diesel consumption by the generators,
petrol consumption by vehicles, and use of electricity and

BEREBHK

E et R EDRERES ([ B Eﬁ%hﬁtﬁﬂ( e
R R HMmBEARENREERES

SEEFFERRE  HLENERR uaﬁi&
E#&/ﬂnifr E'ET;FE&( /Jm:n:# HALT;FEKIK;K/J?
E@éﬁ%%fﬂ’] CRERE - REURER - 8

towngas.

2021/2022 2020/2021

GHG Emissions* BERBHER 2021 /2022% 2020 /20215

tonnes tonnes

CO,-equivalent CO,-equivalent

WM-_F{mEE M-S{nEE

Total Scope 1° Emissions HE—SABRE 367.5 656.5

— Office —MRE 429 47.8

- Project Sites — I8 B AR 324.6 608.7

Total Scope 2¢ Emissions HE —HEERE 775.6 933.3

— Office /N 110.9 139.0

— Project Sites —IEH A& 664.7 794.3

Total Scope 37 Emissions HE=AHRE 69.6 23.5

— Office S VNS 21.2 0.3

— Project Sites — T8 B HhEX 48.4 23.2

Total Emissions (Scope 1, 2 and 3) BWHWE (BE— > —Rk=) 1,212.7 1,613.3

— Office —WAE 175.0 187.1

— Project Sites —IE A AR 1,037.7 1,426.2

Intensity (per million HK$ revenue)® ZE(BEEBTWE)® 1.1 1.5
+ The calculation of GHG emissions is made reference to the Guidelines to Account for ¢ BEFBANENHELZRAREERREIREY
and Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Removals for Buildings (Commercial, MHEKEBEEY (%  EEXRHBR)NBREREH
Residential or Institutional Purposes) in Hong Kong published by the Environmental BRRBR O RERREIRS])  FEENERDA) - BE
Protection Department, and the Electrical and Mechanical Services Department, the BARERBETE Eﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂ CKIEEREBEE

latest sustainability reports published by the CLP Power Hong Kong Limited, Hong
Kong Electric Investment and The Hong Kong and China Gas Company Limited, Water
Supplies Department and Drainage Services Department.

B Scope 1: The direct emissions from the business operations owned or controlled by the
Group, including the emissions from the Group's vehicle fleet and the generators used
in project sites.

8 Scope 2: The “indirect energy” emissions from the internal purchased electricity
consumption by the Group.

/ Scope 3: All other indirect emissions that occur outside the Group, including both
upstream and downstream emissions, including the emissions due to electricity used
for freshwater processing by the Water Services Department and electricity used for
sewage processing by the Drainage Services Department.

& The Group’s annual revenue is approximately HK$1,152.7 million (2020/2021:
HK$1,103.2 million) in 2021/2022.
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2021/2022 GHG Emissions by Scopes
2021,/ 2022 F IR E E 8 D H)R ERAEHEN

® Scope 1
#E—

© Scope 2
#E—

Scope 3
gE=

During the reporting period, the Group's GHG inventory
principally comprises Scope 1 and 2 emissions, similar to last
year. Scope 1 emissions, including GHG emissions arising
from petrol, diesel and towngas consumption, account for
approximately 30% (2020/2021: 41%) of the total GHG emissions.
Scope 2 emissions, including GHG emissions primarily
resulting from electricity and towngas purchased, account
for approximately 64% (2020/2021: 58%) of the total GHG
emissions. In terms of the GHG emissions by premises, project
sites are the primary source of the Group's total GHG emissions,
accounting for approximately 86% (2020/2021: 88%) of the
total GHG emissions. We have enhanced our data collection
methodology for Scope 3 emissions to include paper disposal of
the Group during the reporting period and therefore, resulted
in a significant increase of the GHG emissions. We have also
implemented measures to remind employees to save paper in
daily operations.

BRI - S REBES

2021/2022 GHG Emissions by Premises

2021,/ 2022F IG5 A8 5 )R ERAEHE R

o Office @ Project Sites

WAE  BEME

RREHE AEEAZEREHERESE
TERFEHEE - REE PR - BAXFE
o BME—BERBE RS LhRkEIHE
HELAHAERERR  HEEREEH
& #130% (2020 /20214 : 41%) - & E
THRERETEREBEENRERN
BERBHN - EEERBABENEN64%
(2020 / 20214F : 58%) ° BLIBFTELERR
EREHHME HENBRALAERLIER
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The total GHG emissions and its intensity were 1,212.7 EA2021 S20NF O RERBRAIERE
(2020/2021: 1,613.3) tonnes CO,-equivalent (tonnes CO,-e) EZmE DR A1,21278 — &1 Jf?-?E
and 1.1 (2020/2021: 1.5) tonnes CO,-e per million HK$ (2020/2021¢ 11,6133 — & 1k B

revenue respectively in 2021/2022. The total GHG emissions 2)&KEBESETW=EIIE AL Jf';?i
and its intensity decreased by approximately 25% and 27% (2020 / 20214 : 1.5ME—S/tIREE) - K
respectively, as compared to last year, due to decrease in diesel $REEIRE - REREHRBERERE DB
consumption attributed to generators as one sizable project has B EFFH D KI25%M27% + ThAA R —IEKRA
been completed during the reporting period. HEETK  *EBHEhERER DA

2 o

The Group will continue to assess record and disclose its GHG ~ASKESEETFIHLHEEIBERELRER
emissions annually. BHmE -

b Reminder signage of paper saving

%\IJ)EH i&k/—_l—\ TWLv
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Waste Management

The Group acknowledges possible environmental impacts of
waste generated during the course of its operations such as site
clearance, excavation works, and construction and fitting out
works. The Group strives to mitigate environmental impacts by
adopting appropriate waste management strategy, prioritising
avoidance and minimisation of waste generation, reuse of
materials, recovery and recycling. The Group has established
Waste Management Plan and Construction Sites Working
Guidelines to workers as guidance to reduce the generation of
non-hazardous wastes. The Group applies for waste disposal
licenses for each construction project and discards non-
hazardous wastes generated into the designated landfills.

Mitigation measures implemented at project sites are as follows.

Waste Type
B RE BT

BRI HEREREE

BEYER

AEBRBINEZEBIE(HINHRIFE -
BRIRE BERKEIR)EENEDA
EHRBENTE - AKEBIRNEBRA
BENENEERE BLERELNEE
BMAOBEMES - BRRYE - DN BRER
KRBEHIRENTE - AREESTABIE
R E R8I R B TRHES] - (ERE A&
ERMELNES - AREREERZRIER
HBEEMRERR  YWAEENEZED
EEIRENICHEER - BB HREENLT
BIEMELAT

Treatment Approach

General refuse, including office wastes, food wastes e
and other packaging wastes
—REY  BERLAEREY BERRREMESEEY

BEY)

Construction wastes including both inert (e.g. rock, e
rubble, boulder, earth, soil) and non-inert (e.g. bamboo
and timber, paper, and other organic wastes)

BERY BEBMHWER -BE-ERA-EL -TBIKR .
(T FRAMN - BRAREBBHEEY)

Variety recycling bins are provided for waste segregation
to collect paper, plastic, and other wastes separately

MO BOKAE A EREY D - DRRERE - B R

Reuse and recycle construction wastes, as much as
practicable

RATRE A A M R L RE )

Replace timber with metal for site hoarding formwork
and scaffolding

VA B 2 R 1t 2R EAR ARUAR K A 2R

Metal wastes e Recycled by specific contractors
SEEY FR A E AR P B U
2021/2022 2020/2021
Waste B 2021 /202245 2020 20214
tonnes tonnes
g g
General refuse, inert and non-inert construction wastes —f&EEY) - 1514 R IEE 20,071.2 14,959.3
BEREY)

Metal wastes (Steel bar/metal strips) SEEDGNE SBH) 8.2 306.7
Total non-hazardous wastes’ BEBEYHEE 20,079.4 15,266.0
Intensity (per million HK$ revenue)? RE(BEBEBTWE)? 17.4 13.8

9 It includes general refuse, construction wastes and metal wastes.

’ HBE—REY  ZEEYRSBEEY
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The total amount of waste was 20,079.4 tonnes, and its intensity
was 17.4 tonnes per million HK$ revenue in 2021/2022. The total
waste amount and its intensity increased by approximately 32%
and 26% respectively, as compared to 2020/2021 due to the
commencement of two large scale projects during the reporting
period; whilst the drastic decrease of metal wastes was caused
by no site hoarding or excavation lateral support dismantling
work carried out during the reporting period.

To the best of Directors’ knowledge, the Group was not aware
of any significant amount of hazardous wastes generated
in the course of our operation in the project sites and the
office. Looking ahead, the Group will continue refining its
wastes reduction measures and disclose relevant results where
appropriate.

Wastewater Treatment

Wastewater is generated from activities like pre-drilling works,
bored piling works and wheel washing activities. The Group
takes appropriate measures to avoid contamination and
blockage of public drains and sewers:

e an adequate drainage system (e.g. temporary ditches,
drainage channel, U-channels and drain pipes) is maintained
to collect runoff;

e wastewater would be treated properly by effluent treatment
plant in order to comply with the discharge criteria/
requirements, as stated in WPCO license;

e sedimentation basins or traps at temporary ditches or
permanent drainage channels are set up to settle surface
runoff prior to disposal; and

e manholes would be adequately covered and temporarily
sealed so as to prevent silt, construction materials or debris
being washed into drainage system.
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BRI HEREREE

2021/2022 2020/2021"

Wastewater'® k0 2021 /20224 2020 / 2021F"
m?3 m?3

N FK 377K

Total “et 33,363.0 33,339.0
Intensity (per million HK$ revenue)? RE(GEEBTWZE) 28.9 30.2

During the reporting period, the total wastewater discharged
was 33,363.0 cubic meters, and its intensity was 28.9 cubic
metres per million HK$ revenue. The total wastewater
discharged slightly increased, as compared to last year. They
were attributable to the increase in the construction area of
projects during the reporting period.

Noise Control

Noise is emanated from various construction activities, including
but not limited to the operation of excavators and tower crane,
piling, erection or dismantling of scaffolding and formwork,
hammering. Mitigating noise nuisance is also an important
part of pollution mitigation since many of our construction
sites are located in urban areas. Adhering to the Noise Control
Ordinance, our project sites have acquired construction noise
permit before operations commence. Also, some of the
mitigation measures are implemented by us to mitigate the
noise generated from construction activities:

e switch off the equipment when not in use to eliminate noise
generation by idling machine;

e use quiet plant or quality powered mechanical equipment
("QPME");

e use facilities in good maintenance condition and provide
regular maintenance to powered mechanical equipment;

e strive to avoid noisy operations taking place at noise
sensitive areas;

Figures include wastewater from project sites, which is the major source of wastewater
generation in our business operations.

n The amount of wastewater generated in 2020/2021 was restated due to an update on
data collection methodology.
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e covered powered mechanical equipment with acoustic
material/shield to reduce noise impact when exceeding the
noise limit;

e use noise enclosures or barriers around the noise sensitive
receiver when exceeding the noise limit;

e conduct noise monitoring regularly; and

e separating operations of construction plants where
practicable.

o HBBARIRER  AREME FE
EREBREARBERETE

s EHBRIMRER ERBHRZWIS
FEERRZEELBERE

s TEMETREER K

o METHERT @ iSZESMEEED
B o

b Noise Barrier enclosed the workplace
T EERERERFE

Use of Resources

The significant use of resources of the Group includes energy,
water and other construction materials. Minimising the
consumption of resources is one of the key considerations in
operations as stated in the Group’s Environmental Policy and
the Group has implemented relevant measures to reduce the
possibility of energy wastage. We have also adopted the ISO
50001:2018 (Energy Management System) Standard. Energy
consumption is controlled through administrative measures, such
as switching off electrical appliances during non-business hours.
For energy consumption, both office and project sites consume
electricity and fuel for vehicles. Also, fuel for generators is used
at project sites. The Group’s business activities do not consume
packaging materials.
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2021/2022 2020/2021
Energy Consumption BEIRUHFE 2021/ 2022% 2020 /20215
MWh MWh
K KB
Direct Energy Consumption HiERERE
Total Fossil Fuel Energy Consumption' L RBRRBRERERE"? 1,457.2 2,651.1
— Office VNS 155.2 176473
— Project Sites —IEH & 1,302.0 2,474.7
Indirect Energy Consumption bk =2
Total Purchased Energy Consumption™ BARREEAE 1,735.5 1,714.9
— Office —WRE 166.0 180.0
— Project Sites —ITEH & 1,569.5 1,534.9
Total Energy Consumption HBRERERE 3,192.7 4,366.0
— Office —WAE 321.2 356.4
— Project Sites —I8 A AR 2,8715 4,009.6
Intensity (per million HKD revenue)? ZE(BEEBTWE)® 2.8 4.0

During the reporting period, the total energy consumption and
its intensity were 3,192.7 MWh and 2.8 MWh per million HK$
revenue respectively. The total energy consumption and its
intensity decreased by approximately 27% and 30% respectively,
as compared to last year. The slight increase in purchased
energy consumption was attributable to the increase in the
consumption of electricity which caused by an increase in
project site offices during the reporting period.

In terms of the total energy consumption by premises, the
Group's total energy consumption was primarily contributed
by project sites, accounting for approximately 90% of the total
energy consumption in 2021/2022 and 92% in 2020/2021.

L2 It includes the energy consumption from the fuel uses of Group’s vehicles and
generators.

The amount of fossil fuel energy consumption was restated due to an update on data
collection methodology.

E It includes the energy consumption from the purchased electricity and towngas of the
Group.

RIREHRE - BRERERRETED IR
31NRIKEEREBEEETWE28KE
B o BELIRBRREZE D HIREFRH DL
27%K30% » B ARIREVEFREEM LT
TYHN R E MR B R ERIENEHE
JIEFEE N

RBELAMBERBEREMS  A5HE
MBEREREIZHEAMBES R
2021/ 20224 12020 / 20214 5 Bl 15 42
RETRHFEAI90% 52 92% -

2 HBEAEE =R & BRI E A E LR RLRHRE -
‘3 mMRBBRETEER - CLAMBBEREEEEED -
2 HBEAKECEE N RERELNEREE
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b Energy saving reminder

EHIBEIRIE R 5

Water is also recognised as a precious resource. During the
reporting period, we obtained water from the third party
suppliers, hence, we were not aware of any issue in sourcing
water that is fit for purpose. In order to reduce the use of
freshwater, the Group encourages the reuse and recycling of
wastewater at project sites; for example, the treated wastewater
is reused for dust suppression and washing vehicles.

IKERTERELENER - RIS HIRE -

B E = HERBERBUR - Bt - 3
I IR KEUE AR E - AR
HKHER - AEBE B EIER R BF A
K ABIREAREK » An4E fa 2 /YRR 7K AT B I A
RN R RE -

2021/2022 2020/2021
Water Consumption' FAK1s 2021 /2022 2020 20214
m3 m3
37K WS
Total Water Consumption AkEE 41,442.0 37,568.0
— Office —WAE 496.0 467.0
— Project Sites —IE B A 40,946.0 37,101.0
Intensity (per million HK$ revenue)? ZE(BEEBTKER) 36.0 34.1
During the reporting period, the total water consumption was R¥REEIRE - A/KEE B41,44237 7K -
41,442 cubic meters, and its intensity was 36.0 cubic metres HZREAEBEBITWER36.07 7K o ﬁﬁ7}<
per million HK$ revenue. The total water consumption, and its ,,@%&E—EF?T%E%«‘ fagahn o it B e RN
intensity increased slightly, as compared to last year. They were ¥R HifEIE B 2 EEBEINFTE -

attributable to the increase in the construction area of projects
during the reporting period.

Looking ahead, the Group will continue refining measures and
evaluate the related results achieved if applicable.

® It includes the water consumption on the project sites and offices.
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The Environment and Natural Resources

As established in its environmental policy, the Group strives
to mitigate the impacts of its operations on environment and
natural resources. Project sites of the Group are located in non-
ecologically sensitive area; therefore there is no significant
impact on the environment and natural resources. Nevertheless,
the Group has identified potential environmental impacts of
related business activities as follows.

BRI HEREREE

RRERRRER

PINRIRBORPTARE - NS RER
BHREMAARERNTE - AEE/NIAA
BN IR BURR R - Bt - HIERIERK
REBRYBEATE - BEWU - AKED
BRIL T EBEBEHNEERETE

Environmental Impacts

Activity/Process

Management Approach

REXE EEBRE BB
Air and noise pollution, smog e Machinery operations e Emission sources controls
ZRRETTR BB IR 1E HEURE
e Construction works
BETIZ
Degradation of aquatic habitat and e Discharge of wastewater e Emission sources controls
drinking water supply BEIKBERR HERE 1

FERRERRAKEERL
Soil and groundwater contamination

TERMTKTHR

Global warming and air pollution
2B RERTHE
Conservation of natural resource

BRERRE

e Spillage and leaks from machinery engine

BB AR FE

e Power supply
HE

e Construction works
BETR

e Office operation

MRELE

e Preventive controls
Tap

e Impact mitigation controls
2 2o il

e Resource utilisation
BRI A

e Resource utilisation

BIRHA

The Group continuously introduces measures to minimise
the potential environmental impacts of the operations on the
environment and natural resources. The details of action taken
are illustrated in the sections headed “Emissions” and “Use
of Resources”. Furthermore, emergency response plans are
established for chemical spillage, adverse weather condition and
failure of the wastewater treatment system to prevent problems
caused by emergencies.

AEBFERPERSEREEEHRENR
ARERNBERREZE - BRAMRIITE
EVEFIB I BE ) N[ BIRGEFS | M ERR AL -
AN - STEMEBRIRIR - BHRRMN KL E
KRB R IR R Y E2 B - IATED
E2BNsI BN EERE -
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Climate Change

Climate change is one of the biggest global challenges faced by
the society nowadays, and we must act now to be prepared for
the impact caused by climate change on our communities and
industry. In recent years, extreme weather, such as strong winds
and heavy rainfall, as well as tides and floods, have become
the focus of news. Logistics and supply chains are particularly
vulnerable. Heavy rainfall, rising tides, and floods can cause
serious damage to assets such as buildings, warehouses, and
goods in storage, resulting in financial losses. Although such
incidents are beyond everyone’s control, the Group believes
that all stakeholders should work together to address climate
change, which will also be regarded as one of the most
significant risks to the world in the next five years.

The COVID-19 pandemic has presented many new challenges
this year, but it has not changed our commitment to climate
action. The pace of change has expedited around the world,
underscoring the importance for us to accelerate its transition
to a low-carbon economy.

The Group has further enhanced its disclosure in this year. The
Group’s business units have also strengthened analyses on the
risks and opportunities from climate change specific to the
markets we belong to.

In response to the Paris Agreement, the Hong Kong
Government issued the “Hong Kong's Climate Action Plan”,
and formulated various plans and actions, setting out the
vision of “Zero-carbon Emissions, Liveable City, Sustainable
Development”. The government has determined to set medium-
term goal as halving Hong Kong's total carbon emissions from
2005 levels before 2035. The Group understands that climate
change may have significant impacts on our operations.
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The Group essentially plans to respond to local government
initiatives and follow local government’'s emission reduction
requirements. We aim to reduce GHG emissions by around 3%
by 2027 and ensure the Group's GHG emissions will comply
with the local requirements on or before 2030. Our target is
to achieve carbon neutrality by 2050 in Hong Kong. We are
committed to continuously improving our energy efficiency,
applying professional knowledge to improve on-site efficiency
and maintain efficient management support.

Over the years, we have been grasping different opportunities
to expand our business, accelerate the transformation and make
the Group smarter, more environmentally friendly, and safer for
employees and users (such as automation, and utilising digital
platforms for online conferences to reduce carbon footprint
in transportation during the pandemic). These measures have
made our facilities becoming more sustainable and fulfil our
commitment to resource management and environmental
protection.

BRI HEREREE

AEETBEEREWRTOEZNET
2 b BT BB E 3K o T I RS 2027 4F
AR AR ER B IRAI3% » SWHERASKE
VR EREBENN2030F R Z AN A B E
ke FAPIE) B 1R R 20505F A B B B Ik
FA - HPIBAORTEIRSERY S - ER
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SESE
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BRI HEREREE

Action on climate change

PR SRARBLITE

Action responding to climate change is embedded in the EHRES/\CMNITEIERRAEBEMNESSE
Group’s business strategy and is reflected in its governance & ' IFEBAEERREERE - LRG|
and management processes. The index table below outlines the EBFIAEE O EAREFRIEELHEER
core elements of the Group's response to the climate change KEIZLEZX -

disclosure requirements in this Report.

Core Element The Group’s Response
BOEER A5 B K FE Y e
Governance e  Setting up ESG Working Group and regular meeting
ER BRI - e REA TR AN EHETER
° Integrating ESG topics (including climate-related issues) in corporate decision
making
KRR e RERRE(RERGHERZES) MADLEARK
Strategy e Understanding climate risks and identify risks and opportunities in the low-
S carbon transition
T R R R e B s R AR S Y A L i K B
Risk Management e  The Board to discuss about ESG risks
Rk EE BEEgdmRE  HekERRER
e  Preparing for the transition to a low-carbon economy
RAER A B BRI
° Preparing and setup measures to mitigate physical climate risks
AR R E BB RRE R (E LR 4 K I E e T I
Metrics and Targets e Investing in transition enablers
ERRER REGIHEHRE

Creating value in the low-carbon transition

FERHREA T AEEE

The Group has identified a series of climate-related risks $'§@EE%%)DJUHj—?@JEEiﬁﬁE'JEF&HW“
and opportunities relevant to our assets and services which ABHEBHEMEEAFZEMNEBRIEE R
are significant to us. These transition and physical risks are #i8 - ZE# nﬁ&ﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁﬁ%?%ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂ

discussed in the sections below.

A
Af ©
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Risks
AR

BRI HEREREE

Opportunities
s

Short term
(0 - 1 year)

EH
(0ZE15)

Medium term
(5 years)
HRHA
(5%)

Physical risks from extreme weather events
BmARREM RN ERRR

Securing the skills and capability required to
implement climate strategy

FERIE BB bt AR SR B P B B R BE e BE )

Transition risks — Implementation of low-
carbon policies for the operation

BE R — NS E B IEREBER

Transition risks — Supply and demand for
certain commodities, products and services
may change as climate related risks and
opportunities are increasingly taken into
account

WE R - FEE R ERR SR RX R
F o ETEM EmRREHHEKATESRES
{le

/I

New services to help communities
decarbonise

B Bhat B AR AR AR TS

Technologies to enhance the performance
of operation (e.g.: the development of
DfMA and the implementation of BIM
technology can shorten construction
time, improve working environment
and site safety, reduce environmental
impact, improve construction quality as
well as enhance resources and project
management) and energy efficiency
RALERR(NMEREARTNERRERRE
FESERRWAEERIANAE  BEIE
BRERINLE BIRETZE HNERE
B8 URTEERNABER)MEERME
ks 20}

Transitioning to low carbon economy market
to meet government decarbonisation
targets

R AR A 75 T 3% 38 % LA B ER IR R ALk B AR
Opportunities arising from transition
enablers

BRI R RE RN
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Risks Opportunities
Medium to long e Physical risks — workers are more likely to e Provide better working environment to
term (5+ years) suffer from heat stroke due to increase in workers and review their working hours,
PR global temperature, insurance fees might with better working conditions to facilitate
(5FH L) increase the recruitment of workers

EBER -BAREHRFBL  TATSHHKE
o0 - fRba IR E] RE A M A AN

e Transition risks — Potential new regulations
and policies
B — BB FTAR O MR

e Transition risks — Development and use of
emerging technologies may increase the
operational costs, and reduce the Group's
competitiveness
R A — ¥ E i B 8 R AT pE & AR s
BRR - WRREREENZEEN

e Transition risks — the Group's reputation may
be impacted due to changing customer or
community perceptions of said the Group's
contribution to or detraction from the
transition to a lower-carbon economy
BERR-ANEPFR R AEENEERER
BT ANERMBURB BEELER L K&
EmEEreXiTE

e Transition risks — The Group may not be
able to keep up with the trend of digital
transformation, which may impact the Group's
business performance
BE AR - ANEE AR EAR F RSB
o Emrl e EAE BN EBRER

Physical climate risks can potentially damage the Group's assets
or directly interrupt our service delivery. The Group has already
set up a number of measures in place to enhance the reliance
of its operations, including contingency plan for extreme
weather or emergency conditions that cover our project sites.
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e Transitioning to low carbon economy market
to meet government decarbonisation
targets
EMER A B T 585 8 LA B IR BUT R B 1R

e Opportunities arising from transition
enablers
EAVE B[R =7 R A8

e To work as a pioneer in the industry and
build up relevant reputations
ERTTENER  EURBERE

e To work as a pioneer in the industry to
enhance internal communication: project
progress monitoring by utilising mobile
application for the establishment of
communication platform
ERTTHERE - MARNEER : MAREE
RREEBRTE  HILESRERER

e Technologies to enhance the performance
of operation (e.g.: the development of
DfMA and the implementation of BIM
technology can shorten construction
time, improve working environment
and site safety, reduce environmental
impact, improve construction quality as
well as enhance resources and project
management)
RIAZLERR(MEREARGTHOERREREZ
FELERRMATAEEBEIRR  HEIE
RERIHZE  BRIOREFE HEZE
BE  ANZEERNIER BRI

ERRIERRAEETEAEENEENRE
EREALBFINBRBERN - AEREEFIEZR
B NR R EERE - BERERE RS
Higm AR K BERIE RN RS E -
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Transition risks can potentially increase the operational costs
and legal risk of the Group due to change of policy, technology
development, digitalisation, relevant risk affected to supply
and demand, and reputation due to public perceptions. The
Group has already identified the relevant risks and will continue
to monitor the market and policy updates. The Group has also
planned to invest according to the market needs and take this
as an opportunity for long term development.

Over the years, a series of measures is planning to be adopted/
has been adopted to put in place along the Group's value chain
helping the Group to be prepared for extreme climate events.
These measures are deployed for different geographies, taking
into account the asset types, locations and relevancy. They are
summarised in the table below:

Relevant Part of the Value Chain Relevant Measures

BRI HEREREE

HRBERE(L - RINER - BB - XK
FTENHEBRRAMEARBEAZENR
2 BERERE Al RELE AN SR B H) E E R AN
KRR o 7SR E B 85! 18 B8 R B I 5 45
BERMSRBERHER - AEBEITRCE
SRBEMSFEETREL R RRYER
HYHIE o

SER - AEEE B EREBEESEE
RER— R IR AR B AR RIEE
ekt - AEEEEEEEER - B R
BlEs - ETRAMESERSEME - TR
7 R

EEERERD HEE

Supply chain Diversify materials supplies from multiple suppliers, sources and countries
fitpEsE MZEHRER - AR KEREREAREMEHERE

Operation Monitor and inspect assets regularly:

- Maintain a contingency plan for all project sites’ facilities

RFTE R B R IE RS RS S

To address extreme heat and increased temperature:

YRR BE R EFTRE

—  Maintain cooling equipment in good conditions

REF2 AR RE I R AF AR AR

- Review working hours of worker and provide better working environment to

negotiate for lower insurance rates
B4R T A TAER SRR BB R TIERIR - UFRBRIEARIRE X
— Increase drinking fountains for employees and workers if possible

ERTIEAT - BEERTAZINFUKEEE

To address the risk of water shortage and drought:

Bk RE AR -

- To maintain water tank(s) in facilities if possible

FERITTIB UL IR B ME P INaR 7K AE

—  Purchase drinking water with sufficient storage

1B E M7 R A ER 7K
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BRI HEREREE

Relevant Part of the Value Chain
EEEERESS

Relevant Measures

Ry

To address flooding risks:
FESIKE R

Build protection walls for facilities and run-off water storage if possible
EAITER T RRMEER D MK TR

Deploy anti-flooding measures suitable for the assets, including drainage
systems, flood gates and flood barriers, if necessary
EVERREERSENIEER - 0K EL - Bt Rt RE

Put in place additional coverage with tarps, grass planting and drainage works to
avoid soil erosion if necessary

EMERERGKT HERKTRENEERE  BRRLRE

To enhance business continuity:

REEKBEN

Establish a typhoon response protocol and Emergency Response Team, enhance
internal communication to ensure smooth execution of contingency plans

I R R FE 17 R A LB = NV - I IN5R A ED B B AR IR B RSA 1T =t &l
Utilise the emergency restoration system, enabling rapid construction of
temporary masts that can shorten the restoration of power supply, if possible
ERABSMERL - EATERT - REBREERBE - MR HERERE
Enhance the communication capacity of customer services, in particular post-
incident customer communication

RARFPRBBRELED  BRRENBLERNTPER

Investing transition enablers

Investment in a broad range of transition enablers is required
to transform the business to low-carbon economy. The Group
will consider investing more resources to purchase electric
vehicles ("EV") for the replacement of the old fossil fuels
vehicles, adopting renewable energy sources (e.g.: Photovoltaic
on rooftop of sites) into its business operations, or purchasing
more Quality Powered Mechanical Equipment (“QPME") or
quiet plants to fulfil its business needs in future.

Our Path to 2050

The Group is prepared to address the threats climate change
poses both to its business and to the communities that it serves.
The Group is determined to deliver and provide quality and
reliable services for its customers and the Group is fully aware
of the importance of environmental responsibility. The Group is
ready to raise the targets, wherever possible, to strengthen the
environmental protection measures at least every five years.
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SOCIAL ASPECTS

Employment and Labour Practices

The Group believes that employees are the most critical asset
of the organisation. As the business grows, the Group must
establish sustainable human capital to attract and retain talents.
The Group strictly abides by the Employment Ordinance,
Employments’ Compensation Ordinance, Minimum Wage
Ordinance, Construction Workers Registration Ordinance,
anti-discrimination legislations and Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes (the "MPF Scheme"”) Ordinance. During the reporting
period, to the best of our Directors’ knowledge, the Group
was not aware of any significant non-compliance case in this
regard. The Group has established the Employee Management
Handbook, which set out the details on remuneration, dismissal,
recruitment, promotion, working hours, rest periods, diversity,
equal opportunities and anti-discrimination.

Remuneration, compensation and dismissal

To attract and retain talents, the Group provides a competitive
remuneration package to employees including salary,
discretionary bonuses, overtime compensation and other cash
subsidies. In general, the Group determines employee salaries
based on each employee’s education/technical qualifications,
responsibilities, experiences, performance and skills. The
Group has designed an annual review system to assess the
performance of employees, which forms the basis of decisions
with respect to salary changes, bonuses and promotions.

For resignation on employee’s own accord, they are required
to provide written notice of termination to the Group for
termination of employment, or otherwise, payment in lieu
of notice is applied. An exit interview is conducted with
the resigned employee to provide an opportunity for the
employee to discuss the working experience with the Group.
The feedbacks received are beneficial to the human resources
system, working environment and future positioning of jobs.

BRI HEREREE

HEE@
EBERELEIER

AEEBREREREESREENEE - HEE
EBBR AEEARYAFENANE
K WRARBREANT - AEBEEBETER
fE&fl ~ RIRMESRD  RETEGD - 23&
ET AEMED - RIEAREDED R g Hl 1R
Bestal(( MR8 DK - NRED
B BEFEMA > AEEEI T MY EER
ERERNERER - AEBCDRIEEER
F - EHIIHH - e BE BT
RS - (KRB - 27tk - FPERERKR
AR RIS

o - #HE R AR

RERARBBEAT AEBEREBRHEER
FINRE - BRFE - BB - NimE
REMBEMHERE - —RME - ARERES
BENHE /BMER  BE &% K&
REGRETEHE - AREERYFEFZ
HE - HERERER  (FRETABHH -
TEAL M ETHHYR B o

SEBBRERME
EmRIEEREM 7% 78 S A5 A58 AR
T AEESEBERERETHBEA - &
EEEHSEAKENHE THEER - T

)3‘2

=x

FRMAKERE
Al

DL{

,I]]]I]

IMREE ﬁﬁﬂﬁ”‘/\ BREL - TIFR
%K B & TETN e
BIZERERAT F32021/2022 101



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - HERERHRSE

An employee may be summarily dismissed by the Group without
advance notice or payment in lieu if the employee in relation to
his/her employment has any misconduct, or is guilty of fraud or
dishonesty or habitually neglects his/her duties.

Recruitment and promotion

The Group believes that efficiency, effectiveness and success
of the organisation depends primarily on the skills, abilities
and commitment of the employees who constitute the most
important asset of the organisation.

The philosophy of the Group seeks to attract the best-qualified
candidates who support the mission and value of the Group
and who respect and promote excellence through diversity. The
Group aims to recruit the most suitable talents and to maintain
a pool of employees according to the human resources
planning and needs. Well-performing staff will be transferred
and promoted to fill our vacancies and provide them with the
opportunities to explore their better prospect in the Group.

The Group recognises the importance of development and
growth of employees. Performance appraisal is conducted
regularly to evaluate employees’ performance regarding
but not limited to safety, work attitude, technical skills, and
interpersonal skills.

Working hours and rest periods

The Group is dedicated to providing reasonable working hours
and rest periods to employees. All employees are entitled to
public or statutory holidays as announced in The Government
of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region Gazette each
year. In addition to those holidays, employees are entitled
but not limited to annual leave, sick leave, compensation
leave, maternity leave, paternity leave, marriage leave, and
compassionate leave.

102 WECON HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2021/2022

HESEXBITAAETAITETR  HILE
BMEFAT BT AL BB LG 2R - &
SEREEETERBHAINBAESHER
TR EERES -

HRREE
REBMBERENRE - MR ERER
RINVEBREE - ENRIRA - BREREE

AEEWEREERSIFAEE E o M E
EBYEBZTILESE @ R FUREANK
BEAT - AEBBAORBEBEANERRE
KRBFRBBRABENIAT RITEREEM -
KRR E THER A M EFUERT
PIRZERR - W ABRFRERE - EMEAE
BRRRELHATR

AEERARREERERKGEEE - 3
EMETRREZ  RETRN)ZE T
1EREE -~ £fTBe 1 R ABRRIERE 177 E R
BEMRR

THERBR KB
AR BB R ABEE REA RO TR B
KB - FARRSBETEEBHAIG
HE B ERSE AR RIEE RS -

R ERPN  BREARZX(ETRR)F
R wER - wRER FER  BRER

MR o



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Diversity, equal opportunities and anti-discrimination

The Group recognises and embraces the benefits of having
a diversified board and workforce to enhance the quality
of our performance. Board Diversity Policy is established
which defined board diversity in terms of a wide range of
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and education background, ethnicity, professional experience
and qualifications, skills, knowledge and length of service,
and diversity is also the value incorporated in our recruitment
practices.

The Group is an equal opportunity employer and is committed
to providing equal opportunities in relation to all human
resources matters or in any other activities during employment
including but not limited to recruitment, training, promotion,
transfer, compensation, benefits provision, termination,
regardless of age, gender, physical or mental state, marital
status, family status, pregnancy, race, colour, nationality or
ethnic origin, religion, or sexual orientation. Employees are
recognised and rewarded according to their contribution,
performance and skill. Remuneration package and training
opportunities are provided to all employees on the objective
basis of their job capacity, personal capability and performance.
During the reporting period, to the best of our Directors’
knowledge, the Group was not aware of any significant
discrimination cases.

Sexual harassment is strictly prohibited under the Group’s
policy as stipulated in the Employee Management Handbook.
Employee, who believes that he/she has been or is being
sexually harassed, is encouraged to report the incident of sexual
harassment, as well as seek advice and guidance to the relevant
supervisors or department heads. He/she can further lodge
his/her complaint to the Human Resources & Administration
Department who will investigate thoroughly and confidentially
in accordance with the guidelines in handling sexual harassment
complaints.
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The Group will take appropriate disciplinary action against
anyone who is in breach of the regulations which may in the
most serious of cases lead to termination of employment
contract. During the reporting period, to the best of our
Directors’ knowledge, the Group was not aware of any
significant harassment cases.

Employee benefits and welfare

According to the applicable laws and regulations in Hong
Kong, the Group provides various benefits and welfare to the
employees. The Group participates in the defined contribution
scheme under the MPF Scheme Ordinance which is available
to its employees in Hong Kong. Contributions to the MPF
Scheme by the Group and employees are made based on a
percentage of employees’ basic salaries. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed to
the MPF Scheme. The Group also provides medical insurance,
employees’ compensation insurance, marriage gift, maternity
coupon, condolence money, distribution of masks as well as
COVID-19 Rapid Antigen Tests kits and reimbursement to
employees. On the other hand, the Group has organised other
welfare activities and arranged benefits for our employees;
however, considering that COVID-19 was running rampant in
the world during the reporting period, the Group has limited
the organisation of employee activities to mitigate the risks
of transmission of the virus. Activities such as birthday, Mid-
Autumn Festival and Christmas parties in small scale and
mooncake coupons were arranged to employees.
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As at 31 March 2022, the Group employed 224 employees.
All employees are located in Hong Kong. The details of the
workforce and employee turnover rate during the reporting

period are as follows:

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BRI HEREREE

20223 A31H - K% E & A224% &
8 - fIEREREHUNNES - BER RS EM
BT RESRAEMEBOT ¢

Workforce BT 2021/2022 2020/2021
As at 31 March' A3A31R%™ 2021202245 2020, 20214
By Gender BB
Male B 169 144
Female pegid 55 42
By Age Group REWRA R
Below 30 30mA TR 48 46
30-50 30&505%, 104 86
50 or above 5055 A 72 54
By Employment Type RIERER
Full Time 2 223 185
Part Time R 1 1
By Geographical Region ZitE
Hong Kong a5 224 186
Total st 224 186
Turnover Rate' KRR 2021/2022 2020/2021'
As at 31 March M3AB31H 2021 20224 2020 202145
By Gender t gzl
Male B 39.6% 35.1%
Female peg 44.4% 33.3%
By Age Group RER AR
Below 30 30BRIA T 48.9% 25.8%
30-50 30&505% 38.8% 39.4%
50 or above 505 A 37.4% 33.3%
By Geographical Region RibE
Hong Kong BE 40.9% 34.7%
Overall #sct 40.9% 34.7%
meloyees of the Group only. Workers of the subcontractors are not ~ ©  HEGEAEEES - TEESSHNIA
included.
v Turnover rate = Number of employees left the Group during the reporting period/ "7 MEAR=NBEPERRAEENEES ALY (R
mploraos 25 % e ond of e oparing, pariol. The Groub had a o1 S 158 B Ak MR KR ERE AEARE A RIS
employee turnover (2020/2021: 99 employee turnover) during the reporting period. (2020 / 20214F : 99 AER)

B The turnover rate of employees has been restated due to an update on calculation

methodology.

¢ MR EBWETEEN - EERAEEES -
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Due to the nature of works in the construction industry,
accidents are more likely to happen than other industries
and therefore the Group has adopted a health and safety
policy statement (the “Policy Statement”). The Group has
stated in its Policy Statement regarding its commitment to
protecting its employees, subcontractors and the public
from being affected by our works. The Group’s subsidiary
has adopted an occupational health and safety management
system in accordance with the requirements of ISO 45001:2018
(Occupational Health and Safety Management System)
accreditation and has in place various policies and procedures
to maintain health and safety in the workplace.

The Group strictly abides by the applicable laws and regulations
in Hong Kong relating to providing a safe working environment
and protecting employees from occupational hazards, including
but not limited to Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance,
Factories and Industrial Undertakings Ordinance, Construction
Sites (Safety) Regulations, Occupiers Liability Ordinance. During
the reporting period, to the best of our Director’'s knowledge,
the Group had 7 cases of non-compliance with Factories and
Industrial Undertakings Ordinance which resulted in a total of
HK$122,000 fine. Individual investigations of each cases were
carried out and the relevant corrective action plans (“CAP"s)
were adopted in order to avoid similar cases in future. We
treat each of the cases seriously but believe these cases were
isolated cases. Looking ahead, we will continue to enhance and
promote health and safety culture in the Group.

Safety organisation

The Group has established a Company Safety Management
Committee and a Site Safety Committee with clearly defined
responsibilities. The former is responsible for developing,
reviewing and revising the Group’s health and safety policy
and regularly monitoring the proper implementation of the
safety management system. The latter provides and improves
the safety at work on-site and participate in the making and
monitoring of arrangements for safety at the workplace.
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Health and safety measures and implementation

To provide a safe and healthy working environment for
employees and subcontractors and to ensure compliance with
the applicable laws and regulations in Hong Kong, a safety
plan is implemented at the commencement and during the
implementation period of each project and hazard analysis
is conducted. The safety officers, safety supervisors and site
management personnel conduct regular site visits to ensure the
workers have taken all necessary safety precautionary measures.
Some key measures implemented at the project sites are as
follows:

e all new employees are required to attend site safety
induction training that is conducted by safety officers within
two days after their commencement of work on-site; and

e all employees are required to wear or use appropriate
safety equipment or clothing and use appropriate
safety devices, as well as to be familiar with the relevant
requirements of the project safety plan and other specific
safety requirements.

On the other hand, the Group has established Standard
Construction Site Arrangement and Safety Measures In-House
rules for workers to comply and follow at work to mitigate the
occurrence of accidents and occupational hazards. In order to
increase the awareness of safety and to reduce the possibilities
of accidents and fatalities further at workplace, a Safety Penalty
Schedule, which is a management system for identifying and
following up on any non-compliance of Occupational Safety
regulations is established.

Monitoring system

Regular meetings are held for directors, safety officers and
site supervisors to share the latest information and good
practices with respect to safety. In the event of the occurrence
of incidents and near misses, prompt corrections will be taken
by following the emergency preparedness and response
procedure. Follow-up investigation will be carried out to review
the safety system to find out the root causes of the case(s)
and prevent reoccurrence of similar cases. Apart from routine
safety inspections, regular safety walks by senior management
and safety audits are conducted at all project sites to verify the
sufficiency and effectiveness of safety control measures.
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Precautionary measures of COVID-19

As COVID-19 was running rampant during the reporting period,
we have established a series of measures to mitigate the risks of
transmission of the COVID-19 virus including but not limited to
the following:

e arrange Rapid Antigens Tests of COVID-19 for employees;

e establish guidelines for employees who have contracted
the COVID-19 virus. Any employees found to have positive
results from the Rapid Antigen Tests of COVID-19 must
report their cases to the Centre for Health Protection of the
Department of Health. Also, they must not report to work
and are required to rest at home as well as to seek proper
medical treatment;

e all employees are required to record their body
temperature before they report to duty;

e |Leave Home Safe QR codes are available in our offices
and projects sites, employees, workers and visitors are all
required to scan the QR codes using the Leave Home Safe
mobile application before entering the aforementioned
locations;

® arrange thorough sanitisation in office areas;

* masks are required to be worn by all employees at offices
and project sites to mitigate the risks of infection. We
have offered masks for both our employees working at the
offices and for those who are working at the project sites;

e the Group encourages employees to wash their hands
frequently and properly;

e all employees should avoid unnecessary physical contact
and maintain social distancing; and

e the Group encourages employees to participate in
the Universal Community Testing Programme and the
COVID-19 Vaccination Programme.

108 WECON HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2021/2022

TR e Z TG B e
ERREPRMLERESHREE - HMD
7 — BRI e ARE R BB AR B B0 (B 18
R - BRETRRIATRIE :

o ZHHRBEITHUBNRESHERENR
fol

s RRERAFUTIRASHNEIHIERES -
AR EL T AR B 8 PR L R AR 5 R
2B ENREDARNGLEEF LN &S
DEIERD - tHh - ARARENEERE
TRREN - BEBRRTKE - LZRE

AL AN -
==l

e ZRESERALMATVARLEER

o HMAMMIAERBEHMEHRELOH
T#E EE TANGEEA it
SRR AFERTLLITRERBRERFRE
il\EE%

o HIWMANFRIETHEHESE

o TREBSENAENEHMBRBEWNAE
MEBAZ - DURKRCEER - FfIIRE
ERAERIER AT ENESIRHED
=

o AEBHBEESEIIREEAZERL
S 3

e ZRESEEPIENENSEEE MR
B &

o AEETHENEBESMNTE RALERRAEE
20198 m SRR EEETE -
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RE - HERERRSE

Safety performance fogeats 32

During the reporting period, the Group achieved zero fatalities. R¥IREMME - FEBEHR TR TEE - K
The accident rate per 1,000 employees or workers for the SENEDBEN2021 2022605 FT 4
Group and our subcontractors in 2021/2022 are 0.0 and 10.9 ®EHTAEFHESH FIR0.0K%10.9  BIE
respectively, which are much lower than the Hong Kong REBEREEMNFHETFTRIA2617 R
construction industry’s average of 26.1 per 1,000 workers'. The 2021,/ 2022F A T1518K B AEA1,376K
total number of lost days due to injuries is 1,376 days (2020/2021: (2020 / 20214F : 74220K) » B A5 #E B
742 days) in 2021/2022%. We will continue our efforts to raise NERFNENLEZEH @ BREMEZSE
safety awareness amongst our stakeholders and to ensure that ~EHFREIHG - UBRSEERMNELE2EKHE -
we learn from these events to improve our safety performance.

2021/2022 2020/2021 2019/2020
2021 /20225 2020 /20214 2019 20204

Number Reportable Accidents BEREESHEE
— The Group —REE
— Subcontractors —DEE 10 5 14
Accident Rate per 1,000 employees or F1,0002EEKT AN
workers?' B R
— The Group —A&EH 0.0 0.0 0.0
— Subcontractors —DBER 10.9 5.5 16.4
Lost Time Injury Frequency Rates (LTIFR)? AT IESEHIER
(BAIFIEEN
SRR |)2
— The Group — R EH 0.0 0.0 0.0
— Subcontractors — DR 0.4 0.2 0.6
Number of Work-related Fatalities EAIEEEMET AR
— The Group —REH
— Subcontractors ] 0 0 0
Fatality Rate per 1,000 employees or 1,000 EEHT AN
workers? TR
— The Group —KEE 0.0 0.0 0.0
— Subcontractors ] 0.0 0.0 0.0

The Group will continue to review the existing occupational AREEBFFEERRERERERALEEE
health and safety management system and elevate the safety #IE @ WiIRSEENMDBEENLZEEH -
awareness of the employees and subcontractors.

The accident rate is extracted from the Issue No. 21 (August 2021), Occupational 19 EHREESTERE RS REEDRENREL S

Safety and Health Statistic Bulletin, Occupational Safety and Health Branch, Labour RGeS A SR B 01 BA (2021468 H ) o
Department. o b .
0 » HREBWE AR - XEMBEXAHREET -

The number of lost days due to injuries was restated due to an update on data
collection methodology.

2 Accident rate per 1,000 employees or workers = (Number of reportable accident/Daily & 51,0008 @ EXTANFHR= (AREFRYUE TH

average employees or workers) x 1,000 FHREHT AAR)X1,000

2 LTIFR = (Number of lost time injuries/Total hours worked by all employees or workers % BATR THEEHER- (RTEHRANTRE 28R
during the reporting period) x 100,000 B T AR B A9 42 THF)x 100,000

23 Fatality rate per 1,000 employees or workers = (Number of fatality/Daily average 2 F1,000&EEXTANETR= b AZ/ FAFHRE
employees or workers) x 1,000 83T AA#)x1,000
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As stated in the Group's training and development policy, the
Group provides equal opportunity for all staff to develop their
knowledge, skills and abilities through a blend of learning
methods including mentoring, coaching, on-the-job training,
courses, conferences and seminars. The Group also encourages
self-development of employees through the taking up of
training programmes and seminars. The main objective of
training and development is to help develop key competencies
which enable individuals to perform current or future jobs
successfully. The Group will increase training to align with the
development of the industry or in response to the update of
new skills and knowledge to meet the internal and market
demand.

The Group provides various types of training to employees and
provide sponsorship for them to attend various training courses.
During the reporting period, we provided a series of trainings to
our employees. To raise the safety awareness of our employees
and workers, we provided site safety training covering
various topics (such as prevention of heat stroke, proper
usage of monitors, accidents analysis, stamina management,
precautionary measures of COVID-19, fire prevention, electrical
safety, safety policy, public safety, safety induction course,
safety enhancement training, working procedures under adverse
weather conditions, emergency response procedures, protection
gear, safety awareness of office and project sites). To enrich the
working knowledge of our employees, we provided training on
various topics (such as introduction training relating to contract
management, recovery of losses due to COVID-19, changes
in laws, Excavation and Lateral Support preloading test, BIM
technology related training, Project insurance introduction,
Certification for Labour Relation Officer).
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BIE HERERKRE

During the reporting period, 79.5% (178 employees) of the total ~RIEHHE - NEEE BB EH79.5% (178
number of employees of the Group received training, and they &{EE)BEXIF - BIEIIREUA732.4(E

received 732.4 hours of training in total (2020/2021: 464 hours).

INBE (2020 7 20214F - 46AME/NBE ) o FE I

The details are as follows: m
2021/2022 2020/2021
Percentage of Employee Receiving Training?* FIEER D> 2021,/ 2022% 2020 / 20214
By Gender BB
Male B 82.2% 98.6%
Female pegis 70.9% 31.0%
By Employment Category RERER
Senior Management SRERE 33.3% 90.0%
Middle Management/Non-management Professionals RREEE JEEIEHE 100.0% 100.0%
AE
General/Frontline Staff —#%HIEAS 79.4% 80.8%325
Overall P 79.5% 83.3%
2021/2022 2020/2021
Average Training Hours2 S35 32 31 B e 2021/ 2022%F 2020 /20214
hours/employee hours/employee
HEEE RN, EE
By Gender BB
Male B 35 2.7
Female egi 2.7 1.8
By Employment Category RIERER
Senior Management SR EEE 1.8 4.3
Middle Management/Non-management Professionals PREIEE JEEIRE 6.7 5.9
AB
General/Frontline Staff —pe B AR 3.0 1.92

Overall et 3.3 2.5

% Percentage of trained employee = Number of employees received training during the 2  SZHHEREH L-REE BEOZIES AR, HREEE
reporting period/Number of employees at the end of the reporting period. REEE AL -

28 The percentage of general/frontline staff trained was restated due to an update on 2e AR BRI ER RS ABEDHESE
calculation methodology. The average training hours is therefore also restated to 5l o &t ii’ﬁﬁuJHh%lJTEEﬁIJLA#&LLE#ﬁ
account for the aforementioned update.

25 Average training hours = Total training hours during the reporting period/Total number 2% 1 I B B = R HA R AR KT S B R IR B R R
of employees at the end of the reporting period. S -
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The Group strictly prohibits the employment of child labour,
forced labour and illegal labour. The Group has established
internal guideline of employment of a person under the age
of 18. The Group has implemented the following measures to
prevent having child labour or illegal immigrants from being on-
site, and to prevent child labour, forced labour or illegal workers
from taking employment on-site:

1. Human resources and administrative officers inspect and
take a copy of the original of the Hong Kong identity
card and/or other documentary evidence of the applicant
showing that he/she is lawfully employable in Hong Kong;

2. the subcontracting agreement contains a clause whereby
subcontractors are required only to hire persons who are
lawfully employable to work on-site and to prevent any
illegal worker entering the site; and

3. the Group regularly reviews recruitment measures to
ensure compliance with relevant regulations and other
regulations on child labour or forced labour and requires all
subcontractors to comply with relevant laws. If any child or
forced labour cases have been discovered, the child labours
will be dismissed from work immediately. The Group will
strictly follow the local labour laws and regulations to
handle such cases.

The Group strictly abides by the Employment Ordinance and
section 38A of the Immigration Ordinance. During the reporting
period, to the best of Directors’ knowledge, the Group was
not aware of any non-compliance case relating to child labour,
forced labour and illegal immigrant labour.
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Operating Practices

The Group is committed to building lasting and constructive
relationships with partners in its supply chain. The suppliers of
goods and services to the Group mainly include:

e  subcontractors;

e suppliers of construction materials mainly provision of
concrete and reinforcing steel bar; and

e machinery and equipment rental service providers.

The Group identifies environmental and social risks of the supply
chain through stringent and systematic supplier/subcontractor
management. The code of conduct adopted by the Group
(the "Code of Conduct”), which regulates the conduct of our
employees in the course of their employment, alongside with
other procurement-related policies and guidelines specify our
dedication to a fair, transparent and competitive procurement
process which requires all employees to observe the highest
standards of business integrity and to comply with relevant laws
and regulations.

The Group maintains a list of approved suppliers/subcontractors
which is updated on an ongoing basis and we generally only
select suppliers/subcontractors from such approved suppliers/
subcontractors list for our projects.

In general, suppliers/subcontractors are approved and selected
after taking into account factors such as safety performance,
costs, technical expertise, financial background, past
performance, reliability and quality of goods, workmanship
and services. Also, we will take priority to consider selecting
suppliers that provide environmentally friendly products and
services over other suppliers given that they share the same
business nature as well as the standard of performance.
For certain projects, our customers may retain their rights
to nominate certain specific suppliers/subcontractors to
fulfil certain parts of the works under the relevant contracts.
Where our customers nominate a supplier/subcontractor, the
Group generally retains the right to object to the use of such
nominated suppliers/subcontractors with supporting reasons.
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The performance of suppliers/subcontractors is evaluated at
least once a year to determine whether corrective or preventive
actions have to be implemented on suppliers/subcontractors
with unsatisfactory performance, or that such suppliers/
subcontractors with unsatisfactory performance shall be
removed from the approved list of suppliers/subcontractors.

For further information regarding the Group’s measures in
relation to environmental compliance, safety and quality
control of subcontractors, please refer to the sections headed
"Environmental Aspects’’, "Health and Safety’” and "Product
Responsibility” in the Report.

During the reporting period, the Group had a total of 1,625
(2020/2021: 1,467) suppliers and subcontractors, and all of them
were located in Hong Kong. All suppliers and subcontractors
are managed under the policies and procedures of supply chain
management as stated in this section.

The Group recognises the significance of quality in construction
and maintenance and it is the prime objective of the Group
to commit with due integrity and efficiency to discharge its
contractual duties relative to the quality of work as stated in
its quality policy. The Group plans, implements, and controls
systems to assure the conformance with the specified customer
requirements of all buildings and maintenance projects.
The Group promotes among all employees the awareness
and importance of quality and calls for the co-operation,
participation and leadership in achieving the Group objectives.
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Quality management

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BiE -8R ERERE

EEEE

To maintain consistent quality and safety of services for ARBFHEFN—EEBLERTE2RE @ A&
customers, the Group has established a formal quality BERVEXAMNESEERS  HEERER
management system which is certified to be in compliance &I1SO 9001:2015 (EEFEZ#E) Bk o K
with the requirements of ISO 9001:2015 (Quality Management S EEITAE EEHIIEHERAT ©

System). The quality control measures are implemented as

follows.

Phase Quality Control Measures

B BR BB

Tendering Phase ° Identify and review requirements of the potential customers during the
RIZME R tender phase to ensure that we are capable of meeting the relevant contract

Project Planning Phase

HERBKER

requirements for all building construction projects.
RIEEBRAEE MR EETEFPOHER  UEREMEBENTEMBETRERR
RS HNENR

Mobilise resources to initiate better project preparation to the requirements
of the potential customers and form a project team which expeditiously utilise
competent and qualified personnel.

AEERIAE i BB BEEFHAM R BETPHER - MERZBBERK - EEX
WIRAER N RAERAE -

Arrange for placement of early material orders, contracts and secure necessary
trade workers and machinery resources for the works or projects.
ZHTEFAYHETERELX  WREIEIEELENTARERER -

Post a contract award notification and conduct a tender handover meeting
among the relevant responsible staff once a contract is confirmed to ensure
project team members review and resolve early procurement requirements.
—BEAER  BReRLERAOBENE  LOERERREEAREERESH
TEIRIE B BB K B B MR FEIRBER -

Hold meetings among key project team members to discuss the relevant
contract and resources issues to ensure the project team is well-equipped, has a
good understanding of the requirements for the project, and is familiar with the
project scope and the proposed method of working upon which the tender was
based.

TEREEBKERTEE  SREFASORERME  UBRABEFKEZEL
% - WHIAR ERB RS RHRERIE R REREMKIEN TIEZERE -

Project manager will ensure that (i) any existing foundations underground
services and adjacent structures are surveyed to ascertain their condition before
commencement of our works (whenever necessary); (ii) a site layout plan is
prepared and agreed and that any necessary technical submissions (such as
method statements, quality plans, inspection and test plans and temporary works
design submissions) are properly prepared and approved prior to submissionA

T8 B &I AS TR () A IR A A T AR TS I3 A5 08 e TR Fta Al B2 E TRl B LATEE
HARR (M AEKE)  (\BRBURZHERMER  REMUENRMNIR(OELR
R E85HE - R IOAEGEIA KRR TIRRE ) ERIMNE Z &R N E -
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BIE HEBRERRE

Phase
P& R

Quality Control Measures

HEEHER

Project Implementation Phase
HE 'R

Completion Phase

55 TR ER

Complaint handling

Prepare detailed plans and/or schedules for the procurement of materials,
trade workers and machinery for communication with approved suppliers and
subcontractors.

EFEFHMOYE - TARKBREAER SEHER - AEBMERATHERRS B
e

Review requisition and review quotations from the suppliers and subcontractors
to ensure proper control before and upon delivery of such materials, services
and machinery to the project sites.

%Eﬁfﬁf?ﬁ&” BRI RS MHERE - UBROZSEWE - RIS RSN EIER
AR B ROR R 2 BT -

Hold regular site review meetings with suppliers/subcontractors and relevant
site staff to review the project progress, resources arrangements, project safety
and security as well as any information that is relevant to the management and
control of the project operations.

HEs, 5 @Pﬁ&ﬁ?‘ﬁﬁﬁﬁlﬁgﬁiﬁﬂi@ﬁiﬁﬁgﬁ NERIBBEE - BERL
EF BERERREZANEERMEFIAR CERBNEMER -
Evaluate and control the risks to provide a means whereby job hazards or
potential hazards are identified, and mitigate such risks in a way to eliminate or
reduce their impact to a tolerable or acceptable level.
BRERIZt CRMAIBRI TEREEREERTNTTE - WREZRSAR - UEF
24 KFW/WEE;:;T BRI A ZHIKF

Carry out works and safety, health, environmental and quality (“SHEQ")
inspections to ensure that the completed works conform to the requirements
of customers according to the work requirements and relevant specifications,
and that the site performance conforms to our SHEQ policy, legal and other
requirements.

HETIREEZR RBFE REMEE(R2 -EF REREE DR UHEERE
TR IRREREIEZRTEMERRRITEREFORTE  MRREDERL S - &
B RENEERE  ERMEMRE

Works which have been found non-compliant or defective and if such issues are
not able to solve immediately shall be physically identified by markings, tags or
notices or, where practical, be segregated to prevent them from unintended use
or further processing.

WERRATERNAREHNIRE  REZAMERMEE - $FEBIERL  BHIB
A (BRI ) DBELAZ AR - A IEEER AT —FPREZETIE -

REFEE

The Group attaches great importance to quality assurance ASEREEREERERKFEETE -
as well as complaint handling and is currently enhancing the BRI EEZEERFAREREF - REFEMAR
complaint handling procedures. To the best of our directors’ M * R¥EHIRE - NEE I EKEIF ST
knowledge, the Group did not receive any material complaints ~ IEARG ©

from its customers during the reporting period.
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Health and safety, product return, intellectual property
protection, advertising and labelling

Despite health and safety of customers is not a material issue
according to the Group's business nature, we made great effort
to manage and have developed stringent and detailed internal
policies and procedures to ensure occupational health and
safety of our workers. For further information, please refer to
the section headed "Health and Safety” in the Report. On the
other hand, the Group's business does not involve research and
development, product manufacturing, packaging and labelling
activities. Besides, the Group does not rely on marketing and
advertising heavily. Yet the Group respects intellectual property
rights and our brand “Wecon” is well known to the public.
Given the importance of this brand to the business, the Group
has already registered the trademark of our principal brand
name “Wecon"” in Hong Kong. In addition, the Group has 1
domain name which is material to the business, namely “wecon.
com.hk”, for which the Group is the registered proprietor. To
the best of Directors’ knowledge, the Group is not aware of any
material non-compliance relating to customer health and safety,
product return, intellectual property rights, advertising and

labelling involving the Group.

Employee and customer data protection and privacy

The Group attaches great importance to the confidentiality
of employee and customer information. The Group strives
to protect the privacy of its customers, business partners
and employees in the collection, processing and use of their
business or personal data. The Group’s Employee Management
Handbook provides guidance on the handling of confidential
information.

We have adopted data protection policy in our Employee
Management Handbook to require our employees to keep
all information and matters relating to the Group's business
and affairs confidential and must not disclose the same to
any unauthorised third parties or other employees within the
Group who are not privy to such confidential information. This
obligation to maintain confidentiality remains valid after the
cessation of employment of the relevant employees.

BiE -8R ERERE

BERBAEBNEBEE  TERPOEER
ZEWIFEAME  ERMBNERLEH
EEERFRHNRTECRRET - BRIA
WEBEERREREZE - ERE—FEH  #F2
BamElfEREEkEE ] —& - %*ﬁﬁ PN
SEEXBTIRAE ER4EE - BERE
EH) o 1A K%.Iﬁ}@f;@i?ﬁ%%&
BE o M - AEESEMBERE - KMY
BT ImBIMALRFAAM - ERZmhE
HEBHNEEZEM  AEEEAEEETMEM
FERBREBIEIIOEE N A&
E#EAs—AHEBKEFEAEREZMNES - A
mASBE RHIMES
A BEZFTA Z'»‘E@jiﬂ?ffﬁ/ﬁ\iﬂ?&gc
MEXFRREEAELE - RE - MBEE - E
%&T?ﬁ*EEQZEKZ—E\fE$E °

RE -~ HBEERE

[wecon.com.hk] -

BEREFEBERERIE
ZK%I?E%EZWEE&%)E%%E*# o U

CREREAER EBEHLEENE
%&fl/\%ﬂ)ﬁﬁﬁ » ANEREE T RS ARIFL
2 AEER(ESEE T MIRHAE ERIER
mERIES] -

HMEEEEEEFMPRABIBERER
R BREMNEEEHAE BAREEXE
REBEENEHMREERE  TEERE
BE T EAARERENE =TT AEEARE
BREZEZSREENNEMESR - ZRE
EBNAHRER L BRERARRIDABR
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We also clearly state in our Employee Management Handbook
that for all documents and information belonging to the Group,
every employee shall undertake to return them to the Group,
upon leaving the employment with the Group.

Failure by any employee to comply with this confidentiality
obligation may lead to disciplinary action, and in serious cases
will be treated as gross misconduct. Special care should also be
taken in the use of any personal data, including employees and
customers’ personal data.

The Group strictly follows the laws and regulations relating
to product responsibility. During the reporting period, to the
best of Directors’ knowledge, the Group was not aware of any
significant non-compliance case in this regard.

Honesty, integrity and fair competition are the core values that
all employees of the Group should uphold. The code of conduct
of the Group sets out the employee’s conducts in dealing with
matters related to acceptance and offer of advantages, conflicts
of interest, misuse of official position, company assets and
information. All new employees receive an introduction about
anti-corruption, and the code of conduct is communicated to all
of them.

Other than the anti-corruption policy and the internal anti-
bribery and corruption guidelines as stipulated in the code
of conduct, the Group has in place an anti-fraud policy to
provide guidelines for fraud risk evaluation, anti-fraud measures,
handling of suspected fraud and fraud identification. In
addition, a whistleblowing policy has been established as a
communication channel for employees, customers, suppliers
and other parties dealing with the Group to report concerns
relating to ethical business or personal conduct, accounting
and financial matters, integrity and other misconduct, or
maltreatment by other staff members to the independent non-
executive Directors for investigation by sending their concerns
via mail or email. The Group will initiate the investigation
procedure according to the whistleblowing policy after receiving
a report. The Group has also implemented appropriate and
effective internal controls at different business processes to
prevent and detect fraudulent activities.
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During the reporting period, the Group has invited staff from
the Independent Commission Against Corruption (“ICAC")
to hold several seminar sessions for employees of the Head
office and project sites as well as representatives of our sub-
contractors. The training contents included introduction of the
relevant ordinance and analysing common corruption risks and
ethical issues in construction industry. There were approximately
106 participants who have attended the ICAC training in which
included Directors, our staff, clients and the Representatives of
subcontractors.

The Group strictly abides by the laws and regulations relating
to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering in Hong
Kong, including the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance. During
the reporting period, to the best of Directors’ knowledge,
the Group was not involved in any material non-compliance
incidents or material litigation, prosecution, disciplinary actions
or complaints relating to corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud or
money laundering.

BRI HEREREE

REHRE - AREEBFRBAE ([ REK
RBNDABRBEMNABMBREREULD
BENKRERZLEAE - BIINEEHRE
NAAERRII R ITRERE RESRER K
BERE - HBE106AE2MRBAZHE
A ERERES  HMANET - FFRES
BREMKE -

AEBEREBETELEEEER  BR - BGF
Ko B EDEDI KRB - BFED LR A 5
Bl - RS BEZMAM - AEEYE
BRAEMEES - WIS R - FEIOER
BAMZERERFHREAFR  BIF
ARITENIRGF o

b Anti-corruption training held by ICAC
REAZBRTRESEI
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Community

The Group believes that community contribution is essential for
sustainable development as it helps to establish a harmonious
society. The Group aims to develop long-term relations with
stakeholders based on mutual trust, respect and integrity.
The Group also seeks to make contributions to programmes
which have a positive impact on different areas of community
development (such as labour needs, youth education and social
needs). Employees are encouraged to volunteer and work
through collaboration with strategic giving as well as capacity-
building initiatives to try and create a positive impact in the
community. The Group was awarded the “Caring Company
Logo” for four consecutive years.

corlng-

comPony

R

gt

-

&

Kﬁlﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%Tﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁééﬁ
ER REAPRUNGBLE - AREEE
B EZTBAREE Eﬁﬁiuﬁﬂh
MEMEIERE - AKRETAEEAYHERE
REBGEZENAB (MEITHER  FLF
ﬂ?&ﬁwmiﬁﬁﬁaﬁ HFIsEREE
WEM@% BBEARRIE - *WH%“
BENRITES - “W%ﬁEﬂLFﬁ@‘
$§l$ﬁﬂiﬁhfﬁﬁfﬁlhm

b Caring Company Logo of 2021/2022
2021/20224 7 S R 1B AR 55

Caring for the neighbourhood

As our construction projects can be a nuisance to the
surrounding environment, we recognise the importance of
maintaining good relations with the local community near our
project sites. We are proactive in communicating with the local
community to understand and respond to their concerns. The
local community has also recognised our efforts. As COVID-19
was running rampant during the reporting period, we distributed
anti-pandemic supplies to our employees and visitors to help
mitigating the risks of transmission of COVID-19.
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Contribution to society =7 7¢84

BRI HEREREE

During the reporting period, the Group supported and donated HRREHME @ ANEBMEASHEETIFRIBRK
HK$170,480 (2020/2021: HK$144,000) for charities. The details 170,480/ 7T (2020 /20214 : 14400078 7T ) ©

are as follows: BEFBOT :

Event

TEE

Resource Contributed
BERER

Money contribution
(HKD)/Activity hours
(hours)/Supplies

BR(GERT),
SEBRE(NE), AR
Sponsorship for IMADA x Thalassaemia Charity Golf 2021, $20,000.0
organised by Children’s Thalassaemia Foundation 20,000.07 7T
BEHREIxtPEENREESEESHRRE2021 -
HitFEE MR EES F I
Sponsorship for Maggie’s Cancer Caring Centre and AIA Group Charity Golf Day 2022, $32,000.0
organised by Maggie's Cancer Caring Centre and AlA Group 32,000.0/ 7T
Ey#HEERETORRARBEESHERRE2022
F SR T RIE AR P O R DR I
Donation for TWGHs Celebrity Chefs Charity Dinner, $15,000.0
organised by Tung Wah Group of Hospitals 15,000.0% 7T
BUWRE=-REFEREER
MRE=FT
Sponsorship for the 34th Cup of Kindness Charity Day, $31,500.0
organised by Hong Kong Golf Club 31,500.0/ 7T
BYEMETHRREEE
BEBTRRIREG LI
Sponsorship and site visit for HKCA YMS Annual Sponsorship Scheme 2022, $60,000.0
organised by The Hong Kong Construction Association Young Members Society 6 hours
BYERRERNSEFEFERYITE2022K i 8817 5% - 60,000.078 7T
mEBRERSEFEIM 6/ N
Donation to the Hong Kong Construction Association Charity Fund Limited $10,000.0
RO EBREREREESEMRAA 10,000.07& 7T
Donation to the H.K.S.K.H. Wong Tai Sin District Elderly Community Centre $1,980.0;

BYEBEAEEAUREGSRB PO

Lo Pan Rice Campaign

organised by The Hong Kong Construction Association
BURITE

HEBEEESIM

BIERERAT

400 COVID-19 Rapid
Antigen Tests kits
1,980.0/8 7T
400EH BB MR B EF B
REFUFERBIER

5 hours

5/NE
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b HKCA Young Members Society Site Visit b Lo Pan Rice Campaign

AARERNETFEHBEE BITRITE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORTING

GUIDE INDEX

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) (Note 1)

Section/Statement

BRI - HERERBEESIRBTRS

Page number

TEHE - BH - —REERBRERERESR (M) =4-G 0 R =N
Subject Area A. Environmental
TEHBA RE
Aspect A1 Emissions
EEA1HHLY
General Disclosure Information on: Environmental 78-81
—RIBEE (@) the policies; and Management; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and Emissions
regulations that have a significant impact on RIBE . LB
the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
BRBERIBRERBYR - MKk eEes - 55
MEEREM I ELESN
@ %Rk
b) BTHBITAEEAXLENREMEERRAI L
aht -
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions Emissions 82
BRENIEEAT 1 data. B
PERUIE R AR BE R BUR -
KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) Emissions 84-86
FREMISEAT.2 Greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where BER

KPI' A1.3
BRENIEEREALI

KPI A1.4
BRENIEEA1.4

appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

B (BE1) RkeglRME & (B E2) R =REBHME (A
MEAE)R(NBER)BE(WABESEL - BER
MR E) -

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and,
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
FELAEEREEMASE(UMHE)R(NER)EE
(WMABESEN - BEHRHEE) °

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
FrELEEEEYEE(UETE) R(MER)RE
(WMAGESEN - §HERMTE)

No significant
hazardous wastes
produced.
WRELASA
BEEREY -
Emissions

BER

BIZRERAFA

Not applicable
TER

87-88
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) (Note 1)
FTEHE - BH  —RESRBRENSZ(ME)

Section/Statement

B

Page number
EON

KPI A1.5
BREMIERALS

KPI A1.6
BREMIERALS

Description of emissions target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.
M PTRT S BN E B 1R MBI %S B IR R &

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes are handled, and a description of
reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.

RLEREENREZERNNITE - RARAET IR
HEBRERERZS B IEMRRE LR -

Aspect A2 Use of Resources

BEA2ERER
General Disclosure

—RiRE

KPI A2.1
BRAAMIERA2.1

KPI A2.2
BRENIEEREA2.2

KPI A2.3
BREMIERA2.3

KPI A2.4
BRERIEERA2.4

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including
energy, water and other raw materials.

BRERER(BIELR - K E MR ED BB

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by
type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in
'‘000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

REAESNEER SEEER(NE - |3ioh)
RREBATETERABE)RBE(WASEES
i - BIERIEE) ©

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per
unit of production volume, per facility).
BFEKERTE(MABESEN - BIERMEH)
Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set
and steps taken to achieve them.

R FAET MR E A B B R ABIRZE B IRATR
) P8R o

Description of whether there is any issue in
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.

Fii s SRERGE AR /KR AT A AT PARPRET 2898
KXY B RERRERZE B IZMERA T -
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Environmental
Management; and
Emissions
RIRERE
KRR
Environmental
Management; and
Emissions
RIEER

S&735¢7)

Environmental
Management; and
Use of Resources

RIREE
R&EREHA
Use of Resources

BIRE M

Use of Resources

BIREM

Environmental
Management; and
Use of Resources

RIRERE
RE R

Environmental
Management; and
Use of Resources

RRERE

R EREA

80, 83, 85-90, 95

79-80, 87-88

79-80, 90-92

91

92

80, 90-91

80, 92
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) (Note 1)

Section/Statement

Page number

TELGE  BH - —REERBEEERIEEED EH HR
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished It is not relevant to Not applicable
BRENIERA25 products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with  the Group’s business. T A
reference to per unit produced. Ih I8 B R AR
HRDAAEEMBNESE (CAEAE) R(NER) EIETAER -
BAEESMIEE -
Aspect A3 The Environment and Natural Resources
BEAIRERXARER
General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant Environmental 78-80, 93
—REE impacts on the environment and natural resources. Management; and
BRETAHRBERRAEREKEAFZENEE © The Environment and
Natural Resources
RIFEEIE
MIRFERRAER
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities ~ The Environment and 93
BRENIERA3AN on the environment and natural resources and the Natural Resources
actions taken to manage them. REMRAER
R EBRDERERRAERNERNTE RELRR
ERERTENT -
Aspect A4 Climate Change
BEAIRIZEE
General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of Climate Change 94-100
—REE significant climate-related issues which have RIrEt
impacted and those which may impact, the issuer.
ERBINEHEER R HRTAELRENE
RRBEAABFEEHBE -
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related Climate Change 94-100
BREMIEEAL issues which have impacted, and those which AR

may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to
manage them.

LD SR AT S H BT AEEFENERNRIZER
FEH - REHTH -
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) (Note 1) Section/Statement Page number
TELGE  BH - —REEREZEREEIED EH HR
Subject Area B. Social
FTEHEBHE
Employment and Labour Practice
EREZIER
Aspect B1 Employment
EEB1ER
General Disclosure* Information on: Employment 101-104
— R E (a) the policies; and B1%

(b) compliance with relevant laws and

regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal,

recruitment and promotion, working hours,

rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-

discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

ERAHI R E  BERET - TESE - RE - F

EE  Znlb - RIERUREMSE MBI

(@) HE: R

b) ETHETABEAXENHEBERZ LRI
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type Employment 105
BB AE MIEIEB1 .1 (for example, full- or part-time), age group and &R

geographical region.

BRI BEER(DIM2BAERE)  FHRAERR

WEREIDHESEE -
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group Employment 105
BEENIEEB1.2 and geographical region. =

BIER - FRARI REE D HEERKLLE
Aspect B2 Health and Safety
EBEB2EERZE
General Disclosure Information on: Health and Safety 106-109
—RIEE (a) the policies; and BELELE

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on

the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment
and protecting employees from occupational

FRARKZE2TERERREEESREBELRES

hazards.
7 -
(a) BUR: K&

b) BEBTHETAGERZENHRRER AR

BH o
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) (Note 1)

Section/Statement

Page number

TELGE  BH - —REERBEEERIEEED EH HR
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities Health and Safety 109
BEENIEEB2.1 occurred in each of the past three years including EE;ZE
the reporting year.
RBE=ZF(BEERFRE)BFEAIFE@ARMIET
AR & o
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety 109
BRARIESEB2.2 ETIGELRIEAR - HERZE
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and Health and Safety 106-109
BEENIEEB2.3 safety measures adopted, and how they are BRE;ZZ
implemented and monitored.
R PTER AN O BB R R R B 22 2 4 - DA NABRERTT I
ERNE -
Aspect B3 Development and Training
B EB3% /R R1ZF
General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and Development and 110
—REE skills for discharging duties at work. Description Training
of training activities. R R AE
BRRTHE S BT LIRS & A R AL BUR ©
MIEFEED -
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender Development and 111
BRENIEEB3. and employee category. Training
AR REEERNEONTIIEEB DL - R R IE
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per Development and 111
BAREMIEEB3.2 employee by gender and employee category. Training
IR R EBERED - BAEBTREIIN TR R AT
2o
Aspect B4 Labour Standards
JBEIB45F T8
General Disclosure Information on: Labour Standards 112
—RIBE (@) the policies; and AT
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer
relating to preventing child or forced labour.
BRI IFETam S TH
(@ BER: &
(b) BFHBETATERZENHBBER RN
ikt -
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment Labour Standards 112
B ENIEEBA practices to avoid child and forced labour. 2 T 2R
R F RIS B BRI R ME LA o T RORHIS5 T o
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - HERERHRSE

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) (Note 1) Section/Statement

Page number

TELGE  BH - —REEREZEREEIED - HR
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such Labour Standards 112
BEENIEEBL.2 practices when discovered. 2 T 2R

AR IR R RIS NROE R B BB R R 25 o
Operating Practices
EERA
Aspect B5 Supply Chain Management
BEBSHE#ETE
General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social Supply Chain 113-114
—RiEE risks of the supply chain. Management

ERHEENRE R ERBBUR - HiEEE IR
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain 114
B E B IEBS5.1 iR B S HEEEE - Management

HERER

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging Supply Chain 113-114
B ERIEEBS.2 suppliers, number of suppliers where the practices Management

are being implemented, and how they are HEEER

implemented and monitored.

R BB BHEENIED - MERTERENAH

EEEE - ARIBEBEHINRTRERIE
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify Supply Chain 113-114
B ENIEZEBS.3 environmental and social risks along the supply Management

chain, and how they are implemented and HEEE R

monitored.

i BRI B RS ERE M RIE Rt @R 1E

Bl - ARIEREIT RERZFEDNIE -
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote Supply Chain 113-114
BEENIEEBS 4 environmentally preferrable products and services Management

when selecting suppliers, and how they are HEEE R

implemented and monitored.
M EREHERRRESBRRER RRBHNE
Bl - ARAERERIT R EER A EDIN L -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - HERERRSE

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) (Note 1)

Section/Statement

Page number

TEHE - BH - —RESEREEERIER (I =3- ) g B
Aspect B6 Product Responsibility
[EEBSEBEF
General Disclosure Information on: Product 114, 117-118
—RiE (a) the policies; and Responsibility

(b) compliance with relevant laws and EmEE

KPI B6.1
AR ENIEEB6.1

KPI B6.2

B A MIE15B6.2

KPI B6.3
BARAMIEHB6.3

KPI B6.4
MR EMIEEREB6.4

KPI B6.5
BB AEMIEHB6.5

regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling
and privacy matters relating to products and
services provided and methods of redress.
BRFRHERMRBHORERZ S B -
TEBFEEURBRITEN
(@) HBE: M
(b) BFHBETATERZENHEBERZ AN

Percentage of total products sold or shipped

subject to recalls for safety and health reasons.
EENEEXREmAR T AR 2 BRI M m/AR YK
B -

Number of products and service related
complaints received and how they are dealt with.
BEIERA O ZE i MURTS VIR AR BB A R T 0% -
Description of practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual property rights.

fi it BB AR B AR E R AR 1B )
Description of quality assurance process and recall
procedures.

B ERTRREREMDYRT -

Description of consumer data protection and
privacy policies, how they are implemented and
monitored.

B EERRERALBEE - ARBREHITRE
BHE e

BIERERAT

It is not relevant to

the Group’s business.

b I8 B A
EIE TR -
Product
Responsibility
EmEE
Product
Responsibility
EmEE
Product
Responsibility
EmEE
Product
Responsibility
EmEE

Not applicable
N iE A

116

117

115-116

117-118
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - HERERHRSE

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) (Note 1)

Section/Statement

Page number

TELGE  BH - —REEREZEREEIED EH HR
Aspect B7 Anti-corruption
EBEB/RESS
General Disclosure Information on Anti-corruption 118-119
—RiBE (a) the policies; and RESF

(b) compliance with relevant laws and

regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money

laundering.

BRI LB - 9% - BEFRARE

(@) EE: R

b) BFHBETABERAZENHEBERZ AN
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding No case discovered Not applicable
AR ENIEEBT . corrupt practices brought against the issuer or its REIREZ TiE R

employees during the reporting period and the

outcomes of the cases.

RIEHEH BT AR EERL I EFENESH

AEMHBE MFAER
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and Anti-corruption 118
BEENIEEBT.2 whistle-blowing procedures, and how they are k&S

implemented and monitored.

A S e R B BIRT - ARMEERNTRERS

& e
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to Anti-corruption 119
BRENIEZEBT.3 directors and staff. R&5

fmESRN B TIRENREFE -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - HERERRSE

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) (Note 1)
FTEHE - BH > —RESERBREISZ(ME)

Section/Statement Page number
B it HR

Community

HE

Aspect B8 Community Investment

[EEBS# ERE
General Disclosure

—RIRE

KPI B8.1
BARAR WIS RBS.1

KPI B8.2
B YIS 1RB8.2

Policies on community engagement to understand
the needs of the communities where the issuer
operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’ interests.
ERADESER T RBEITAEEMTHRTZME
REEBHZDHEEBLRMRABER

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,
environmental concerns, labour needs, health,
culture, sport).

EIrERERB(ONHE RBREFEE LHIFK &
Bk 885) -

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the
focus area.

EEIHEMBAER(NSENER) o

Note 1: All general disclosures and KPIs under “Subject Area A. Environmental” and “Subject
Area B. Social” are “comply or explain” provisions which set out in the ESG Guide.

Community
Investment

HERRE

Community
Investment

HERE

Community
Investment

HERRE

120

120-121

121

MR A —MEBER T EHBARE R T BHER T ]

MENRBEREMIERDRE - 4@ REAREESIF
B2 [ NESTRLAR R R -

BIERERAT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZBEN RS

EY:

To the shareholders of Wecon Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Wecon Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “"Group”) set out on pages 141 to 235, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2022, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “"HKICPA") and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including
the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB R

BREEREE

REBERPNEEHE - BREZFEIRM
BERAMGRAMBHREATRAERNERE
BN ELBEGEVBRREEXEER
KRR ER  MAERaEETREBE
KRER - TXHARMNWBZ TN EE
SEZH -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter
BRELER

Accounting for construction contracts
S fh 2 AL T
BEENNEEE

RAREZER(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNERTENEERRERER

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group's
revenue and costs recognised for construction
contracts amounted to approximately HK$986.7
million and HK$932.9 million, respectively.

HZE2022F3831BILFE - SEEMEEASNERD
WS R A B4 A986. 7B BAETTNI32OAE BT °

The Group's revenue from construction contracts
is recognised over time using the output method,
based on direct measurements of the value
transferred by the Group to the customers with
reference to the certified value of work performed up
to the end of the reporting period and the estimated
total revenue for the contracts entered into by the
Group. The Group's contract costs are recognised
when work is performed, together with any provision
for expected onerous contract.

AR BEREREBEIBEEREHRSD TR TIEHNRAE
B BEREERFAOZEHRAREMERTEFZ
BEMNEEE X EEENERAORSTNEMAE L

FHERRER - BERENAOKRARETIIERER
EFEMERA OB EELRER -
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We performed the following procedures in relation to
the recognition of revenue and costs for construction
contracts:

BMERITUATRERF - EREZES QRS MR

e performing analysis of revenue, gross profit
trend and their fluctuations, and cost structure
of construction contracts;

Hilss - ENBEMEKE) - ASEES DB
RERBETOI

e obtaining understanding and evaluating of
the Group's process and control over contract
revenue and contract cost recognition and
budget estimation;

BRI ST BEREHE NG RA HKARERIA
RIBR GETHYRAE RIEH]

® testing the calculation of the revenue and profit
recognised from construction contracts;

AR A 2 R s Mo M REHE



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter
BRELSE

Accounting for construction contracts (continued)

REANNBH B (E)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB R

RREZER(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMNERTENMEERRELER

The Group’'s revenue and costs for contract
works are quantitatively significant to the Group’s
consolidated financial statements as a whole and the
recognition of contract revenue and profit relies on
management’ s estimate of the final outcome of each
contract, which involves the exercise of significant
management judgement, particularly in forecasting
the costs to complete a contract, in valuing contract
variations, claims and potential liquidated damages
and in estimating the provision for onerous contracts.

BEEENSHNTIREmMRAYE BRELGAMBHRE
ERMEBRAEAN MAENKEIENEREEE
EEHRANKRKRERNMG  HPRITEEREES
i CESTEBZERAKNA - BEEMER] - BREK
BEETEEREER  URMGFTEBAOBE -

The accounting policies, accounting judgements
and estimates and disclosures for the recognition
of revenue from construction contracts are included
in notes 3, 4, 6 and 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BEEABREEQNMBRENSFTECR - ST HI R
FHANBBREN G M ERARMGES 4 6R17 -

e checking if the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the performance obligation
agreed with the customers’ latest architect
certificates;

ZHBEANETEE T2 ENERRTP R EE
gt —2:

e discussing with management and the respective
project teams about the progress of major
projects and the estimates and assumptions
adopted in the forecast of contract costs,
including estimated costs to completion,
assessment of potential liquidated damages
for major contracts and provision for onerous
contracts;

HERENSEEERTREEEBAERBNR -
AR FER & M APTER M 5 R RR - BRERT
AR TERONEBEE TIRERENESE
BRI ERHE

e checking the supporting documents of the
budgets on a sampling basis, which included
sub-contracting contracts, material purchase
contracts and price quotations; and

AT AZHBENZAXS  EERo B84
# - MRHRBAORRE &

i

e comparing last year's budget against current
year' s budget or actual costs incurred for major
contracts on a sampling basis.

BT AREFHNBERRAFRENBERERS
MELENBERKRAEITLE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB R

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB R
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise

professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

138

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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B RHERE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Wong Sau Pik.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King's Road

Quarry Bay

Hong Kong

24 June 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GEBEBERAMEEBAR

Year ended 31 March 2022

B ZE2022F3A318ILFE
2022 2021
2022 20214
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BaE TF#& T FHET
REVENUE W= 6 1,152,691 1,103,157
Cost of sales $HE R R (1,099,041) (1,047,756)
GROSS PROFIT ER 53,650 55,401
Other income and gains H A Rz 6 7,286 14,131
Administrative and other operating TREHEMEERS - F5E
expenses, net (44,251) (48,519)
Finance costs 2P D% 7 (129) (199)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRBBDE R 8 16,556 20,814
Income tax FTiSHi " (2,347) (1,572)
PROFIT AND TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE Z&ARIEBEEAEBEER
INCOME FOR THE YEAR HRREEB AL
ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY 14,209 19,242
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE A FRERIEBEAELER
TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE EF
COMPANY 13
— Basic and diluted —HARANEE HK1.8 cents HK2.4 cents
1.8 24740

BIZRERAFA
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e MR R

31 March 2022
2022%3H31H

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
Notes HK$’'000 HK$'000
B & FET FAET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - R MEE 14 10,272 8,148
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15 8,315 7,584
Financial asset at fair value through ZAREFFAERNSREE
profit or loss 16 4,200 2,150
Prepayments, deposits and other  TEfIFRIE - e R EMEKFIA
receivables 18 5,921 5,379
Total non-current assets FRBEELE 28,708 23,261
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Contract assets and trade BREEREHEWHIE
receivables 17 323,001 260,376
Prepayments, deposits and other ~ TE{IFIE - #&& K& H fh fEURIE
receivables 18 42,251 21,295
Financial assets at fair value RAREFABRNEREE
through profit or loss 16 15,581 17,452
Tax recoverable AT E I = 7,997
Pledged deposits EHIFR 19 34,190 42,193
Time deposits EHFER 19 23,616 5,109
Cash and bank balances BE RIRITHER 19 64,884 120,639
Total current assets B EELATE 503,523 475,061
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Trade and retention payables B S RENFIERENRE S 20 185,006 143,758
Other payables and accruals H b R FRIB R FEET & A 21 52,430 68,166
Lease liabilities HEAE 15 3,740 3,344
Tax payable JERT 1A 368 =
Total current liabilities HREEEEEE 241,544 215,268
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEERE 261,979 259,793
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT @B EHADEE
LIABILITIES 290,687 283,054
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e AR &
31 March 2022
202243H31H
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
Notes HK$’'000 HK$'000
P EE THET FET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Deferred tax liabilities FEERIEEE 22 846 728
Lease liabilities HeEAE 15 4,153 1,311
Total non-current liabilities FFREEEEE 4,999 2,039
NET ASSETS EEFE 285,688 281,015
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to equity AATEREEAEGER
holders of the Company
Issued capital BT 23 8,000 8,000
Reserves Gt 24 277,688 273,015
Total equity R 285,688 281,015
Tsang Ka Yip Tsang Tsz Kit Jerry
BRE =R R
Director Director
EF EF
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e
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

RARRERA AR

Shares held
Issued Share Merger  under share Retained Total
capital premium* reserve*  award plan* profits* equity

it

by BE
BRARE  ROEE*  AKRE  FRERGD  RERRN EY 5
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
it FTER TER TER TER TER FTER

(note 24(i))  (note 24ii))

(HEE240)  (WrsE24(i)
At 1 April 2020 H202054 1R 8,000 91,967 18,900 - 159,102 277,969
Profit and total comprehensive  FAEFIRZERALE

income for the year = = = = 19,242 19,242
Final 2020 dividend RE2020FRE 12 - (15,200) - - - (15,200)
Purchase of shares held under B ERER (A % &

share award plan FBRA 24 (i) = = = 99¢) = (99¢)
At 31 March 2021 and R02163A318 R

1 April 2021 20214818 8,000 76,767 18,900 (996) 178,344 281,015
Profit and total comprehensive  FMiaH K2 ERA LR

income for the year = = = = 14,209 14,209
Final 2021 dividend RE2021ERE 12 - (9,536) - - - (9,536)
At 31 March 2022 M202243A318 8,000 67,231 18,900 (996) 192,553 285,688

& These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$277,688,000 (2021: * ZERE EE @ FEReMBERRA 2%\ W_E"J A RE
HK$273,015,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position. 277,688,000/ 7T.(20214F : 273,015,000/ 7T) °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

AR TER
a0y = 3 37 J)ILER
Year ended 31 March 2022
HZE2022F3A31AILFE

2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B e THERT FAET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETBHMERERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax Rt A& A 16,556 20,814
Adjustments for: ERE
Finance costs TSR AR 129 199
Interest income FEMA 6 (225) (1,592)
Other income HAbgg A (15) (28)
Gain on disposal of financial assets at HERAREFABRNEE
fair value through profit or loss, net BE 2 Wa - 558 6 (1,176) S
Dividend income from equity RAREF ABRNRERE
investments at fair value through profit Z BB A
or loss 6 (1,173) =
Fair value loss/(gain) on financial assets BARBETABENEMERE
at fair value through profit or loss, net ZAREEE(KR)  FHE 8 629 (601)
Foreign exchange gains b 5 s 9) (©)
Depreciation of property, M - BERJEBINE
plant and equipment 2,175 2,640
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEERE 5,155 4,900
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWE - BERKBEE 2
plant and equipment &8 = 94
Impairment of contract assets, net SRBERE  FH 62 122
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of B S RUGRIERE, CRESR
trade receivables, net =) - FEE 8 (14) 11
22,094 26,556
Decrease/(increase) in contract assets BHEENEFEWFIA
and trade receivables L,/ (1) (62,673) 74,218
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, TARRIE - 2e RE fth EUGRIE
deposits and other receivables WA, (g ) (21,498) 24,748
Increase/(decrease) in trade and BESENFERENRE
retention payables =, Cd) 41,248 (39,448)
Decrease in other payables and accruals — Efth &< 5/ 18 J% fE =1 & AR 2> (15,736) (37,408)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations &< EBNATE (FTA)EE (36,565) 48,666
Interest portion of lease payments HERNRFEEH S (96) (153)
Hong Kong profits tax refunded/(paid) BRE (B EEFISH 6,136 (10,024)
Net cash flows from/(used in) EEEAE (TR ELRE
operating activities FEE (30,525) 38,489
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERERER
Year ended 31 March 2022
E202253ANBIEFE
2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B s TET FAET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZHMBRERNE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received BURLE 225 1,592
Purchases of items of property, BEWE  BEMEEIER
plant and equipment (3,211) (4,175)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEME BERRBERZ
property, plant and equipment FrfSRR - 540
Receipt of a government grant for WEIE - BB R
property, plant and equipment IR T 48 B = 1,183
Purchases of financial assets at fair value BEZRA L ETAEBTH
through profit or loss SREE (15,574) (18,998)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets H&EZE AR BT AEZEA
at fair value through profit or loss SREEZFTFHRIE 15,949 =
Dividends received from equity WERBER AR EF ABRZ
investments at fair value through profit A & HY AR B
or loss 1,173 =
Decrease/(increase) in pledged deposits  #EIFFEFE A, (38h0) 8,003 (10,320)
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing BEEEME, (FrR)RENRE
activities SRER 6,565 (30,178)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METBHEESRE
ACTIVITIES
New bank loans HIRTTER 40,000 106,000
Repayment of bank loans EERITER (40,000) (106,000)
Purchase of shares held under B BRI (D B BT FE
share award plan R&1n 24(ii) - (996)
Interest paid BEARFIE (33) (46)
Principal portion of lease payments HENHA2EH (3,721) (7,094)
Dividend paid BT E (9,536) (15,200)
Net cash flows used in financing activities BIE/EEIFTAR S MEFEE (13,290) (23,336)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
n/-_r\ IE%UH:E%

Year ended 31 March 2022

E2022F3ANBLEFE
2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes HK$'000 HK$ 000
B e THERT FAET
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH HERBESZEEYRL FEE
EQUIVALENTS (37,250) (15,025)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning F#R&RREEFEY
of year 125,748 140,773
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes  JNEF|REB) 2 2 2 =
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FERBEERELSEZEY
END OF YEAR 88,500 125,748
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH RERASEEBYERR 2N
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances R e RIRITHER 19 64,884 120,639
Non-pledged time deposits with REERRIAB DN =1
original maturity of less than three FEHR IR BT K
months when acquired 19 23,616 5,109
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in ~ SZRAFBRRKRLGERERE
the consolidated statements of financial ~ ERFFIZRERRESEEY
position and consolidated statements of
cash flows 88,500 125,748
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R 5 #R 2R B

31 March 2022
2022%3H31H

148

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

The Company is an exempted company incorporated in
the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 23 March 2018.
The registered address of the Company is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman lIslands. The principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong is located at Room 1801-1802, 18/F.,
Tung Hip Commercial Building, 244-252 Des Voeux Road
Central, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. During
the year, the Group's subsidiaries were principally engaged
in the provision of building construction and repair,
maintenance, alteration and addition ("RMAA") services.

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate holding
company and the ultimate holding company of the
Company is Triple Arch Limited, which was incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI").
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71 fff #o 1 & Cricket Square, Hutchins
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CORPORATE AND GROUP

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries

INFORMATION

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows:

Name registration and business share capital
£8 &L BE#{T
B ES S b EBERRA
Wecon Holdings (BVI) Limited* BVI US$1
EBRAHE ordinary
1ETL
Bl
Wecon Limited Hong Kong HK$2,600,100
BIBARAA N ordinary
2,600,100 7T
EER
Wecon Construction & Hong Kong HK$3,200,000
Engineering Limited 9 ordinary
BIREERANA 3,200,000 7T
el
RH Studio Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000
BB ordinary
10,0007 7T
TR

* Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member firm of the Ernst

& Young global network

Place of incorporation/

Issued ordinary

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS IR AR B L

31 March 2022
20229 3H31H

1. RARAEEER(E)

BERMEBARER

ARRMBAR ZFBEWT

Percentage of equity

attributable to the Company

ARRAEEREE DL

Direct Indirect

BE il
100 =

- 100

- 100

- 100

* KEEBRAE

BIZRERAH

Principal
activities

TRER

Investment holding
RABER

Provision of building
construction and

maintenance services

RUEETRERRERS

Provision of building
construction services

R EFRERD

Provision of building
information modelling

services

RAZEEBERRY

o

iR Pk A 22k BT AT =

N
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BF RS ¥R AR MY At

31 March 2022
2022 3H31H

2.1

150

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

These financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss which have been measured at
fair value. These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand (HK$'000) except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group
the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases. Profit or loss and each component of
other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control described
above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

BIZRERAH
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B RS IR AR B L

31 March 2022
20229 3H31H
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BF RS ¥R AR MY At

31 March 2022
2022 3H31H

2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary, (i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any investment
retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit
or loss. The Group's share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified
to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

152

DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for
the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform —
Phase 2

Amendments to HKFRS
9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021

Amendment to HKFRS 16

The adoption of the above revised standards has had no
significant financial effect on these financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RS IR AR B L

31 March 2022
20229 3H31H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG 23 EHEMEEAEMNBEBHBER
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS XA

AEBRZEDBERERMEERANTE

MR E &R E BT E] RS T BB

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 17

Amendment to HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Reference to the Conceptual

Framework’
GSale or Contribution of Assets

between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture?

Insurance Contracts?

Insurance Contracts?®

Initial Application of HKFRS 17
and HKFRS 9 — Comparative

Information?

Classification of Liabilities as

Current or Non-current® 4

Disclosure of Accounting Policies?

Definition of Accounting Estimates?

TR -

BRPBRELEAES
EACCHEN)

ERIISHELENE
10 KB ESTE
BIZ5285% (1E7TA)
(2014F)

BRI ISHRE LS
17%%

BEERHRELEE
1757 (BT AS)

BB EREERE
175 (BRI A)

ERGEAFER
SEHES)

BLHER Z 18

REEHABENA]
HEELEZAZ
BEHERTE

REBEHAP

REBE#PS

BAEREEYNHR
EERIE17HRE
BYBHEERES
B HEBER

WRESERREZ
E

BREMEUNFRR RKESHEF
ERMBREER
EBRBAE2R(E
IA)

EE G ERFER Bitihat 2 E &
CHEN)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BF RS ¥R AR MY At

31 March 2022
2022 3H31H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

AN —

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single

Transaction?

Property, Plant and Equipment:

Proceeds before Intended Use'

Onerous Contracts — Cost of

Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to HKFRS 1,
HKFRS 9, Illustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and
HKAS 411

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong Kong Interpretation 5

Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was revised in October
2020 to align the corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

5 As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in October 2020,
HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption that permits insurers
to apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before 1

January 2023
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected
to be applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 are intended to replace a
reference to the previous Framework for the Preparation
and Presentation of Financial Statements with a reference
to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
issued in June 2018 without significantly changing its
requirements. The amendments also add to HKFRS 3
an exception to its recognition principle for an entity to
refer to the Conceptual Framework to determine what
constitutes an asset or a liability. The exception specifies
that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be
within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if they
were incurred separately rather than assumed in a business
combination, an entity applying HKFRS 3 should refer to
HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 respectively instead of the
Conceptual Framework. Furthermore, the amendments
clarify that contingent assets do not qualify for recognition
at the acquisition date. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments prospectively from 1 January 2022. Since the
amendments apply prospectively to business combinations
for which the acquisition date is on or after the date of
first application, the Group will not be affected by these
amendments on the date of transition.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BF RS ¥R AR MY At

31 March 2022
2022 3H31H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

156

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and
in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a
gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction when
the sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture constitutes a business.
For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute
a business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent
of the unrelated investor's interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA
in January 2016 and a new mandatory effective date will
be determined after the completion of a broader review of
accounting for associates and joint ventures. However, the
amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The
amendments specify that if an entity’s right to defer
settlement of a liability is subject to the entity complying
with specified conditions, the entity has a right to defer
settlement of the liability at the end of the reporting
period if it complies with those conditions at that date.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood
that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of
the liability. The amendments also clarify the situations that
are considered a settlement of a liability. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023 and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
require entities to disclose their material accounting
policy information rather than their significant accounting
policies. Accounting policy information is material if, when
considered together with other information included in an
entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected
to influence decisions that the primary users of general
purpose financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance on how
to apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy
disclosures. Amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and earlier
application is permitted. Since the guidance provided in
the amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 is non-
mandatory, an effective date for these amendments is not
necessary. The Group is currently assessing the impact
of the amendments on the Group's accounting policy
disclosures.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting
policies. Accounting estimates are defined as monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how
entities use measurement techniques and inputs to develop
accounting estimates. The amendments are effective for
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 and apply to changes in accounting policies and
changes in accounting estimates that occur on or after
the start of that period. Earlier application is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
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FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception so that it no longer applies to
transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences, such as leases and decommissioning
obligations. Therefore, entities are required to recognise
a deferred tax asset and a deferred tax liability for
temporary differences arising from these transactions. The
amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and shall be applied
to transactions related to leases and decommissioning
obligations at the beginning of the earliest comparative
period presented, with any cumulative effect recognised as
an adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits
or other component of equity as appropriate at that date.
In addition, the amendments shall be applied prospectively
to transactions other than leases and decommissioning
obligations. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting
from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing
that asset to the location and condition necessary for it
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds
from selling any such items, and the cost of those items,
in profit or loss. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and shall be
applied retrospectively only to items of property, plant and
equipment made available for use on or after the beginning
of the earliest period presented in the financial statements
in which the entity first applies the amendments. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37,
the cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that
relate directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to
a contract include both the incremental costs of fulfilling
that contract (e.g., direct labour and materials) and an
allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling that
contract (e.g., an allocation of the depreciation charge
for an item of property, plant and equipment used in
fulfilling the contract as well as contract management and
supervision costs). General and administrative costs do not
relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless they
are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under the
contract. The amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and shall be applied
to contracts for which an entity has not yet fulfilled all its
obligations at the beginning of the annual reporting period
in which it first applies the amendments. Earlier application
is permitted. Any cumulative effect of initially applying the
amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to the
opening equity at the date of initial application without
restating the comparative information. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's
financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
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FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, Illustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41. Details of the
amendments that are expected to be applicable to the
Group are as follows:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that
an entity includes when assessing whether the terms
of a new or modified financial liability are substantially
different from the terms of the original financial
liability. These fees include only those paid or received
between the borrower and the lender, including fees
paid or received by either the borrower or lender on
the other’s behalf. An entity applies the amendment to
financial liabilities that are modified or exchanged on
or after the beginning of the annual reporting period
in which the entity first applies the amendment. The
amendment is effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2022. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendment is not expected to have a
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

HKFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of payments
from the lessor relating to leasehold improvements in
[llustrative Example 13 accompanying HKFRS 16. This
removes potential confusion regarding the treatment
of lease incentives when applying HKFRS 16.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible
by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
contract assets and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’'s recoverable amount is
the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’'s value
in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does
not generate cash inflows that are largely independent
of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which
case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. In testing
a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the
carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters
building) is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if
it can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or,
otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in
which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal
of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in
the period in which it arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for
its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss
in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where
the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for
a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount
of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of
property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual
assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis or
reducing balance basis to write off the cost of each item
of property, plant and equipment to its residual value over
its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for
this purpose are as follows:
Land and buildings Over the shorter of the lease

term and 25 years

Leasehold improvements Over the lease terms

Machinery and equipment ~ 20% on the reducing balance
basis

Furniture, fixtures and 20% on the reducing balance

office equipment basis

Motor vehicles 20% on the reducing balance

basis
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset
is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-
use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and
lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the lease terms or the estimated useful lives
of the assets as follows:

Leased buildings Over the lease term

Motor vehicle 20% on the reducing balance basis

If ownership of the leased asset is transferred to the
Group by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects
the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is
calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The
lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on
an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option
to terminate. The variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as an
expense in the period in which the event or condition
that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit
in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities
is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition,
the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured
if there is a modification, a change in the lease term,
a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index
or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of offices (that is
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option). It also applies the recognition
exemption for leases of low-value assets to leases of
scanners and copiers that are considered to be of low
value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Financial assets

Financial assets are initially recognised on the trade date,
that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase the
asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
period generally established by regulation or convention in
the marketplace.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and classification of financial assets

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on their contractual cash flow characteristics and
the business model for managing the instruments. Financial
assets are classified as measured at amortised cost, fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL") or fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI") (either with
recycling to profit or loss for debt instruments or without
recycling to profit or loss for equity investments). On initial
recognition, the Group measures a financial asset (unless
it is a trade receivable without a significant financing
component that is initially measured at the transaction
price) at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset
not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition of the financial asset. The transaction
costs of financial assets carried at FVTPL are recognised in
profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered
in their entirety when determining whether their cash flows
are solely payment of principal and interest.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and classification of financial assets (continued)

The measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if they
meet both of the following conditions and are not
designated as at FVTPL:

e  They are held within a business model whose objective
is to hold financial assets to collect contractual cash
flows; and

e The contractual terms of the financial assets give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Debt investments at FVOCI
A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of

the following conditions and is not designated at FVTPL:

e |t is held with a business model whose objective is
achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and
selling financial assets; and

® |ts contractual terms give rise on specified dates to

cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and classification of financial assets (continued)
Equity investment at FVOCI

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is
not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to
present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value
in other comprehensive income. This election is made on
an investment-by-investment basis.

Financial assets at FVTPL

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised
cost or FVOCI as described above are measured at FVTPL.
This included all derivative financial assets and equity
investments that are held for trading. On initial recognition,
the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured
at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so
eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch
that would otherwise arise.

Financial assets are held for trading when they have been
purchased or issued primarily for short-term profit making
through trading activities or form part of a portfolio of
financial instruments that are managed together, for which
there is evidence of a recent pattern of short-term profit
taking.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement
Financial assets at amortised cost

These financial assets (including loans and receivables) are
subsequently measured at amortised cost. Amortised cost is
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium
on issued funds, and costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate (“EIR").

Debt investments at FVOCI

Debt investments at FVOCI are subsequently measured at
fair value. Interest income calculated using the effective
interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses and
impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains
and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income.
On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

Equity investments at FVOCI

Equity investments at FVOCI are subsequently measured
at fair value. Dividends are recognised as other income in
profit or loss when the Group's right to receive payments is
established unless the dividend clearly represent a recovery
of part of the cost of investment. Other net gains and
losses are recognised in other comprehensive income and
cannot be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL are subsequently measured at
fair value. Except for derivatives designated as hedging
instruments, changes in fair value are recognised as net
gains or losses in profit or loss. Interest and dividend
income are recognised as other income in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised
cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is classified at FVTPL
if it is held for trading, is a derivative or is designated as
such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are
measured at fair value with net gain or losses, including
interest expenses, recognised in profit or loss.

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Interest expenses and foreign exchange gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on
derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss.

Financial guarantees contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are
those contracts that require a payment to be made to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the
specified debtor fails to make a payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A financial
guarantee contract is recognised initially as a liability at its
fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent
to initial recognition, the Group measures the financial
guarantee contract at the higher of: (i) an expected credit
loss (“ECL"); and (ii) the amount initially recognised less,
when appropriate, cumulative amortisation.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Reclassification of financial assets and liabilities

The Group does not reclassify its financial assets
subsequent to their initial recognition, apart from the
exceptional circumstances in which the Group acquires,
disposes of, or terminates a business line. Financial
liabilities are never reclassified. The Group did not reclassify
any of its financial assets or liabilities during the year.

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group's
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement.
In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or
the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified
and the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially
different, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a
new liability. The difference between the respective carrying
value of the original financial liability and the consideration
paid is recognised in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

HKFRS 9 requires the Group to record an allowance for
ECLs for financial assets measured at amortised cost, debt
instruments measured at FVOCI and contract assets as
defined in HKFRS 15.

The ECL allowance is based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive.
The shortfall is then discounted at an approximation to
the asset’s original EIR and other debt securities and bank
balances for which credit risk has not increased significantly
since initial recognition.

For all contract assets (defined below) and trade
receivables, the Group has applied HKFRS 9's simplified
approach and has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based
on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

Other financial assets are assessed for impairment based on
12-month ECLs: 12-month ECLs are the portion of lifetime
ECLs that result from default events that are possible
within the 12 months after the end of each of the year (or a
shorter period if the expected life of the asset is less than
12 months).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when the
contractual payment day is more than 1.5 years past due. As
the customers of the Group are mainly well-known property
developers, the Government and quasi-Government
organisations and there was no history of default in prior
years, the directors of the Company considered the default
rate is minimal. However, in certain cases, the Group may
also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal
or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely
to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements held
by the Group.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Contract assets

Upon entering into a contract with a customer, the Group
obtains rights to receive consideration from the customer
and assumes performance obligations to transfer goods
or provide service to the customer. A contract asset is
recognised when the Group has the right to consideration
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer when that right is conditional on
something other than the passage of time (for example,
the Group's future performance). A contract asset becomes
a trade receivable when receipt of the consideration is
conditional only on the passage of time.

The contract assets relate to unbilled work in progress and
have substantially the same characteristics as the trade
receivables for the same type of contracts. Impairment
policy for trade receivables as explained above also applies
to contract assets.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from
a customer before the Group transfers the related goods
or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue
when the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers
control of the related goods or services to the customer).

Shares held under share award plan

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by
the Company or the Group (treasury shares) are recognised
directly in equity at cost. No gain or loss is recognised in
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Group’s own equity instruments.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statements of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known amounts
of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group's cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statements of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

® in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right
to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and
the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and all attaching conditions will be complied with.
When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised
as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the
costs, which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released to
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income over the expected useful life of the relevant asset
by equal annual instalments or deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and released to the statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income by way of a
reduced depreciation charge.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable based on the consideration specified
in a contract with a customer for the services in the ordinary
course of the Group's activities. Revenue is shown net of
discounts. Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies
a performance obligation by transferring a promised goods
or services (that is an asset) to a customer. An asset is
transferred when (or as) the customer obtains control of
that asset; and when specific criteria have been met for
each of the Group's activities on the following bases:

(@) Revenue from construction contracts and RMAA
revenues are recognised when or as the control of the
asset is transferred to the customer.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the
laws that apply to the contract, control of the asset
may transfer over time or at a point in time. Control
of the asset is transferred over time if the Group's
performance:

() provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer; or

(i) creates and enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

(i) does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right
to payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of
that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)
(@) (continued)

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation is measured based on direct
measurements of the value of individual services
transferred by the Group to the customer, such as
surveys of work performed, or contract milestones.

When the outcome of the contract cannot be
reasonably measured, revenue is recognised only to
the extent of contract costs incurred that are expected
to be recovered.

For the RMAA services under term contracts where
the control of the asset is transferred at a point in
time, revenue is recognised when the Group has
present right to payment and the collection of the
consideration is probable.

For construction contracts and other RMAA services,
the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
or work in progress that the customer controls as
the asset is created or enhanced and thus the Group
satisfies a performance obligation and recognises
revenue over time, by reference to completion of the
specific transaction assessed on the basis of the work
certified up to the end of the reporting period as a
percentage of total contract value for each contract.

(b) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount
of the financial asset;
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(c) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established.

Employee benefits

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the "MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund. The Group's
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an
entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’'s memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority to
declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends
are recognised immediately as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each
entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group
are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency rates
of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:

Claims to customers

Claims are amounts that the Group seeks to collect from
the customers as reimbursement for costs not included
in the contract price. The measurement of the amounts
of revenue arising from claims is subject to a high level
of uncertainty and often depends on the outcome of
negotiations. Therefore, judgement is made to determine
whether it is probable that the customers will accept
the claims and to estimate the amount of claims to be
accepted by the customers in order to recognise such
claims as contract revenue.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (continued)
Accounting for construction contracts

The Group has primary responsibility to fulfilment of the
contract and quality of the overall work and has discretion
in selecting subcontractors and determining the pricing for
subcontractors. Thus, the Group is acting as the principal
and recognises revenue on a gross basis. The Group's
revenue from construction contracts is recognised over time
using the output method and is measured in accordance
with the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligations, which is measured based on
direct measurements of the value transferred by the Group
to the customers with reference to the certified value of
the work performed. The determination of the progress of
the construction service involves judgements. The Group
has quantity surveyors to periodically measure the value
of work performed for each construction project and the
work performed also certified by the customers’ quantity
surveyors.

Budgeted contract costs are prepared by the management
on the basis of contract concluded with and/or quotations
provided by major subcontractors, suppliers or vendors
involved from time to time, the experience of the
management and current market condition. The Group
reviews and revises the estimates of contract costs to
completion, variation orders and contract claims prepared
for each contract work as the contract progresses.
Significant judgement is required in estimating contract
costs to completion, variation works and contract claims
which may have an impact to the total outcome of the
contract and recognition of profit.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.

Impairment assessment for contract assets and trade
receivables

The policy for impairment of contract assets and trade
receivables of the Group is based on the evaluation
of recoverability and ageing analysis of contract assets
and trade receivables as well as other quantitative and
qualitative information and the management calculated the
lifetime ECLs based on historical credit loss experience,
and on management’s judgement and assessment of
the forward-looking information. Management applied
judgement and estimates in assessing the ultimate
realisation of these receivables, based on the current
creditworthiness, the past collection history and subsequent
settlements of each customer. If the financial conditions of
customers of the Group were to deteriorate, resulting in
an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional
provisions may be required. The carrying amount of
contract assets and trade receivables at 31 March 2022 was
HK$323,001,000 (2021: HK$260,376,000). Further details are
disclosed in note 17 to the financial statements.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised
into business units based on their services and has two
reportable operating segments as follows:

(a) Construction contracts; and
(b) RMAA

Management monitors the results of the Group's operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit, which is a measure of adjusted profit before

tax.

The adjusted profit before tax is measured consistently with
the Group's profit before tax except that interest income,
government grants, gain on disposal of financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss, net, dividend income from
equity investments at fair value through profit or loss, fair
value gain/loss on financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, net, sundry income, loss on disposal of items
of property, plant and equipment, depreciation (unallocated
portion), impairment/reversal of impairment of contract
assets and trade receivables, net, foreign exchange
differences, finance costs and unallocated head office and
corporate expenses, are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude property, plant and equipment,
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, tax
recoverable, pledged deposits, time deposits, cash and
bank balances and other unallocated corporate assets as
these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude tax payable, deferred tax

liabilities and other unallocated corporate liabilities as
these liabilities are managed on a group basis.
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OPERATING SEGMENT

(continued)

Segment results, assets and liabilities

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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20229 3H31H

INFORMATION 5. R&HHER(E)

DEEE - EERERE

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as oAl 20224 R2021E3831H IFEE
provided to the Group's key management personnel for the BEAIRNRTEDEIRIAMS @ AARE
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment BEXrEZETEEASIRENAREF]2FK
performance for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 DEEREFIMT o

is set out below.

Construction contracts RMAA Total

BEEH EEREBIR fit
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
026  01F  200F  2021F  202F 20215
HK$'000  HK$'000 ~ HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000
Thn TATL TAr  TEn TAr  TEn

Segment revenue 2B
Revenue from external customers RESNDEP 2 K 986,696 990847 ~ 165995 112310 1,152,691 1,103,157
Segment results AREE 53,805 41,517 (155) 13884 53,650 55,401
Interest income GIETON 225 1,592
Government grants BT 133 9,986
Gain on disposal of financial assets at fair value ~ HERALBHAERNEHEE

through profit or loss, net W R 1176 =
Dividend income from equity investments at fair AR BT ABRRIRERE 2}

value through profit or loss BHA 1,173 =
Fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets at fair ~ BRAREABRNSBEEZ L

value through profit or loss, net AfEkE/ (B8) FE (629) 601
Foreign exchange gains B2 K 9 g
Sundry income HIERA 4,570 1,949
Loss on disposal of items of property, plantand &M - BiEREEEE B2

equipment = (94)
Depreciation (unallocated portion) HERAEHS) (7,034) (7,292)
Impairment of contract assets, net ARERENE  FE (62) (122)

Reversal of impairment/(impairment) of trade
receivables, net

BoRMTERERD/ (RE) -
B

14 (11)

Finance costs BTSERA (129) (199)
Unallocated head office and corporate expenses ~ RARBHREEFRZ (36,540)  (41,000)
Profit before tax Gyl 16,556 20,814
Income tax expense FiERmES (2,347) (1,572)
Profit for the year FERREH 14,209 19,242
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31 March 2022
2022 3H31H

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.
(continued)

194

Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)

RESBER(E)

Construction contracts RMAA Total

BEAH ZBREBIR At
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 20215
HK$'000  HK$'000 ~ HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TAx TExn | TExn TEr THEn  TiERn

Segment assets and liabilities PHEERER

Segment assets PEAE 306607 25,799 63,077 28,556 369,684 285355
Unallocated ADE 162,547 212,967
532,231 498,322
Segment liabilities k=L 204,766 188,065 30,835 20376 235601 208,441
Unallocated N 10,942 8,866

Geographical information

Since over 90% of the Group’'s revenue was generated
from the sales in Hong Kong and over 90% of the Group's
identifiable non-current assets were located in Hong Kong,
no geographical information in accordance with HKFRS 8
Operating Segments is presented.

Information about major customers

Revenue from each major customer which accounted for
10% or more of the Group's revenue for each of the years,
is set out below:

Customer A BEA
Customer B =B
Customer C =PFC
Customer D =FD
Customer E BFEE

*

The corresponding revenues from these customers are not disclosed as the
revenue individually did not account for 10% or more of the Group's revenue for
the year ended 31 March 2021.
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B S e SR E S B2 A
¥ o

BEEIEEFNER

i

REF  RESETEFPIEAEE RS
10%IA LRI R ETIZAT

2022 2021

20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000

T FHIT
345,433 N/A N3 F
173,440 N/A i F*
159,932 683,607
156,776 N/A I3 F
121,556 N/A 38 F *

* HRZERPNEZE2021F3A31 8 IEFEHER]
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REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RS IR AR B L

31 March 2022
20229 3H31H

6. WamKEMBAR WS

REBMBRH ST :

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FET
Revenue from contracts with customers REZEF &YW kG
Construction contracts BESH 986,696 990,847
RMAA KERBETE 165,995 112,310
1,152,691 1,103,157
Revenue from contracts with customers REFEFEHNKE
() Disaggregated revenue information (i) W7 HER
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE202263A31BLLFE
Construction
Segments contracts RMAA Total
pan:i BEEHN HEREBIRE &5t
HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
THE T THET THET
Type of services PR % 38 5l
Construction services HIERRTS 986,696 - 986,696
RMAA KEMGETRE - 165,995 165,995
Total revenue from contracts with ~ RERF A QMR
customers 986,696 165,995 1,152,691
Timing of revenue recognition ST
Over time —EEFER 986,696 26,509 1,013,205
Point in time H—FFE B = 139,486 139,486
Total revenue from contracts with ~ RERF & IR BN
customers 986,696 165,995 1,152,691
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31 March 2022
2022 3H31H

6. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 6. WEREMKARWKE(Z)
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) REEFESHNWE(E)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (continued) (i) WEsHEER(E)
For the year ended 31 March 2021 HE2021F3A3MHIEFE
Construction
Segments contracts RMAA Total
DE BESH RERMEIR &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET FAET
Type of services BR3B!
Construction services EE RS 990,847 - 990,847
RMAA KERKBETR - 112,310 112,310
Total revenue from contracts with RKERFPE R B
customers 990,847 112,310 1,103,157
Timing of revenue recognition WSS
Over time —EREEE 990,847 34,577 1,025,424
Point in time R —BSEE - 77,733 77,733
Total revenue from contracts with REBFA ORI S
customers 990,847 112,310 1,103,157
The revenue from contracts with customers recognised RABEHRMERKEZT, &
in the current reporting period that was included in AW R(R|EBIGTAELD
contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting B &) 735,949,000 7T (20214 :
period was HK$5,949,000 (2021: Nil). ) -
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6. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(i) Performance obligations

For the construction contracts and RMAA services
using the output method, the construction and
refurbishment of buildings is a single performance
obligation that the Group satisfies over time. The
construction period varies from 1.5 years to 3 years.
As at 31 March 2022, the aggregate amount of the
transaction price allocated to the remaining obligation
was HK$862,858,000 (2021: HK$1,185,703,000), and the
Group will recognise this revenue in the future when
the buildings are completed, which are expected to
occur over the next 12 to 36 months.

For the RMAA services under term contracts, the
performance obligation is satisfied upon the transfer
of control of the asset. The Group applies the practical
expedient in paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 and does not
disclose the amount of the transaction price allocated
to the remaining performance obligations for contracts
with an original expected duration of one year or less.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS IR AR B L

31 March 2022
20229 3H31H

6. WERHAEMBARKEE)

REEFENHWE(2)

(ii)

JBRIEE

HERBHLENEESHORESER
HEIRRBEMS  EFEEK
B AAEBR —EBEEREAERK
ME—BHET - BEHA15F
E3F F F o B202263H318 -
PEEHTBHOETNRSERR
%8 /5862,858,0005% 7T (20214 :
1,185,703,000/% 7T ) * A& B FR
EFRETRE(FBHARKIZE
3618 A W) HERE Bl o

SLEHIG A T ERE M e TIZR
BmE  BREETREBEEZES
ERETT - AEBEATBVHR
SFEREISEEN2NBRNATHRE
% BEXYERBESREEREHH
RAE—FRATENHR TENRE
MR HEREHE -
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31 March 2022
2022 3H31H

6. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 6. WaERHEMKARKE(E)
(continued)
Other income and gains HAb WA K Wz
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Interest income arising from loans to EFERETHEENERRR
subcontractors and bank deposits TEFMBEWA 225 1,592
Government grants* BT ARG 133 9,986
Gain on disposal of financial assets at ~ BEE AR BT ABRHSRE
fair value through profit or loss, net EZWE 0 55 1,176 =
Dividend income from equity BEARBEFABRNREREZ
investments at fair value through A2 A
profit or loss 1,173 =
Fair value gain on financial assets at BRAREFABRNEREEZ
fair value through profit or loss, net DR EWE  FHE = 601
Foreign exchange gains B 5 Ueas 9 3
Sundry income FIERA 4,570 1,949
7,286 14,131

During the year ended 31 March 2021, government grants mainly represented
the amount of HK$8,911,000 received under the Employment Support Scheme
from the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region and
the amount of HK$864,000 received under Employment Support Scheme for
the Construction Sector for casual employees from the Construction Industry
Council. There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies related to these
grants.

7. FINANCE COSTS 7.

An analysis of the Group's finance costs is as follows:

@ BE021F3A31BILFE - R E
REBBEANITRERFE RS E
8,911,000/ TIA R MBI R B BEXFZEE T
SR TR T E169864,0007 7T © B4

E

St
BB e
NS5

SRR Z RERIFIF AR -

B AR AR

AEREHTERADTIT

2022 2021

20224 20214

HK$'000 HK$'000

TFE T FAT

Interest on bank borrowings RITIERAE 33 46
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENR 96 153
129 199
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PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RS IR AR B L

31 March 2022
20229 3H31H

PR AR A

AEEBRBADEN TN, GEA) T

(crediting): BIHRBETE
2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
k=3 THET FAT
Depreciation of property, plant and M - WEKEERE
equipment 14 2,175 2,640
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEERE 15(a) 5,155 4,900
Lease payments not included in the T AHEAEFEZHEE
measurement of lease liabilities NE 701 747
Other charges in respect of rental BRAMEEME  ElE
premises 212 266
Auditor’s remuneration ZEETEN & 900 1,250
Employee benefit expense (excluding BEERMFEX(TEREES
directors’ remuneration (note 9)):* B (FI5E9) ) : *
Wages and salaries ITERF® 89,286 86,757
Pension scheme contributions (defined BIREEHEIHRCEEEHR
contribution scheme) sTE) 3,608 3,403
92,894 90,160
Gain on disposal of financial assets at HERAR B ABENE
fair value through profit or loss, net & E 2 W o R (1,176) =
Dividend income from equity BRARBET BRI RER
investments at fair value through Bz’ EMA
profit or loss (1,173) =
Fair value loss/(gain) on financial assets ~ ZAREFFAB=AN SR
at fair value through profit or loss, BEZARERE (K
net** ) R 629 (601)
Foreign exchange differences ME 5 AR 9) ©)
Impairment of contract assets, net** ABREERE - FFE 17 62 122
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of B 5 WG IERE, ClE
trade receivables, net** fEm) - FEE 17 (14) 11
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEYE - BEREZBEE
plant and equipment Z BB - 94
Provision/(write-back of provision) for ERERRRERE (B
legal fees and claims** B [m] ) ** 360 (700)

HK$68,380,000).

*k

The employee benefit expense included in cost of sales was HK$73,819,000 (2021:

Amounts are included in “Administrative and other operating expenses, net” on

the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income.

& STAHEKR AR EES Eﬂﬁﬁ?zf—m 819,000 7T
(20214F : 68,380,000/87T) °

> SECHABRRERMHEMBEEARARZIITER
Hiiefs - FEIA -
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31 March 2022
2022 3H31H

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 9. EERESTHAEEM
REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the year, BiE ETAAR] - FEQREHIZE383(1)
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (@) () EMERRAB(FEEEF
(b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and HERBOIE 2T ENAFEES
Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about FREESITHABFHMT

Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFE T FET
Fees & H 560 560
Other emoluments: EE
Salaries, allowances and benefits e EMEEMETR
in kind 3,764 3,510
Discretionary bonuses B TEAL = 690
Pension scheme contributions RSB
(defined contribution scheme) (EREHERETED) 293 275
4,057 4,475
4,617 5,035
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BYFHITEE
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors EXNENEBIIERITESHHRS W
during the year were as follows: T
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T AT
Dr. Lau Chi Keung 2IERE L 180 180
Mr. Chan Tim Yiu Raymond 7N vt 180 180
Mr. Sze Kwok Wing Nigel MEBER SR A 200 200
560 560
There were no other emoluments payable to the FAGSEENBIIFNTESNE
independent non-executive directors during the year NS (20214 : 48) ©
(2021: Nil).
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31 March 2022
20229 3H31H

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 9. EERESTHRAETFM(Z)
REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) Executive directors and the chief executive (b) BITEERESITTHRAE
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits Discretionary scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses contributions remuneration
E = 4:1 BIKEGTE
ER RENEAN MIETEAL B ) Fatet
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THERT THET FTHET THET FTHET
2022 20224
Executive directors: WITES:
Mr. Tsang Ka Yip* BREE K - 1,950 - 162 2,112
Mr. Tsang Tsz Him Philip DREER T E - 1,047 - 67 1,114
Mr. Tsang Tsz Kit Jerry LRSS - 767 — 64 831
- 3,764 - 293 4,057
2021 20214
Executive directors: WiTES:
Mr. Tsang Ka Yip* DR EE S = 1,950 345 162 2,457
Mr. Tsang Tsz Him Philip DRREE = 910 207 59 1,176
Mr. Tsang Tsz Kit Jerry DR A - 650 138 54 842
- 3,510 690 275 4,475
o Mr. Tsang Ka Yip is the executive director and the chief executive officer * BERELEARNARPITEERITHES -

of the Company.

There was no arrangement under which a director REANEE R MES R B REEM
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during B2 ZBE(20214F - &) o

the year (2021: Nil).
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B FE SRR MY 5
31 March 2022
2022 3H31H
10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 10. EEB&REHAL
The five highest paid employees during the year ended 31 BE202243A31BILFE - AE &R
March 2022 included two directors of the Company (2021: FNEE BIEARRTIANMEEE(2021
one), details of whose remuneration are set out in note 9 F—F) HFMWFBIHN LXMW
above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining three 9o HBR=RZ(20215F 1 WB)FEEKR
(2021: four) non-director and non-chief executive highest IEEITHRAERSHMEERFRNZ
paid employees for the year are as follows: FFISETIT
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&T FRETT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind & ~ EBE R EWEH 5,282 7,998
Pension scheme contributions RIS ET B 111 128
5,393 8,126
The number of the non-director and non-chief executive T Ny EERNIFEERIEEETT
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the BABSSHMES ABHIINT

following bands is as follows:

Number of employees

EEHE

2022 2021

20224 20214

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHT

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7% 1,500,000/ 7T 1 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001;% 7T £ 2,000,000/ 7T 1 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7T & 3,000,0007% 7T 1 2
3 4
During the year, no remuneration was paid by the Group FA - AEEWEAERIEES RIERK
to any of the non-director and non-chief executive highest 2ITBA B RS BE 8 X N FHMER
paid employees as an inducement to join or upon joining 5| ANA A &R B 5k I AR 5 (B e ) 22 8D

the Group or as compensation for loss of office (2021: Nil). HAERBER A8 (20214F « #&) -
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11. INCOME TAX

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the BVI, the Group is not subject to any income tax in
the Cayman Islands and the BVI. Hong Kong profits tax has
been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2021: 16.5%) on the
estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during
the year, except for one subsidiary of the Group which is
a qualifying entity under the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime effective from the year of assessment 2018/2019.
The first HK$2,000,000 (2021: HK$2,000,000) of estimated
assessable profits of this subsidiary are taxed at 8.25% and
the remaining estimated assessable profits are taxed at
16.5%.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RS IR AR B L

31 March 2022
20229 3H31H

1. FT88t

BERSHERRBELES ZHAIK
B AEEBESRFEHREREE
BRREESTMAAAMEH - FEMNGHTD
BRERNERBELZGAERBER
LARE 216.5% (20214F © 16.5%) 51 12
& HEAEE—NBARKRIN - £
2018/20195% %t F £ #B A 2 A9 F1) 15 Bt /i
BHETHEERERE -ZWBRAFZ
{H&HFERR B4 ) B 2,000,000 7T (2021
£ : 2,000,000/ 7T ) LA B &8.25%5T
B T H SRR EET FEERT 5 A Bl AT &
16.5%51 %4 °

2022 2021
20224 20214F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Current — Hong Kong BNEA—&H
Charge for the year FAXIH 2,192 1,763
Underprovision/(overprovision) in BREFEBETR (BREEEE)
prior years 37 (105)
Deferred tax charged/(credited) EIEFRENG (T A) (Hi5E22)
(note 22) 118 (86)
Total tax charge for the year FRTERS 2,347 1,572
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31 March 2022
2022 3H31H

11. INCOME TAX (continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit
before tax at the statutory rate to the tax expense at the

1. FIBH (&)

BORERRETE 2 RV ATS 8 A
AX HERERR R E 2 BIR

effective tax rate is as follows: HERMT -
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FAET
Profit before tax PR B & A 16,556 20,814
Tax at the statutory tax rate BETERETERTLIE 2,732 3,434
Concession under the two-tiered rate ZHERETHER (165) (165)
Income not subject to tax B ANTTER YA (565) (1,932)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR 177 353
Adjustments in respect of current tax of BT BRI A B HATR 18
previous periods 37 (105)
Tax losses utilised from previous periods )R BT IE & 1 (14) =
Tax losses not recognised ANHERTIEE R 145 14
Others EAfth - (27)
Tax charge at the Group's effective tax rate AL EERIHETE W
HIAX 2,347 1,572
12. DIVIDENDS 12. RE
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’'000 HK$'000
TFE T FAT
Final dividend in respect of the previous FRE T _E—KFEARE
financial year paid during the year — BB — AR AR 1. 27
HK1.2 cents (2021: HK1.9 cents) per (20214F < 1.974)
ordinary share 9,536 15,200
Proposed final dividend — HK1.2 cents EEAIRE —FRE B
(2021: HK1.2 cents) per ordinary share 1.2 (20214 = 1.2781) 9,600 9,600
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12.

13.

DIVIDENDS (continued)

The payment of a final dividend in respect of the financial
year ended 31 March 2021 of HK1.2 cents per share,
totalling HK$9,536,000, was based on the number of
ordinary shares in issue less shares held under share award
plan.

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the
approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting. These financial statements do not
reflect the final dividend payable.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of basic earnings per share amount is based
on the profit for the year attributable to equity holders
of the Company of HK$14,209,000 (2021: HK$19,242,000),
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
794,696,000 (2021: 798,648,153) in issue during the year.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares used in
the calculation for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021
is the number adjusted to reflect the 5,304,000 shares held
under the share award plan of the Company.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in
issue during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

12.

13.

BIZRERAH

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RS IR AR B L

31 March 2022
20229 3H31H

BE(&)

A EE2021F3A3H L BEEZ
RE IR B #8&1.28 U (A 719,536,000
BIT)IERE BT L BIREE ARG
RERTEIETRAZR’RD

FRZBRPR B AFARRBIRNIE
ERFAF ARG LHUERTAIEE - %
FPBHRRILERREN RIS

ARAERBFEARGERER

EEBREARANZSBIHENRAQT
1A ARG F N F14,209,00078
7T (20214 : 19,242,000/ 7T) RERND
1T B RN 19 £1794,696,0008%
(20214F : 798,648,1530% ) °

B 220225 K201 F3A3NALEFEM
REt BT BRMEFIIHRERAE
PARBRAN A B AR 2 RDRT &I TR Z
5,304,000/ 10 2 2B °

H 220229 K20214E3A31A ILEE -
AEEVEALABEH S ENDHITY
A% o
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BF RS ¥R AR MY At

31 March 2022
2022 3H31H

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% - BERZRE
Furniture,
Machinery fixtures
Land and Leasehold and  and office Motor
buildings improvements  equipment  equipment vehicles Total
FE KB
TiRET HENEEE HHRRE  REORK RE &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TARL TARL TARL TAR TAR TER
31 March 2022 2022634318
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021:  R202163A318 &
X21F4R18
Cost A 900 3,648 3,086 7,611 3,563 18,808
Accumulated depreciation ZithE (900) (3,566) (1122) (3,315) (1,757) (10,660)
Net carrying amount REHAE - 82 1,964 4,296 1,806 8,148
At 1 April 2021, net of accumulated ~ R2021F4 718 BEFE
depreciation - 82 1,964 4,296 1,806 8,148
Additions WE - - 100 418 2,693 3,211
Transfer from right-of-use assets BEREEEER = = = - 1,088 1,088
Depreciation provided for the year ~ FRHERLE = (82) (372) (830) (891) (2,175)
At 31 March 2022, net of R02F3AINA - ARHITE
accumulated depreciation - - 1,692 3,884 4,696 10,272
At 31 March 2022: R202%F3A318 :
Cost KA 900 3,648 3,186 8,029 7,344 23,107
Accumulated depreciation ZitHE (900) (3,648) (1,494) (4,145) (2,648) (12,835)
Net carrying amount REFE - - 1,692 3,884 4,696 10,272
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RS IR AR B L

31 March 2022
20229 3H31H

14. %~ BERKRE(E)

Furniture,
Machinery ~fixtures and
Land and Leasehold and office Motor
buildings improvements  equipment  equipment vehicles Total
X8 KE
THREET HENERE  BERRE THARE "E ait
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEx TiEx TiEx TiEx FiEr T
31 March 2021 2021%3R318
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020~ %2020F3A318 &
202054818 :
Cost S 900 3,648 2214 6,804 4,282 17,848
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (900) (2,581) (753) (2,405) (2,483) 9,122)
Net carrying amount ERFE = 1,067 1,461 4,399 1,799 8,726
At 1 April 2020, net of accumulated ~ R2020F4A1E + HEFHTE
depreciation = 1,067 1,461 4,399 1,799 8,726
Additions "E - - 872 807 1,017 2,696
Disposals HE - - - = (634) (634)
Depreciation provided for the year ~ FRTEE(E - (985) (369) (910) (376) (2,640)
At 31 March 2021, net of R2021E3R3A - HEsE
accumulated depreciation = 82 1,964 4,296 1,806 8,148
At 31 March 2021: 2021434318 :
Cost KA 900 3,648 3,086 7,611 3,563 18,808
Accumulated depreciation ZithE (900) (3,566) (1,122) (3,315 (1,757) (10,660)
Net carrying amount FmFE = 82 1,964 4,29 1,806 8,148

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group was
granted a government grant of HK$1,479,000 related to

purchase of certain items of machinery and equipment
(the "Approved Equipment”). As at 31 March 2022,
the Approved Equipment with a net carrying amount
of approximately HK$495,000 (2021: HK$605,000) was
forbidden to be transferred, sold or leased, with a

view to making profits, within the first three years of its

procurement.

BIZRERAH

B EZ2021F3A831BIEFE AEE
HEEE THMEREERR ([ &#tE
R ) B BN #8 R51,479,0007% 7T ©
2022438318 R EFE D A
495,000/ 7T (20214F : 605,00078 7T) Y
KA ERBERE L ERBRE=FRE
# - HESHEUBRIURF)

F#{2021/2022 207



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B SRR M EE

31 March 2022

2022F3H31H

15. LEASES 15. HE
The Group as a lessee AEBEREEA
The Group has lease contracts for certain of its offices, a AEBERAEETHAEZ  —HBERS
staff quarter and a motor vehicle. Leases of offices and the R—@ B EHESLN - HAERE
staff quarter have lease terms of 2 years, while the motor BESHERMF - MAEHE R
vehicle has lease term of 3 years. Generally, the Group is Fo—RME  AEETEEEEEE
restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets DENEERELREEI)N - ETBEL
outside the Group. There are several lease contracts that RFKIEHAEENHEESHBENTX
include extension and termination options which are further #— Pl e

discussed below.

(a) Right-of-use assets (a) FEAREEE
The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets REE 2 EAEEENFANRE
and the movements during the year are as follows: EXEZEFHNT :
Leased Motor
buildings vehicle Total
HE”F AE Gl
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FiET FET
As at 1 April 2020 720204 A1H 6,432 1,377 7,809
Additions NE 5,978 - 5,978
Depreciation e (4,649) (251) (4,900)
Termination of leases eI (1,303) = (1,303)
As at 31 March 2021 and 20213 A318 &

1 April 2021 20214 R1H 6,458 1,126 7,584
Additions NE 7,238 = 7,238
Depreciation e (5,117) (38) (5,155)
Termination of leases HERIE (264) = (264)
Transfer to property, plant and EEEYE - HE K&

equipment B = (1,088) (1,088)
As at 31 March 2022 R2022%3H31H 8,315 - 8,315
During the year, the lease of a motor vehicle was fully FA - RBEHEEEHEE - W&
repaid, the net carrying amount of the motor vehicle AENERIFEDAERAREEES
is therefore transferred from right-of-use assets to BEME - BB NEE -

property, plant and equipment.
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15. LEASES (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R MR

31 March 2022
20229 3H31H

15. HE (&)

(b)

HERBERFANKREENEED)

movements during the year are as follows: mr
2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FTHET FET
Carrying amount at beginning of year RFE¥AIREE 4,655 7,102
New leases g 7,238 5,978
Accretion of interest recognised FATER ) RIEF S
during the year 96 153
Termination of leases HEZIE (279) (1,331)
Payments (NN (3,817) (7,247)
Carrying amount at end of year R BRE A 7,893 4,655
Analysed into: DR
Current portion TENEL 5 3,740 3,344
Non-current portion SERBNER S 4,153 1,311

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in
note 32 to the financial statements.

HERBENIHANITRMBEHRE

M3 32 58 -
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15. LEASES (continued)

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to

(d)

leases are as follows:

Interest on lease liabilities HEAEFS
Depreciation charge of right-of-use EREEENTES D
assets
Expense relating to short-term leases HBEEHAENFX
— Included in cost of sales — ST ASHERAR
— Included in administrative and — P ATTBUR B A g
other operating expenses, net X - F8
Total amount recognised in profit or ~ RBZEAER 2 485

loss

The total cash outflow for leases
27(c) to the financial statements.

is disclosed in note

15. HE (&)

(c) MEERBEANEIANSH/MT :

2021
20214F
HK$'000
FHTT
153

4,900

130

617
747

5,800

(d) HEMRSRHARENEIRKHMT
EZYCLE &




16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

17.

PROFIT OR LOSS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R MR

31 March 2022
20229 3H31H

16. RAREFABRSNEHMEE

2022 2021
2022 20214F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
k=3 TR T FAT
Non-current: FEMED
Other investment, at quoted price  HALIZE&E « IRREFE (a) 4,200 2,150
Current: mE :
Listed equity investments, FTRERE  BARE
at fair value A2 14,377 16,469
Other investment, at quoted price ~ EMIEE  LREAE 1,204 983
(b) 15,581 17,452
19,781 19,602
Notes: i
(a) The investment was classified as a financial asset at fair value through profit (a) HRAEERREZAHEBEEBAERAAE
or loss as the Group has not elected to recognise the fair value gain or loss Wk B R ZIRER S EARARETAEBR
through other comprehensive income. ZEMEE -
(b)  The investments were classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or b) BHRBFEEE ZSREARIEBRAAEA
loss as they were held for trading. BRZERMEE -
CONTRACT ASSETS AND TRADE RECEIVABLES 17. BHRNEERE S BWRA
2022 2021
2022 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Other contract assets HEEHEE 62,947 61,569
Retention receivables EWIRE & 97,719 90,462
160,666 152,031
Impairment of contract assets SRBERE (416) (354)
Net contract assets BHEEFE 160,250 151,677
Trade receivables B 5 FEWRIE 162,772 108,734
Impairment of trade receivables B Z W FIERE (21) (35)
Net trade receivables B 5 EWGRIEFEE 162,751 108,699
323,001 260,376
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BF RS ¥R AR MY At

31 March 2022
2022 3H31H

17. CONTRACT ASSETS AND TRADE RECEIVABLES
(continued)

212

(a)

Other contract assets consist of the Group’s rights
to consideration for works completed but unbilled
amounts resulting from construction contracts and
RMAA. Other contract assets are transferred to trade
receivables when the rights become unconditional
which was generally in one to three months. As at 1
April 2020, 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2022, the
Group's other contract assets were HK$23,885,000,
HK$61,569,000 and HK$62,947,000, respectively. Other
contract assets increased as at 31 March 2022 and
2021 due to an increase in the ongoing provision of
construction services at the year end.

Retention receivables are part of the consideration that
the customers retain which are payable on successful
completion of the contracts in order to provide the
customers with assurance that the Group will complete
its obligation satisfactorily under the contracts, rather
than to provide financing to the customers. As at 1
April 2020, 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2022, the
Group's retention receivables were HK$69,834,000,
HK$90,462,000 and HK$97,719,000, respectively. At
31 March 2022, retention receivables are repayable
within terms ranging from one to two years. Included
in the retention receivables, HK$24,704,000 (2021:
HK$41,165,000) were expected to be recovered after
more than one year. Retention receivables, amounting
to HK$73,015,000 (2021: HK$49,297,000), were expected
to be recovered within twelve months. Retention
receivables increased as at 31 March 2022 and 2021
due to more contracts achieving significant progress
during the year.

WECON HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2021/2022

17. EHNEEREZRWRFEEZ)

(a)

Hih G EEREAEEEEMT
IR RKERERAAZRSRE
MRE(RREESNUREE R
EITRMEL) - REFK ARG
Hr(EEA—ZEZ=Z@EA) Hf
BREEEREE HEKIE -
#2020F4 818 + 202143 A31
HX%202263A318  KEBZH
fib & # & E o B £523,885,00075
T * 61,569,000 T 162,947,000
BT o BEfth A 4 E ER2022F K&
2021 F3A3HE MR FRE
HRGIF BRI INFTER -

ERREER/EFPRENE SR
B EERKINTEXE LR
NRAEFEREASE GRS OER
ERBHEML  MIEAUAZTFER
HEE o B2020F4 818 - 20214F
38318 K%202243A31H » AN&EE
2 FEWR B8 € 7 Il 569,834,0007%
JT * 90,462,000 7T % 97,719,000/
T ° 2022434318 © EUIRE
CHER—EMFENEE - H - &
U R B8 4 24,704,0005% 7T (20214F
41,165,000/ 70 ) I TE B —F A £
I El - fE U IR 28 €73,015,0007%8 T
(20214F : 49,297,000/ 7T ) 78 57 #%
R+=EARKE - BUREESRH
20224F [ 202143 531 H £ h0 J5 #
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RS IR AR B L

31 March 2022
20229 3H31H

17. CONTRACT ASSETS AND TRADE RECEIVABLES 17. 8 EERE ZEWFIE(Z
(continued)

(c) The movements in the loss allowance for impairment () BHBEERENEBEEREEZESHW
of contract assets are as follows: ™

2022 2021

2022%F 20214F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FHET

At beginning of year F9) 354 232
Impairment losses (note 8) BUEEE (MI5E8) 62 122
At end of year FR 416 354
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting WED TR SRS BT RRER
date using a provision matrix to measure expected 7T - AT ETEHIEEEE - H
credit losses. The provision rates for the measurement REXEENE S EKFKIERE R
of the expected credit losses of the contract assets are —BR - HGrEANEERBEE
based on those of the trade receivables as the contract BEENBEXTHENE 5 EWKIE
assets and the trade receivables are from the same WBEX - aNEENBHEE
customer bases. The provision rates of contract assets REBEUBSEEXNTRATSD
are based on days past due for groupings of various HoE(BNRE P HERFTR) &Y
customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by BEI BB o FZETE MR R A AL
customer type and rating). The calculation reflects R SEFEEBENRRERE R
the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of AIENEBBESIE - BREG R
money and reasonable and supportable information R ERHETERANEERAEE

that is available at the reporting date about past =

events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit N TEINEBEEARESNEEER
risk exposure on the Group's contract assets using a BEEMMAZNEERRER

provision matrix:

2022 2021

20224 20214

Expected credit loss rate BEEEEEX 0.26% 0.23%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) HEmE(THT) 160,666 152,031
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) FEHEEEE(TET) 416 354
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BF RS ¥R AR MY At

31 March 2022
2022 3H31H

17. CONTRACT ASSETS AND TRADE RECEIVABLES
(continued)

214

(d) The transaction price allocated to the remaining

performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied) as at the end of the reporting period
related to construction contracts and RMAA services
using the output method.

17. EHNEEREZRWRFEEZ)

(d

RBERARDEEZHR TENEE
(RETREIFDREIT)NRHE
REE R ENEEA N REE
NgETRREERE -

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFE T THETT
Expected to be recognised within TRERAG P — F N HERR
one year 805,959 953,048
Expected to be recognised after TREARG P — 1R HERR
one year 56,899 232,655
862,858 1,185,703

For RMAA under term contracts, the Group recognises
revenue equal to the invoice amount when the control
of assets or the value of individual services transfers to
the customer at a point in time. The Group applies the
practical expedient in paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 and
does not disclose the amount of the transaction price
allocated to the remaining performance obligations
for contracts with an original expected duration of one
year or less.

Included in the revenue recognised during the year

was HK$12,925,000 (2021: HK$5,817,000) related to
performance obligations satisfied in previous periods.
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17. CONTRACT ASSETS AND TRADE RECEIVABLES
(continued)

(f)

Trade receivables represented receivables for
contract work. Management generally submits interim
payment applications to customers on a monthly basis
containing a statement setting out the management'’s
estimation of the valuation of the works completed
in the preceding month. Upon receiving the interim
payment application, the architect or the consultant
of the customer will verify such valuation of works
completed and issue an interim payment certificate
within 30 days. Within 30 days after the issuance of
interim payment certificate, the customer will make
payment to the Group based on the certified amount
stipulated in such certificate, deducting any retention
money in accordance with the contract.

There is a certain concentration of credit risk. The
balances of the five largest trade receivables as at 31
March 2022 and 2021 represented 86.3% and 89.6% of
the total trade receivables, respectively, while 50.3%
and 56.3% of the total trade receivables as at 31 March
2022 and 2021 were due from the largest debtor,
respectively. Trade receivables are non-interest-
bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables based on
the invoice date and net of provision, is as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS IR AR B L

31 March 2022
20229 3H31H

17. BHNEERESZRWNFIE(Z

B 5 RUGKAIEE O TIZM R
B BEE-REEARTFIER
RHINRERE - BEREE—MER
BHE E—EAMTkr TRAE
RBHE - RETHNRBEFR &
P2 EEE B K & X B T T
B T2 MERA (5 1E - WAE3OKR A
LN RES - FPReNED
REI R ERIORA - IRRE
R ET IR BN SR (R
EARBEEHNFRER)AXEKE
TEHAIRR

FEETEFREERR - 72022
FN2021F3A31H AREHE
WHRIE & # D BME B 5 B WRIA
48 %886.3% 12.89.6% + T 20224
N202193A31H © & K & W &
2R E 5 e W R IE 48 8E50.3% &
56.3% ° B S GRIAIN FEAT B ©

BERZAH2TIMNRRENE S
FEYRIRRBRER DATIAT -

2022 2021
20224 20214F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Within 90 days 90RK 159,374 108,000
91 to 180 days 912180k 1,696 699
181 to 360 days 1812360k 624 -
Over 360 days HBHE3I60K 1,057 =
162,751 108,699
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BF RS ¥R AR MY At

31 March 2022
2022 3H31H

17. CONTRACT ASSETS AND TRADE RECEIVABLES
(continued)

(f)  (continued)

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
for ECLs prescribed by HKFRS 9 which permits the use
of the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade
receivables. The loss allowance for the Group's trade
receivables was assessed to be minimal for all the
above bands of trade receivables.

18. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

BHREEREZRUHEAE)

(f) (&)

REBEABICERE BV R
SEANFR R ENTRBEEERE
AHIERME - ZEAAHEEES
e IR 7 B A TR A B 1R 1
o Y BB siiE 6V E 5 IR UK
HME - AREE SRR
B AR AIRE -

18. FMNRIE » HERHAMEBRRIER

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Prepayments TR RRIE 36,710 16,848
Deposits and other receivables e Rk E A U GRIA 11,462 9,826
48,172 26,674

Less: Prepayments and deposits classified & : DEAIERBEEZ
as non-current assets FEft I MRS (5,921) (5,379)
Current portion ENEL 42,251 21,295

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired.
The financial assets included in the above balances relate
to receivables for which there was no recent history of
default and past due amounts. As at 31 March 2022 and
2021, the loss allowance was assessed to be minimal.
Included in other receivables are loans to subcontractors
of HK$6,150,000 (2021: HK$4,481,000) as at 31 March 2022,
which are unsecured, bear interest at 7% per annum or
interest-free and are repayable on demand.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B # sk i =t

31 March 2022

202243H31H

19. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 19. BE R IRITAEER

2022 2021
20224 20214
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
k=3 THET FAT
Cash and bank balances e MIRTTH & 64,884 120,639
Time deposits TEEITERR 57,806 47,302
122,690 167,941

Less: Pledged deposits o EEER (34,190) (42,193)
Cash and cash equivalents BReRREERBY 88,500 125,748

20.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Time deposits are made for
varying periods of between 1 months and 3 months, and
earn interest at the respective time deposit rates. The bank
balances and deposits are deposited with creditworthy
banks with no recent history of default.

As at 31 March 2022, certain bank facilities were secured by

pledged deposits of HK$8,000,000 (2021: HK$8,000,000).

TRADE AND RETENTION PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade and retention payables as
at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice
date, is as follows:

20.

RITHERE B RITEARNERLZEF
KR - ERHERR/IEAE3MEA S
F - IR E B RON R BREUNLE, - R
TTHEBR R A7 SR IF BT Y8 AR SR (5
BRIFIRIT

MN20229F3A318 - ETHRITRMER
K 30 77 3%8,000,0005% 7T (20214 :
8,000,000/ 7T ) #E1R ©

EZRNREARBNRES

RBERRREZAH2INE ZEN
FRANMEMNREEREDNOT

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET

Trade payables: B SN FIA
Within 3 months 3EA A 100,586 72,680
Retention payables ERRE & 84,420 71,078
185,006 143,758
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BF RS ¥R AR MY At

31 March 2022
2022 3H31H

20. TRADE AND RETENTION PAYABLES (continued)

21.

218

Retention payables were normally settled within terms
ranging from one to two years.

Trade and retention payables are non-interest-bearing.
The payment terms of trade payables are stipulated in the
relevant contracts with credit periods of 30 days in general.

20. EZENREARENRES(F)

MRS & — R — RS -

BHRNRBERENREETAE - &
5 RN FRIB A GRRTIARIERE S ,Z’J
A EEH—RABI0K -

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 21. Htt B RIERETTER
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
Other payables H At T /I8 2,741 1,883
Accruals FEETE R 49,689 60,334
Contract liability SRBE - 5,949
52,430 68,166

Financial liabilities of HK$25,608,000 (2021: HK$41,840,000)
as at 31 March 2022 included in other payables and
accruals are non-interest-bearing and are expected to be
settled within one year.

The contract liability as at 31 March 2021 represented a
short-term advance received from a customer for building
construction services and there was no receipt in advance
as at 31 March 2022.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS IR AR B L
31 March 2022
20224F3H31H
22. DEFERRED TAX 22. IEEBLIR
The deferred tax liabilities recognised in the consolidated /:\ e MBI RERRIERIAS &
statement of financial position and the movements during WE T

the year are as follows:

Impairment Depreciation

of contract allowance

assets in excess

and trade of related
receivables depreciation Total

BHEER B A
BREKR TENTE

FRIE HRE B8 CH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
As at 1 April 2020 R2020F4 A1 H - 814 814
Deferred tax credited to profit or FANFTAERZFHEERIE
loss during the year (note 11) (BE11) (64) (22) (86)
As at 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 1202193318 %2021F4 518 (64) 792 728
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to FARRBEZEFRR (G ABZHR)
profit or loss during the year (note 11)  EYEERIE (FIFE11) 8) 126 118
As at 31 March 2022 20223311 (72) 918 846
The Group has no tax losses arising in Hong Kong (2021: ANER B BB I M 2 A A TE B 18 (2021
HK$85,000) that are available indefinitely for offsetting % 85,000/ ) - FIMMRREAIEIHE S
against future taxable profits of the companies in which the BER R RIARRERT RN o B ER
losses arise. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised ot AR A AT e v IR SH a2 A
in respect of these losses as it is not considered probable BEE - RERIAEEWARZEEE
that taxable profits will be available against which these tax TR -

losses can be utilised.
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31 March 2022

2022 3H31H

23. SHARE CAPITAL 23. lRA<
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFH T FAT
Authorised: JETE
5,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 5,000,000,000R% & I& E &
HK$0.01 each 0.0 LA E B 50,000 50,000
Issued and fully paid: BT
800,000,000 ordinary shares of 800,000,0000% & i% E{E
HK$0.01 each 0.0 TR T mA% 8,000 8,000

24.

220

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements

therein for the current and prior years are presented in the

consolidated statement of changes in equity of the financial

statements.

(i)

(ii)

Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents the aggregate of
the paid-up share capital of the subsidiaries now
comprising the Group attributable to the controlling
shareholder prior to the group reorganisation as set
out in the Company’s prospectus dated 30 January
2019.

Shares held under share award plan

Shares acquired and held by the Company are
recognised directly in equity at cost. During the year
ended 31 March 2021, 5,304,000 ordinary shares
of HK$0.01 each were purchased by the trustee at
an average price of HK$0.19 per share at a total
consideration of approximately HK$996,000. The
shares have been recognised as shares held under
share award plan. As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, no
shares have been granted under the share award plan
adopted on 31 July 2020.
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BHEEAANRR BB A2019F
1TABZBRERMENEEE
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(i) RERGREEFEERY

RABIBE RIFE 2 RHDIZEAR
EERBRAER - REE20214F
3A3BLEEE  XFEANRERFE
5 {8 #%0.197%8 7L #8 B 75,304,000
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25. SHARE AWARD PLAN

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”)
adopted a share award plan (the “Share Award Plan”)
on 31 July 2020 (the "Adoption Date”), under which any
employee of the Group and its invested entities, who
contributes to the Group or its invested entities (the "Eligible
Participants”), will be entitled to participate, in order to
recognise and reward the contribution of the Eligible
Participants to the growth and development of the Group;
to give incentives to the Eligible Participants in order to
retain them for the continual operation and development
of the Group; and to attract suitable personnel for further
development of the Group.

The Group has set up a trust (the “Share Award Plan
Trust”) for the purpose of administrating the Share Award
Plan. The Share Award Plan Trust will acquire shares of
the Company to be awarded under the Share Award Plan
from The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, with a
maximum amount of funds to be allocated by the Board,
and hold such shares until they are vested. Unless early
terminated by the Board, the Share Award Plan shall be
valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing
from the Adoption Date.

The Share Award Plan shall not exceed 10% of the total
number of issued shares as at the Adoption Date (i.e.
80,000,000 shares) to be subscribed for the purchase of
the shares to be awarded to the Eligible Participants to be
selected by the Board.
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25. RipEREETE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BF RS ¥R AR MY At

31 March 2022
2022 3H31H

25.

26.

222

SHARE AWARD PLAN (continued)

The vesting of shares awarded to the awardees is subject
to conditions and vesting schedules as determined by the
Board at its discretion.

On 23 December 2020, the Company allocated
HK$1,000,000 to the Share Award Plan Trust, and
approximately HK$996,000 of which was used to purchase
5,304,000 shares, which were held by the trustee for the
benefit of the Eligible Participants under the Share Award
Plan Trust. No share has been granted or vested under the
Share Award Plan since the Adoption Date and up to 31
March 2022.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities
not provided for in the financial statements were as follows:

Performance bonds B RIRFE &

The Group provided unlimited guarantees to certain
banks and an insurance company in support of the issue
of performance bonds to the Group’s subsidiaries. As at
31 March 2022, certain performance bonds granted were
secured by pledged deposits of HK$26,190,000 (2021:
HK$34,193,000).
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25.

26.

B 13 BBt E (4F)

BTERANENEBASEESIHIG
IRTE B R N SRR R PTARR -

2020912 8238 » AR &) [ i 1 88
B 5t 2115 3T 9 21,000,000 7T+ H R
#1996,0007% 7T Fi 7A B B 5,304,000/% A%
17 BXTEARBRG BB EIETA
RERLHBEENFZAFE - BERMAE
HREZE20229F3A318 © RipERE
2B T ER L SEBRD -

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT THET
77,882 119,107

AREERB TRITR —BRERABRE
BRER - AZFRREEKNE QA
BITBAORIBE - H2022F3A318 -
E TR EHRE 2 526,190,000 7T
(20214F : 34,193,00078 7T ) Z K IB1FE K
TEFER -



27. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

B RS IR AR B L

31 March 2022
20229 3H31H

27. FERERERME

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (a) RBEBELEMNAESE
Interest—
bearing
bank Lease
borrowing liabilities
STEBITER HESE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THERT
At 1 April 2020 20204 A1 H - 7,102
Changes from financing cash flows BMERSREBEENEH (46) (7,094)
Interest expense FI BRI 46 153
Interest paid classified as operating cash flows PEALERSRE L EMFE - (153)
New leases HHE - 5,978
Termination of leases HE®XRIE = (1,331)
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 72021438318 202144818 - 4,655
Changes from financing cash flows BERENEEENEE (33) (3.721)
Interest expense FERFX 33 96
Interest paid classified as operating cash flows DAL LEREREZEMFE = (96)
New leases MEE - 7,238
Termination of leases BEXRIE = (279)
At 31 March 2022 R20223A31H - 7,893
Major non-cash transaction (b) EEFRERS

() During the year ended 31 March 2022, the (i) A ZE2022F3A31HLFE -

Group had non-cash additions to right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities of HK$7,238,000
(2021: HK$5,978,000) and HK$7,238,000 (2021:
HK$5,978,000), respectively, in respect of lease
arrangements for leased buildings.

AEERAEEFNEER
HE 9 Bl 57,238,0007% 7T(2021
% :5,978,000/8 7T ) %7,238,000
77T (20214 : 5,978,000/ 7T )
MERAREEREEREIER
SIRE °

BIZRARAE  F3,2021/2022 223



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BF RS ¥R AR MY At

31 March 2022
2022 3H31H

27. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

224

OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

Major non-cash transaction (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group
had non-cash disposals of right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities of HK$264,000 (2021: HK$1,303,000)
and HK$279,000 (2021: HK$1,331,000), respectively,
in respect of termination of leases for leased
buildings.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group
had non-cash transfer of right-of-use assets of
HK$1,088,000 (2021: Nil) to property, plant and
equipment, in respect of the lease of a motor
vehicle which was fully repaid.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group
was granted a government grant of HK$1,479,000
for the purchase of the Approved Equipment,
an amount of HK$1,183,000 was received during
the year ended 31 March 2021. A receivable
of HK$296,000 was included in “Prepayments,
deposits and other receivables” as at 31 March
2022 and 2021.
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27. IRERERBRME(E)

(b)

FTEFRERZ(E)

(i)

(iii)

B E2022F3A31HILLFE -
AEERAEEFHHEERIL
2 Bl /5264,0007% 7T (20214 -
1,303,000/ 7T ) }%279,0007% 7T
(20214 : 1,331,000/ 7T ) O f#

REEENEEREIREY
= o

B ZE202293A31HLFE -
AEEREEHEENRE
1 & A1,088,000% 7T (2021
F EBNERAEEEIRS
EREYE - BB RS -

HZE2021F3A31B EFE -
AEEREECHERBHE
% BT %6 851,479,000 7T
REZE2021F3A31BILEE
A 4e F1,183,000/8 7T — %
JiE U R 3B 296,0007% 7T 122022
F &2021F3A318 5 Al 8
HRIE - B &H M ERER
] o



27. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR MY RE

31 March 2022
20229 3H31H

27. IRERERBRME(E)

(c) HEMRSRHAHE

AR ERERNEENRESRH

statement of cash flows is as follows: HET
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET
Within operating activities KRR 797 900
Within financing activities BMEFDHA 3,721 7,094
4,518 7,994

28. COMMITMENTS 28. i

At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not have
any significant capital commitments.

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group

The key management personnel of the Group are the
directors of the Company. Details of their remuneration are
disclosed in note 9 to the financial statements. The salaries,
allowances and benefits in kind of the five highest paid
individuals (note 10) included an in-kind housing allowance
of HK$1,621,000 (2021: HK$1,654,000) paid to Ms. Lai Yuk
Lin Eliza, the spouse of a director, Mr. Tsang Ka Yip, for the
rental payment and outgoings of a director’s quarter which
was jointly used by Mr. Tsang Ka Yip.

RBERR - NEBY EEAEAEAN
HEYE o

29. BEARS

FEBIREEEASHE

AEEFEEBEEABREADRAES -
B EF BRI B REM TOWE -
TEZEaFMALTOEE  2UREY
BR(MFI)BRERNEETERELE
ZEBREEZ LTI NNEYREEE
1,621,000 7T(20214F : 1,654,000/8
7T RESNESER(BERELLE
HEFEA A RS -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ERTR M

31 March 2022

2022 3H31H

financial liabilities stated at amortised cost.
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BRIREHA AR -

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 30. REETHEMIA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial EReMITANRERRREENAT
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:
Financial assets TRE
Financial assets
at fair value Financial
through assets at
profit or loss  amortised cost Total
BAABEFA REHEEATE
BRNemEE HEmEE &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TEx TERT
2022 20224
Trade receivables B S IEWIA - 162,751 162,751
Financial assets included in prepayments, T ATETFUA « & R HEA
deposits and other receivables EUFIEN S REE = 11,462 11,462
Financial assets at fair value through BARBETABZNEREE
profit or loss 19,781 — 19,781
Pledged deposits SEEVES N - 34,190 34,190
Time deposits EHES - 23,616 23,616
Cash and bank balances R LRITHEEH - 64,884 64,884
19,781 296,903 316,684
2021 20214
Trade receivables B SEWGIA = 108,699 108,699
Financial assets included in prepayments, T ATAMNFIE » e R EM
deposits and other receivables ELI&TAIEE)J%FHE&{E - 9,826 9,826
Financial assets at fair value through BAREFABRNEREE
profit or loss 19,602 - 19,602
Pledged deposits BT - 42,193 42,193
Time deposits TEHFH = 5,109 5,109
Cash and bank balances B e RIRITHER - 120,639 120,639
19,602 286,466 306,068
Financial liabilities = =N
All financial liabilities as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 are 20224 202153 H31H - i€t



31. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, contract assets and trade receivables,
trade and retention payables, financial assets included
in prepayments, deposits and other receivables and
financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the
short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group's financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

31.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RS IR AR B L

31 March 2022
20229 3H31H

AAREREMIACZARERER

EEEDMEREMREEFED A1

BENESHRETIR - EHEMNIAN
ENREE  StABRNIIE - RERHE

i U IR M) & B & B o et A B FE A
FENEFERANEBRBEZANER
REERS  TB2REAASZEFTIAREH
MENH] -

TREENBENRABAEBRR ST

(BB 8 T EERRIN BRI ZH %
TANARGEEALR -

RERBHK

5

TEMAARESRIAY AR EHE
B

BARETBHEE -

Fair value measurement using

ERTIISERTARENE

Quoted prices in Significant Significant
active markets observable inputs  unobservable inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
EATHE EATTRE
ERTEHRE BARE BAHE
(-4 (8= (=) Rt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TR TET TEx
As at 31 March 2022 2022534310
Listed equity investments FRERE 14,377 = = 14,377
Other investments HiiR & = 5,404 = 5,404
14,377 5,404 - 19,781
As at 31 March 2021 202153 A31H
Listed equity investments kR E 16,469 - - 16,469
Other investments Hi g - 3,133 = 3,133
16,469 3,133 - 19,602
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31 March 2022

2022 3H31H

31.

32.

228

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)
Assets measured at fair value: (continued)

The fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss in level 2 is determined by using the inputs from
prior transactions or third-party pricing information without
adjustment.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurement between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 for financial assets (2021: Nil).

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments include financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, trade receivables,
deposits and other receivables, trade and retention and
other payables, lease liabilities, pledged deposits, time
deposits and cash and bank balances. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in the respective notes
to the financial statements.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial
instruments are credit risk, market risk and liquidity risk.
The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each
of these risks and they are summarised below.
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31.

32.

PREREMIAEZARERER
(&)

N

RAERBR(E)
BARETTBEE (&)

FE_RELAEFAERENEREEL
RAETDRBENR D ZBABIELSE
= EEER(RERE)METE °

AN

FR - PAEAEHES —FEFE &
FEER  cREENEE ASE#ETESE
=4 (20214F : f&)

MBRREEBFERBER

AEETZeRTABREAAEA
BRMEREE  BEHRUGE  RE
NEAB WA - B 5N RIA M EN
REEREMENTE HERE K
BER - EMFER RS RIRITAER
ZED BT AMFIERIM B IRRARMN
HERRE -

AEEeRITAEANTIEARAEER
Rk - MEERERHESRAR - EF
SEHYREEESZFRROBE -
% F BRI M -



32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to contract
assets and trade receivables, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, pledged
deposits, time deposits and cash and bank balances. The
Group’s maximum credit risk exposure at the end of the
reporting period in the event of other parties failing to
perform their obligations is represented by the carrying
amount of contract assets and trade receivables, financial
assets included in prepayments, deposits and other
receivables, pledged deposits, time deposits and cash and
bank balances as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Management monitors the creditworthiness and payment
patterns of each debtor closely and on an ongoing
basis. The Group’s trade receivables from contract work
represent interim billings or retentions certified by the
customers under terms as stipulated in the contracts.
As the Group's customers in respect of contract work
primarily consist of the Government and quasi-Government
organisations, property developers or owners with strong
financial backgrounds, management considers that the
risk of irrecoverable receivables from contract work is not
significant.

The following table demonstrates the concentrations of
credit risk of the contract assets and trade receivables which
were due from the Group's largest external customer and
the Group's five largest external customers, respectively.

BIZRERAH
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31 March 2022
20229 3H31H

32. MBEMEEBEERBK(E)

EEERE

AEEEERREIEREANGHNEER
BHREFIR - sTATRNFUR - B2k
Hit BUIEN SR EE - T
EHERLIRE RIRTTHE - WMEMT
REBITERF - ARERREHARE
HMRREERBREEREGNEENE
SRR - s ATRNFIER B2 hE
fERKFENEREE  BREFER - E
R RRE RIRTTEHRINER S MR
R T FHIRARE(E ©

ERETYERBERSBEHAGER
MRERN - AEEE 5 EKE TR
RIERPRIES WIS ERE P
FHREE - ARAKEEH T2
BEP X EHBUTRFBFHE - HES
RESAMBEERBARNETAEK - TR
ERBEUWE X TI2FAN Al U Bl 7Y
BRI TEKX o

TR BIFBRERAREZFRIMNBES
EAGERARINBEFANEERES
FEURIRM EE R AR °
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2022 3H31H

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Percentage of contract assets and trade REUTENEERES
receivables due from: JEMRIEE AL
Group's largest external customer REEZAIMNIEF
Group's five largest external customers REBRARIMNEE P

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's
exposure to credit risk arising from contract assets and
trade receivables are disclosed in note 17 to the financial
statements.

The Group has applied the simplified approach to
providing for impairment for ECLs prescribed by HKFRS
9, which permits the use of the lifetime expected loss
provision for impairment of all contract assets and trade
receivables. To measure the ECLs, contract assets and
trade receivables have been grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The ECLs
also incorporate forward-looking information. Given that
the customers of the Group are mainly well-known property
developers, the Government and quasi-Government
organizations and there was no history of default in prior
years, the directors of the Company considered the default
rate of financial assets is minimal.
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2. RAMEEBBERBER(E)

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TAT
31.5% 52.5%
74.5% 80.4%

EARKEMARNANEERE SR
WRRE AR EERBE — P E8EIE
IR TS R TE1 7 R

AEERABEIDERB B BERESE
AIFISR R E MR EEERREF R
B ZBMCTERREMBANEE
K B 5 R W IR R (B A 77 48 A ) TR 1
EiREE - RAFERBEEERR 81
BENESRBEFHEREAREER
RERBMAHAEmMEAS - BREER
BRRSBERNELEER - ENARENT
FXERMBMERRRD - BUTMFIK
fites - BERBEFESEENCE -
ARREFRREMEENEN LK
1K -



32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, including
the loans to subcontractors, is considered to be “normal”
when they are not past due and there is no information
indicating that the financial assets had a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit
quality of the financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.
All pledged deposits, time deposits and cash and bank
balances were deposited with creditworthy financial
institutions without significant credit risk. The impairment
provision for the Group’s financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, pledged
deposits, time deposits and cash and bank balances during
the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 was limited
to 12-month ECLs. Since they were considered to be of
low credit risk, management considered no provision for
impairment was necessary for the years ended 31 March
2022 and 2021.

All of the current portions of the financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables are expected
to be recovered within one year.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair values of investments
held for trading decrease as a result of changes in
the levels of equity indices and the value of individual
securities. The Group was exposed to market risk arising
from individual investments classified as held for trading
(note 16) as at 31 March 2022 and 2021. Based on their
carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period, an
increase/decrease of 10% in the fair values of the financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, with all other
variables held constant and before any impact on tax,
would result in an increase/decrease in profit before tax of
HK$1,558,000 (2021: HK$1,745,000).

BIZRERAH
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32. MBEMEEBEERBK(E)

&Rk (E)

STATEMFIE - e REMEKEIED
CRIZE(BEMDEREFR)NEES
EEMABPATEERNBERENEE
M= BRI B ¥ R AR K IRIE hnks
WRENEE]  RRAISHEENEEY
EWRABIRE] - FIEERTR - T8
GREEEMBITEBTAEEREE
ERESEESmEE - 8220226
2021 F3A31BILLFE - st AT XK
18 Be REAMEYGIE - ERER
THERAERBRERBRTEBNAEE
B ERERGERMN2EA 8
EEEBE BRZSEREEEEAFAER
EERK  BERERA B E2022F
N20219F3A318 I F & EAERE R
1o

BHIF AR ABNZIE - RE REME
WRIEN M EENHE O EN—FA
Yem o

™5 L

MERAREEFIEEENRENARE
E R EEEUKTE R EREHEENEE
im B AR B RS o 720224 202143 A
318 - AEBAEAHHTERAKRKEHE
EREEEMNMEBKRE(ME16) - iR
BRREHANEEENE £ E
fib AT B R E A4S 2 B R A LIRS
FEZELT BAREFABENSE
BMEENR BN, HI10% - K&
BBk B BT A3 008 421,558,000/
7E(20214F : 1,745,000/ 7T) °
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 32. BiEMEEEERERE(E)

AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk

The Group's policy is to monitor regularly the current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and long term. In addition,
banking facilities have been put in place for contingency
purposes.

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities as at the end of the reporting period of the
Group's financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates, or if floating, based on
rates current at the end of the reporting period) and the
earliest date that the Group could be required to repay:

REBE R

AEENBR 2T RERRE MR
BHESENR  BEREEFTRRSHE
AAETESREBAFNEEESH
B mRERRRARBDESER -
BN EEBSIRITRIBFERSZMA -

TRHVNAEESRAENHREHRR
BENARFRERASRE(BRERGLD
BERAEF SR - nEEE - Al
REREAREFMNEFE)FFEAR
HRAEWBHAURAREE T BLAEERN
RFEHHE

In the
Within one third to
year or In the fifth years,
on demand second year inclusive Total
EELT T T
—FRAFRER $£-F (BEEEWF) CHS
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET THET THET
2022 20224
Trade and retention payables BHEANTERENRE S 166,003 18,623 817 185,443
Other payables and accruals HipENFIEREAER 25,608 = = 25,608
Lease liabilities HEAR 3,861 2,872 1,350 8,083
195,472 21,495 2,167 219,134
2021 20214
Trade and retention payables BHRNTERENRES 113,985 28,924 1,388 144,297
Other payables and accruals HibERFHIEREAER 41,840 - - 41,840
Lease liabilities REARE 3414 1,235 90 4,739
159,239 30,159 1,478 190,876
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)
Capital management

The primary objective of the Group's capital management
policy is to ensure that the Group will be able to continue
as a going concern while maximising the return to
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance.

The Group reviews the capital structure on a periodical
basis. As part of this review, the Group considers the cost
of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital
and will balance the Group’s overall capital structure
through new share issues as well as raising new debts or
repayment of existing debts. The Group is not subject to
any externally imposed capital requirements. No changes
were made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the years ended 31 March 2022
and 2021.

The Group monitors capital using a debt-to-equity ratio,
which is net debt divided by equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company. Net debt includes lease liabilities
less cash and cash equivalents. The Group’s policy is to
maintain a stable debt-to-equity ratio. The debt-to-equity
ratios as at the end of the reporting periods were as

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RS IR AR B L

31 March 2022
20229 3H31H

32. MBEMEEBEERBK(E)

b2

I

IS

il

\
!

BEAERRRNTIEARAER
B EERREEHRETE - BARK
BAHELE  URFHEMERA

o i Bt S

B o

REBETHERMEALERE - (EAEHMN
— D AEEEREAKRARZLER
BEARMBEERR  TSBEBHMBRETR
EEVEIEEREESTEAEEE
BENERE ANEBTZEMINDI
MNE)EARESKETRF o & =2022F &
2021F3A3NALFE  EBEARNE
2 BRSGREMEEE -

AEENBESERLRERER &
i an bt R ERFRARR AR R ] an
RAABGEEMESH - EFFEEE
HERERREAREEEY - KAEE
B R R R BRI RIRE - W&
HIRAER L KT

follows:

2022 2021
20224 20214F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT
Lease liabilities HEAE 7,893 4,655
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B IRENBEEEY (88,500) (125,748)
Net debt (T (80,607) (121,093)

Equity attributable to equity holders RRAERFE AR ER
of the Company 285,688 281,015
Debt-to-equity BT wa b = N/A FiE A N/A i
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31 March 2022
2022 3H31H

33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 33. XA R B AR R T
COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the BEARNRARRMERROIABMAEKD
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: BRI
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FAET
NON-CURRENT ASSET FERBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—ERBARMNIEE =+ —*
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Prepayments, deposits and BHRIE - ke k
other receivables H At FEUFRIR 5 =
Due from a subsidiary Y —FRIPH /B8 A B3k IR 35,354 37,202
Time deposits TEHTFR 18,500 =
Cash and bank balances W& RIRTTEHEER 2,233 30,312
Total current assets RBEEARE 56,092 67,514
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFHE 56,092 67,514
NET ASSETS EEFE 56,092 67,514
EQUITY Rz
Issued capital BT 8,000 8,000
Reserves (note) & () 48,092 59,514
Total equity BRER 56,092 67,514
b Less than HK$500 * APA500% 7T
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31 March 2022
20229 3H31H

33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 33. ZXARIWHBRRAFT(EZ

34.

COMPANY (continued)

Note: Bt e -
A summary of the Company'’s reserves is as follows: RRRFERENT :
Shares held
Share under share Accumulated
premium award plan losses Total
BIER D B
B3 RE T E RS -5y 2 At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET
At 1 April 2020 7202064818 91,967 - (14,604) 77,363
Loss and total comprehensive FRFELREEZ HER
expense for the year - - (1,653) (1,653)
Dividend to the shareholders NG 0) e
of the Company (15,200) - = (15,200)
Purchase of shares under B B R IRAR () S Eh AT &
share award plan F¥s A A = (996) - (996)
At 31 March 2021 M202143H31H
and 1 April 2021 20214 R18 76,767 (996) (16,257) 59,514
Loss and total comprehensive FAEEREES HRE
expense for the year - - (1,886) (1,886)
Dividend to the shareholders ARRREAAR S
of the Company (9,536) - - (9,536)
At 31 March 2022 202243H31H 67,231 (996) (18,143) 48,092

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 24 June 2022.

34. #HtEMKRK

SRR D N2022F6A24B EEEE

R R IRAE T -
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MR

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the ASEBEREFBREESFHNEEULE
Group for each of the last five financial years is set out below: ENEEHESRIIWT

Results for the year ended 31 March

BZE3A3THLFENES
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
20224 20214 20204 20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHETT T FET FET
Revenue Wz 1,152,691 1,103,157 1,204,001 980,589 980,828
Cost of sales THE KA (1,099,041) (1,047,756) (1,099,388) (890,081) (203,536)
Gross profit EF 53,650 55,401 104,613 90,508 77,292
Other income and gains EH A WA K e 7,286 14,131 6,676 4,091 5,849
Loss on disposal of other S IR SR
financial assets at amortised ~ af &2 HAhE
cost BMEEZER _ _ _ _ (317)
Administrative and other FTHUR H 5
operating expenses, net Fx  FH8 (44,251) (48,519) (50,579) (47,365) (32,277)
Finance costs EUp %N (129) (199) (359) (600) (244)
Profit before tax B 5 A A 16,556 20,814 60,351 46,634 50,303
Income tax PS5t (2,347) (1,572) (9,855) (9,4006) (8,896)
Profit and total comprehensive R F| & 2
income for the year LN T 14,209 19,242 50,496 37,228 41,407
As at 31 March
R3A31H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
20224 20214 20204 20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THE T FAT T FET FAET
Total assets REE 532,231 498,322 575,034 501,078 337,732
Total liabilities BwaE (246,543) (217,307) (297,065) (262,402) (197,451)
Total equity arEe 285,688 281,015 277,969 238,676 140,281
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